Directed differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells for transplantation in Huntington's disease

This dissertation is submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Cardiff University

Sophie V. Precious

Supervisors: Professor Anne E. Rosser Dr. Nick D. Allen

September 2009



UMI Number: U585347

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI U585347 Published by ProQuest LLC 2013. Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 Dedicated to the memory of my Grannies,

for endless inspiration and belief.

Summary

The research presented in this thesis focused on neural precursors derived from mouse ES cells (also called neural embryoid bodies, NEBs) in particular attempting to direct their differentiation towards specific telencephalic precursors, with a view to providing an alternative donor cell source to primary foetal tissue for the generation of DARPP-32 positive medium spiny neurons (MSNs) for neural transplantation in Huntington's disease. Neural induction of mouse ES cells was addressed, with further directed differentiation by addition of factors known to be important in the neural tube for development of specific telencephalic precursors. Subsequent neuronal differentiation of precursors was assessed both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Chapter 3 characterised the neural and forebrain features of NEBs up to day 8 in neural induction medium, using a reporter cell line, in which *LacZ* was tagged to the early forebrain marker, *Foxg1*. Addition of FGF2 but not the Wnt inhibitor DKK-1, increased the forebrain population within the overall cell population. Day 8 NEBs, subjected to neuronal differentiation conditions, yielded β -III-tubulin positive neurons but no DARPP-32 expression.

In Chapter 4, NEBs cultured for either 8 or 16 days were compared for expression of neural markers and then transplanted into the QA lesioned rat striatum to assess their potential to generate mature phenotypes *in vivo*. Day 8 NEBs generated teratomas by 2 weeks post-transplantation. At 6 weeks post-transplantation, day 16 NEBs generated heterogeneous grafts with graft-derived neurons and glia, but no graft-derived DARPP-32 expression.

Expression of dorso-ventral telencephalon markers in NEBs was investigated in **Chapter 5**, drawing comparisons to expression in the mouse (E14) developing telencephalon. The effects of the SHH agonist, purmorphamine, and the SHH antagonist, cyclopamine, were used in an attempt to enrich the forebrain precursors generated in Chapter 3 for ventral telencephalic-like precursors. Although gene expression changes were demonstrated, no distinct dorso-ventral patterns were shown.

In vitro neuronal differentiation of day 16 NEBs was analysed in **Chapter 6**, in particular looking for expression of the MSN marker DARPP-32. Cultures of cells from the lateral ganglionic eminence (LGE) (the origin of MSNs) were used to determine if certain factors could increase the yield of DARPP-32 positive neurons. Addition of BDNF yielded the highest proportion of DARPP-32 from LGE. However, when this condition was applied to neuronal differentiation cultures of day 16 NEBs there was no effect on the expression of GABA, DARPP-32 or FoxP1, all markers of MSNs.

In Chapter 7, day 16 NEBs, with and without addition of purmorphamine, were transplanted into the QA lesioned mouse striatum. All resulting grafts were small, but analysis revealed densities of neuronal and striatal markers in day 16 NEB-derived grafts to be similar to E14-derived grafts.

iv

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors Anne Rosser and Nick Allen for all your help over the last 4 years. Thank you for your endless encouragement and enthusiasm, and for pushing me in the right direction and keeping me on track.

Thank you to all members of the Brain Repair Group, past and present, for being such a great team. There is always someone around to offer advice and a helping hand.

Thank you to the AER group; Anne, Rike, Claire, Ngoc Nga and Susannah, for your constant support and encouragement along the way, both scientific and otherwise. Anne, your enthusiasm is infectious, and has really kept me going! Rike, thank you for teaching me everything about cell culture. Ngoc Nga, thanks for sharing your molecular knowledge, and for always listening when I've needed an ear. Susannah, best of luck with your PhD.

Claire... what can I say? If it wasn't for you...

I can't thank you enough for everything; for all your help throughout my whole time being here and mostly, for being a great friend.

Also, to Alysia, thank you for all your cell culture and molecular expertise, and all your friendly advice.

To the office... old and new... Bex, Ulrike, Dr Steve, Zubeyde, Gaynor, Andi... thank you for the laughs, for lending me your ears when I needed them (a lot lately!) and for all the tea!

To my family, Mum and Dad, Siân, Will and Lizi, and now Andrew... a massive thank you, thank you, thank you for always being there.

Abbreviations

AChE	Acetylcholinesterase
ADF+	Advanced DMEM/F12 plus components for neural induction
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AP	Anterior-posterior
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
bHLH	Basic helix-loop-helix
BMP	Bone morphogenetic protein
BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CDM	Chemically defined medium
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
CMFDG	5-chloromethylfluorescein di-β-D-galactopyranoside
CsA	Cyclosporin A
CTIP2	COUP TF1-interacting protein 2
CTX	Cortex
DA	Dopamine
DAB	Diaminobenzidine
DARRP-32	Dopamine and cyclic adenosine 3' 5'- monophosphate-
	regulated phosphoprotein, 32kDa
DCX	Doublecortin
DKK-1	Dickkopf-1
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
Dsh	Dishevelled
E	Embryonic day
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EB	Embryoid body
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ES	Embryonic stem
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting

FCS	Foetal calf serum
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
GABA	Gamma-amino butyric acid
GAD	Glutamate decarboxylase
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GMP	Good manufacturing practice
GP	Globus pallidus
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase 3 ^β
Н	Height
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution
HD	Huntington's disease
HTT	Huntingtin
ICM	Inner cell mass
IddU	Iododeoxyuridine
IMDM	Iscove's modified Dulbecco's medium
iPS	Induced pluripotent stem
IT-15	Interesting transcript 15
IVF	in vitro fertilisation
JNK	Jun N-terminal kinase
KSR	'Knock-out' serum replacement
L	Lateral
LB	Luria-Bertani
LGE	Lateral ganglionic eminence
LIF	Leukaemia inhibitory factor
MACS	Magnetic activated cell sorting
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEM	Non-essential amino acids
MGE	Medial ganglionic eminence
MOPS	3-(N-Morpholino)-propane sulfonic acid
MORI	μ-opioid receptor
MSN	Medium-sized spiny neuron
NEB	Neural embryoid body
NeuN	Neuronal nuclei
NPA	Nitropropionic acid
Ρ	Postnatal day
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline

PD	Parkinson's disease
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PGD	Pre-implantation genetic diagnosis
PLL	Poly-L-lysine
PS	Penicillin/Streptomycin
QA	Quinolinic acid
QPCR	Semi-quantitative RT-PCR
RA	Retinoic acid
RALDH2	Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2
RAR	Retinoic acid receptor
RBP	Retinol binding protein
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
RXR	Retinoic X receptor
SHH	Sonic hedgehog
SN	Substantia nigra
STN	Subthalamic nucleus
SVZ	Sub-ventricular zone
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TCF	T-cell factor
TE	Tris-EDTA
ТН	Tyrosine hydroxylase
TNS	Tris-non-saline
TXTBS	Triton X-100 TBS
UHDRS	Unified HD rating scale
VGLUTI	Vesicular glutamate transporter 1
VZ	Ventricular zone
WGE	Whole ganglionic eminence
Wnt	Wingless
X-gal	5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl galactopyranoside
YAC	Yeast artificial chromosome

Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1	Huntington's disease	1
	1.1.1 Clinical Huntington's disease	2
	1.1.2 Pathology of Huntington's disease	3
1.2	The normal adult striatum	5
	1.2.1 DARPP-32 expression in the striatum	7
1.3	Development of research models for Huntington's disease	9
1.4	Transplantation in Huntington's disease	12
1.5	Embryonic stem cells	15
	1.5.1 ES cells for transplantation in Huntington's disease	16
1.6	Neural development	23
	1.6.1 Factors involved in telencephalon development	25
	1.6.2 Foxg1 expression in the developing telencephalon	31
	1.6.3 Dorso-ventral organisation of the developing telencephalon	33
1.7	Directed differentiation of ES cells	38
1.8	Aims of this thesis	45

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1	in vitro methods	46
	2.1.1 Mouse ES cell culture	46
	2.1.2 Freezing and thawing mouse ES cells	46
	2.1.3 Formation and maintenance of NEBs	47
	2.1.4 Differentiation of NEBs	48
	2.1.5 Dissection and preparation of primary mouse cells	49
	2.1.6 LGE glia expansion cultures	50
	2.1.7 LGE glia co-cultures	50
	2.1.8 LGE neuronal differentiation cultures	51
	2.1.9 Immunocytochemistry	51
	2.1.10 X-gal assay	52
	2.1.11 Microscopy	52
2.2	Molecular methods	54
	2.2.1 RNA extraction and quality check	54

	2.2.2 cDNA synthesis	54
	2.2.3 RT-PCR	54
	2.2.4 QPCR	55
	2.2.5 Primer sequences	55
	2.2.6 Transformation and inoculation of plasmid DNA	55
	2.2.7 Midi prep	56
	2.2.8 DNA digest	56
	2.2.9 Transfection	56
2.3	in vivo methods	58
	2.3.1 Animal care, anaesthesia and immunosuppression	58
	2.3.2 Quinolinic acid lesion	58
	2.3.3 Unilateral striatal grafts	59
	2.3.4 Perfusions and sectioning	59
	2.3.5 Cresyl violet staining	60
	2.3.6 Acetylcholinesterase histochemical staining	60
	2.3.7 Immunohistochemistry on free-floating sections	60
	2.3.8 Photomicroscopy and analysis of grafts	61
2.4	Statistical analysis	62

Chapter 3: The Forebrain character of NEBs

3.1	Summary	63
3.2	Introduction	64
3.3	Experimental Procedures	66
3.4	Results	68
3.5	Discussion	79

Chapter 4: in vivo characterisation of NEBs (xenograft model)

4.1	Summary	85
4.2	Introduction	86
4.3	Experimental Procedures	88
4.4	Results	90
4.5	Discussion	99

5.1	Summary	105
5.2	Introduction	106
5.3	Experimental Procedures	108
5.4	Results	110
5.5	Discussion	131

Chapter 5: Generation of ventral telencephalon-like precursors

Chapter 6: in vitro differentiation: Looking for DARPP-32

6.1	Summary	137
6.2	Introduction	138
6.3	Experimental Procedures	140
6.4	Results	142
6.5	Discussion	160

Chapter 7: in vivo characterisation of NEBs (allograft model)

7.1	Summary	167
7.2	Introduction	168
7.3	Experimental Procedures	170
7.4	Results	172
7.5	Discussion	183

Chapter 8: General discussion

8.1	In vitro neural induction of mouse ES cells	188
8.2	Transplantation of mouse ES cells	190
8.3	Directed differentiation	192
8.4	Is generation of MSNs from ES cells achievable?	193
8.5	Mouse-to-mouse allografts	195
8.6	Where next?	195
Bibliography		197
Appendices		a-l

Chapter 1 Introduction

Neural transplantation in neurodegenerative diseases currently employs primary foetal striatal tissue for cell replacement and circuitry repair. In Huntington's disease cell loss occurs predominantly in the medium spiny neuron population of the striatum. The specificity of cell loss makes transplantation a viable therapeutic option. Ethical and logistical issues surrounding the use of primary foetal tissue indicate the need for an alternative donor cell source. The requirement of any alternative donor source is to have the capability to generate the mature phenotype that is lost in the disease process. Thus, cells need to be responsive to inductive developmental cues and the major challenge for the use of any donor cell is the specificity of the precise terminal phenotype. Here, Huntington's disease is used as a model for striatal transplantation and this thesis attempts to identify the signals required for directing differentiation of embryonic stem cells in order to generate medium spiny striatal projection neurons.

1.1 Huntington's disease

Huntington's disease (HD) was first described by George Huntington in 1872, when he detailed a condition referred to as 'hereditary chorea' in *The Medical and Surgical Reporter: A Weekly Journal (Philadelphia)* (Huntington, 2003). Huntington was a physician in East Hampton, Long Island and observed that this condition was confined to 'certain and few families' and was passed on between generations, rarely skipping a generation, with a tendency to manifest itself only in adult life, gradually developing over a number of years and increasing in severity. The choreic movements may be described as 'dance-like' with a 'continual jigger' while the sufferer is awake, but not while asleep, and have the potential to affect all voluntary muscles. Huntington also reported that those diagnosed had a tendency towards insanity and suicide. At this early date little was known about the pathology of HD and the chorea was thought to be due to a 'functional derangement' of the cerebellum.

It was over 100 years later when the gene responsible for this hereditary condition was first mapped and found to reside on the short arm of chromosome 4 (Gusella et al., 1983). A further decade on, in 1993, a new gene, *IT-15* (interesting transcript 15), now known as 'huntingtin', was isolated and cloned by the *Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group*, and a mutation of the huntingtin (*HTT*) gene was found on exon 1 of the short arm of chromosome 4 (HDCRG, 1993). This mutation was found to be an unstable expansion of the trinucleotide repeat CAG which codes for glutamine, and HD may also be referred to as a poly-glutamine repeat disorder. Tri-nucleotide repeats, as a 'mechanism of mutation', were first recognised in 1991 in Kennedy disease and fragile X syndrome, followed by myotonic dystrophy in 1992 and then HD in 1993 (Harper, 1997).

1.1.1 Clinical Huntington's disease

Huntington's disease affects one in 10,000 individuals in most European populations (Harper et al., 1991). Age of onset of the disease is usually within the third and fourth decades of life, however there have been juvenile as well as late-onset cases reported. Disease onset is progressive and death occurs within 15-30 years.

HD is an inherited autosomal dominant disorder which is characterised by neurodegeneration in the form of extensive atrophy of the striatal projection neurons. The loss of these cells leads to a variety of symptoms which can be put into three different categories: motor disturbances, cognitive impairment and psychiatric disorders. Motor symptoms include involuntary choreic movements, dystonia, dysphasia, dysarthria, bradykinesia, apraxia and eye movement abnormalities; cognitive symptoms include executive impairment, memory loss and progressive dementia; psychiatric symptoms include irritability, depression, anxiety, apathy, personality changes and, rarely, psychosis. HD is a progressive neurodegenerative disease and, as time goes on, the associated symptoms get progressively worse. Pneumonia is the leading cause of death in HD patients, and others include choking, nutritional deficiencies and suicide (Lanska et al., 1988; Harris and Barraclough, 1994).

In normal individuals up to 35 repeats of the CAG triplet code may be carried and when the number of repeats is increased above 35 this is considered a 'diseasecausing allele'. However, CAG repeat lengths between 36 and 39 are regarded as 'variable penetrance', with repeat lengths greater than 39 invariably leading to disease state within a normal life span (Rubinsztein et al., 1996). Longer repeat lengths, typically greater than 70, are associated with juvenile onset of the disease. There has been shown to be an inverse correlation between the number of repeats and the age of onset of the disease, suggesting that the greater the number of CAG repeats the younger the age of onset (Andrew et al., 1993). The number of repeats has also been shown to correlate with the severity and progression of the disease on a population basis, although it is not the only determinant of these factors.

1.1.2 Pathology of Huntington's disease

The mechanism by which the genetic mutation causes HD is unknown. HD pathology affects widespread areas in the brain (Rosas et al., 2003), but it is predominantly the striatum that is affected. The characteristic pathology is the selective loss of the medium-sized spiny neurons (MSNs) of the caudate nucleus and putamen, collectively called the 'neostriatum', and there is also a degree of cortical degeneration which may be primary or secondary to the striatal degeneration (Figure 1.1). The dysfunction and severe atrophy of the striatum causes a disruption to the basal ganglia circuitry and this is largely responsible for the symptoms associated with the disease.



Figure 1.1. (A) Coronal section through a normal adult brain, showing the caudate nucleus (c) and the putamen (p). (B) Coronal section through an HD brain, showing the atrophy in the caudate nucleus and putamen as well as the cerebral cortex. (Bates et al., 2002).

Chapter 1

Introduction

Vonsattel et al., graded HD brains according to striatal loss, with a link between extent of atrophy and stage of clinical impairment (Vonsattel et al., 1985). The post-mortem brain of an HD sufferer may be 10-20% lighter than that of an agematched control (Gutekunst et al., 2002).

Another characteristic of the HD brain is the presence of insoluble neuronal intranuclear inclusions formed by the mutant Htt. These have been detected in post mortem brains of HD patients, in both the striatum and the cortex (Difiglia et al., 1997). It is not yet known what role these aggregates play in the course of the disease, if any. One proposal is that they are causative of the cell death associated with HD (Yang et al., 2002). Introduction of mutant Htt to cultured striatal neurons induced cell death which could be protected by addition of neurotrophic factors such as brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Saudou et al., 1998). However, Saudou et al (1998) demonstrated that the presence of intranuclear inclusions did not correlate with cell death, and suggested that the aggregates might be acting to protect the cell from htt-induced death, which was further demonstrated by Arrasate et al (2004) who showed that cells with aggregate formation demonstrated improved cell survival. In addition, a mouse model of HD with widespread aggregation, displayed no neuronal degeneration or dysfunction, further indicating a protective mechanism (Slow et al., 2005). It has also been proposed that aggregates might be toxic in one cell location but protective in another (Arrasate et al., 2004), and that the timing of aggregate formation might predict whether the subsequent effects are toxic or beneficial (Gong et al., 2008).

One leading suggestion concerning the development of the disease is that the HD mutation causes the subsequent damage via a gain-of function of the mutant htt protein. The insertion of exon 1 of the *HD* gene carrying an expanded CAG repeat, resulted in a mouse model with a reduction in the size of various brain structures including the striatum, and a progressive neurological phenotype including symptoms such as dyskinesia, tremor and involuntary stereotypic movements (Mangiarini et al., 1996).

It is also suggested that loss-of-function of normal *Htt* may contribute to the HD phenotype. Mice homozygous for the targeted mutation of the *Htt* gene are embryo-lethal, while those that are heterozygous survive to term and adulthood (Nasir et al., 1995). Stereological analysis of the heterozygous mutant brains revealed a loss

Chapter 1

of neurons in the globus pallidus (GP) and subthalamic nucleus (STN) with an increase in apoptosis in these areas (O'Kusky et al., 1999).

1.2 The normal adult striatum

The striatum is made up of the caudate nucleus and the putamen (see Figure 1.1), and forms part of the basal ganglia along with the STN, GP and substantia nigra (SN). It receives inputs from the cerebral cortex, SN, thalamus and brain stem, and sends outputs to the GP and SN.

The striatum is both anatomically and neurochemically heterogeneous (Prensa et al., 1999), and comprises a variety of neurons which can be subdivided according to size, density of spines, target destination of axons and utility of neurotransmitters and neuropeptides. The MSNs (Figure 1.2) constitute 95% of the striatal neuronal population in the rodent, whilst the aspiny interneurons of the striatum make up most of the remaining 5%, with non-MSN projection neurons representing a small percentage (Freeman et al., 1995).



Figure 1.2. A medium-sized spiny neuron, with branched, spiny dendrites. Courtesy of Professor P. Harper (Institute of Medical Genetics, Cardiff University).

MSNs have a medium-sized cell body, branched dendrites that are densely spiny, and they are the projection neurons of the striatum, which can be distinguished from the interneurons by their expression of the phosphoprotein dopamine and cyclic adenosine 3', 5'- monophosphate-regulated phosphoprotein, 32kDa (DARPP-32). DARPP-32 is found in the majority of striatal neurons projecting to the SN and those projecting to the GP, but it is absent from major types of interneuron. Morphologically MSNs are a homogeneous population; however they are biochemically heterogeneous (Graybiel, 1990). MSNs are the predominant projection neurons of the striatum and use gammaamino butyric acid (GABA), which is an inhibitory transmitter, as their principal neurotransmitter (Kita and Kitai, 1988) along with one or more neuropeptides (Reiner and Anderson, 1990). These GABAergic neurons can project to the GP, internal (GPi) and external (GPe) segments (striatopallidal neurons) and the SN pars compacta and reticulata (striatonigral neurons). The neuropeptides involved are enkephalin, substance P and dynorphin, with the latter two largely co-existing in striatal projection neurons (Reiner and Anderson, 1990). The majority of striatal projection neurons expressing enkephalin project to the GP, while the majority of neurons that co-express substance P and dynorphin project to the SN (Gerfen and Young, III, 1988). The presence of these neuropeptides in addition to GABA has been shown to be important in communication between the striatal projection neurons and their target neurons.

Striatal inputs from the SN are dopaminergic and those from the cortex and thalamus are non-dopaminergic, primarily glutamatergic. The glutamatergic afferents provide excitatory inputs to the MSNs. The inputs and outputs of the striatum are shown in Figure 1.3. Dopaminergic projections from the SNc act on the D1 and D2 dopamine receptors of the GABAergic MSNs. Projection to the D1 receptors results in activation of the direct pathway to the GPi via neurons expressing GABA and substance P. The indirect pathway is activated as a result of dopaminergic projections acting on the D2 receptors which causes inhibition of those striatal MSNs expressing GABA and enkephalin which project to the GPe.

The aspiny interneurons, or 'local circuit' neurons, comprise medium and large cells with smooth dendrites. They may be split into three categories; i) those that use acetylcholine as a neurotransmitter, ii) those that contain the calcium-binding protein parvalbumin and also express glutamate decarboxylase (GAD) and use GABA as a neurotransmitter, and iii) those that contain somatostatin, neuropeptide Y and NADPH diaphorase (Kawaguchi, 1993).



Figure 1.3. Inputs and outputs of the striatum. Excitatory projections are represented with dashed lines and inhibitory projections with solid lines. Abbreviations: DA - dopamine; GPe - external segment of globus pallidus; GPi - internal segment of globus pallidus; SNc - substantia nigra pars compacta; SNr - substantia nigra pars reticula; STN - subthalamic nucleus; Sub P - substance P. (Adapted from (Bates et al., 2002) Bates G, Harper P, Jones L., Huntington's Disease, *Third Edition*.).

One level of compartmentalisation in the striatum is the characteristic striosome (patch)-matrix organization which is based on the expression of neurochemical markers. Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) positive neurons are distributed throughout the striosome-matrix compartments, with AChE-poor areas comprising the striosomes and AChE-rich areas comprising the matrix. The matrix compartment also contains neurons expressing the 28kD calcium-binding protein calbindin as well as somatostatin-positive fibres. Calbindin and parvalbumin have been shown to label striatonigral projection neurons. Calbindin labels the striatonigral matrix neurons whereas parvalbumin labels the striatonigral striosome neurons (Gerfen et al., 1985).

1.2.1 DARPP-32 expression in the striatum

DARPP-32 is a phenotypic marker of the MSNs of the adult striatum that distinguishes them from the other striatal cells. It is the most commonly used MSN marker and in the rodent brain it has been demonstrated that more than 90% of all MSNs express DARPP-32 (Ouimet et al., 1998; Anderson and Reiner, 1991). However, it is important to note that expression of DARPP-32 is not absolute in

defining a MSN, but is currently one of the only measures available in distinguishing mature MSNs from other striatal neurons.

Further markers of MSNs are continuously being sought, including those expressed in MSN precursors. The transcription factor COUP TF1-interacting protein 2 (CTIP2) has been shown to be expressed exclusively in striatal MSNs (Arlotta et al., 2008). In the adult mouse striatum, all DARPP-32 positive cells were shown to co-express CTIP2 (Arlotta et al., 2008). Conversely however, in neurons derived from human ES cells, CTIP2 has been shown to co-label with the dorsal telencephalic markers TBR1 and vesicular glutamate transporter 1 (VGLUT1) (Li et al., 2009). Another potential candidate is FoxP1, which has also been shown to co-label with CTIP2 (Arlotta et al., 2008), and was shown to be upregulated during development in the striatum between the ages embryonic day (E) 12 and E16 (Kelly et al., in preparation). FoxP1 expression has been detected by *in situ* hybridization from E13.5 in the developing mouse brain, and its expression persists into adulthood, with expression in the projection neurons but not interneurons of the adult striatum (Ferland et al., 2003; Tamura et al., 2004).

In the embryonic rat caudate nucleus it has been demonstrated by immunohistochemistry, that DARPP-32 immuno-reactive cells are first detectable at E14 (Foster et al., 1987). At this age only very few DARPP-32 positive cells are present, although both the number of DARPP-32 positive cells and the intensity of immuno-fluorescent labelling increase rapidly and by postnatal day 0 (P0) the pattern of DARPP-32 immuno-reactivity is nearly that seen in the adult striatum.

In the mouse brain DARPP-32 mRNA is undetectable at E14 and at P0 both DARPP-32 mRNA and protein are present in very small amounts (Ehrlich et al., 1990). Levels of both then increase dramatically throughout the first 3-4 postnatal weeks, with the mRNA reaching adult levels before the protein. Ehrlich et al (1990) propose that induction of DARPP-32 gene transcription occurs primarily during the last week of gestation, since DARPP-32 cells are largely present at birth, and MSN production peaks at E15 and is almost complete by P1-2 in both the mouse and rat (Marchand and Lajoie, 1986; Sturrock, 1980).

Immunohistochemical analysis reveals that there is an overlap of DARPP-32 immuno-reactive neurons and dopaminoceptive neurons containing dopamine D1 receptors (Walaas and Greengard, 1984), which coincides with the observation that DARPP-32 phosphorylation is regulated by dopamine D1 receptor activation (Ouimet

et al., 1998). Further, the ontogeny of DARPP-32 and pre- and post-synaptic components of the dopamine D1 synapse follow a similar time course which further suggests a role for DARPP-32 in regulating dopamine D1 receptor mediated signal transduction (Ehrlich et al., 1990).

The HD paradigm, in which degeneration in the striatum is a focal point at which to aim to replace the cells lost, offers a disease model suitable for striatal transplantation. Since it is the DARPP-32 positive MSNs that are predominantly lost in HD, it is these cells that we endeavour to replace.

1.3 Development of research models for Huntington's disease

Models of HD are required to further our understanding of the progression of the disease, and to give an insight into the potential of therapeutic strategies for repair, including transplantation. Excitotoxic lesions are widely used to generate models of HD. They are useful for studying behavioural aspects, as well as investigating cellbased therapies of the disease, reviewed in (Dunnett and Rosser, 2004). This method has been shown to reproduce many of the histological, neurochemical and behavioural features of the disease. One such toxin is quinolinic acid (QA) which, when administered directly to the striatum, causes striatal atrophy with predominant loss of MSNs (Schwarcz et al., 1983; Schwarcz and Kohler, 1983). QA is toxic to the GABAergic MSNs and spares the cholinergic interneurons and the aspiny interneurons containing somatostatin, neuropeptide Y and NADPH diaphorase (Beal et al., 1986). The selective striatal cell loss observed with the QA lesion resembles that seen in the human condition and this model is currently the most widely used for transplantation studies in HD. Another toxin is 3-nitropropionic acid (NPA), which is administered systemically in low doses and over a period of weeks causes striatal cell loss (Borlongan et al., 1997). It functions to disrupt mitochondrial energy metabolism, which causes the striatal damage and induces functional impairments. For transplantation studies it is a less useful model than the QA lesion because it results in a less stable lesion, which is bilateral and therefore leaves no control side, and there is more variability in lesions within experiments.

The identification of the mutation of the gene causing HD has led to the generation of genetic models of the disease for research. Genetically modified models of HD have been generated in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Warrick et al., 1998), *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Faber et al., 2002), zebrafish (Schiffer et al., 2007) and non-human primates (Yang et al., 2008), as well as rodents. In terms of cell-replacement strategies for repair of function and circuitry, rodents offer the most attractive model due to both ease of use in transplantation and behavioural studies, and their complex brain organisation.

Models of HD differ phenotypically according to behaviour and neuropathology and can therefore be used to look at different aspects of the disease. There are both knock-in and transgenic rodent models of HD. The knock-in models of HD are those in which an expanded CAG repeat is introduced into the endogenous mouse *Htt* gene. They include the poly-Q (polyglutamine) models which differ according to the number of CAG repeats, such as the Q92 and Q111 models (Wheeler et al., 1999). The knock-in models show few behavioural deficits and no cell loss but there is the presence of neuronal intranuclear inclusions.

Transgenic models are those in which either a portion of the human HD gene or the full length gene is inserted randomly into the genome. These include the R6/2model which contains the HD promoter, exon 1, and about 155 polyglutamine repeats (Mangiarini et al., 1996). R6/2 mice show reduced numbers of striatal neurons and overall brain atrophy (Stack et al., 2005), as well as learning impairments and progressive motor deterioration. Polyglutamine aggregates in the form of neuronal intranuclear inclusions and cytoplasmic aggregates have been reported in the R6 models (Davies et al., 1997), and as with most of the transgenic mouse models, there is a rapid progression of the HD phenotype which largely resembles juvenile onset. Transplantation into the R6/2 striatum resulted in graft survival with a degree of integration, although improvements in the behavioural phenotype were only marginal (Dunnett et al., 1998). Other transgenic mouse models include the YAC (yeast artificial chromosome) mouse models, YAC72 and YAC128, which contain the entire human HD gene, its regulatory elements and 72 or 128 polyglutamines, respectively (Hodgson et al., 1999; Slow et al., 2003). The BACHD model (bacterial artificial chromosome) contains the human *Htt* locus with a modified exon 1, and displays progressive striatal and cortical atrophy with expression of neuronal intranuclear inclusions (Gray et al., 2008).

Introduction

The majority of transgenic models of HD are mouse models although a rat model of HD has recently been generated (von Horsten et al., 2003). This model has a truncated htt cDNA fragment with 51 CAG repeats under the control of the native rat htt promoter. The homozygous transgenic rat has been shown to exhibit phenotypes which appear to represent the late-onset and slow progression of adult HD. Neuronal intranuclear inclusions have been reported from 12 months of age (von Horsten et al., 2003) and a decrease in striatal neuronal numbers is observed at 12 months (Kantor et al., 2006).

In vitro models of HD have been developed to investigate the intracellular pathology associated with the disease and can be useful for screening potential drug candidates. Cell culture models of HD provide the opportunity to study the distribution of *Htt* within cells and the role it plays in different cellular compartments. These models have been used to investigate the aggregation of both wild-type and mutant Htt. Various cell culture models of HD have been generated by transfection of full-length Htt with normal or expanded polyglutamine repeats, resulting in both transient expression (Trottier et al., 1995; Cooper et al., 1998) and stable, long-term expression (Lunkes and Mandel, 1998). Following transient transfection with fulllength Htt, the protein was found to be localized diffusely in the cytoplasm, whereas with N-terminal fragments of htt, aggregates were found in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus (Cooper et al., 1998). With the stable cell model, it was found that mutant *Htt* expression leads to formation of inclusions in both the cytoplasm and the nucleus, and this was dependent on time and the length of polyglutamine repeats (Lunkes and Mandel, 1998). It is suggested here that it is a truncated N-terminal fragment of *Htt* which is involved in inclusions in the cytoplasm at early time points and in the nucleus at later time points. A truncated Htt fragment has also been implicated in HD pathogenesis (Difiglia et al., 1997).

Cell lines have been established from mouse embryos of knock-in models of HD. Trettel et al (2000) generated striatal cells from HdhQ111 mice, compared these with wild-type cells and found that the mutant protein causes toxicity and disrupts striatal cell homeostasis (Trettel et al., 2000). An alternative approach, for generation of human embryonic stem (ES) cell lines, involves donation of blastocysts following *in vitro* fertilisation (IVF) and pre-implantation genetic diagnosis (PGD). PGD allows detection of embryonic genetic defects and can result in availability of embryos for derivation of ES cell lines. A blastocyst donated for research, in which the paternal

Chapter 1

Introduction

donor was affected with HD, was used to derive a human ES cell line which carries 44 CAG repeats (Mateizel et al., 2006). This cell line expressed markers of undifferentiated human ES cells, formed embryoid bodies when subjected to suspension culture, and was able to differentiate into cells of the three germ layers, ectoderm, endoderm and mesoderm (Mateizel et al., 2006). More recently, two human ES cell lines carrying CAG repeats of 37 and 51 have been derived following PGD, and have been shown to undergo neural differentiation with formation of neurospheres and subsequent generation of neurons and astrocytes (Niclis et al., 2009).

The recent discovery of induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells, where pluripotency-linked factors are introduced to fibroblasts to reprogram them so they express pluripotency markers and behave like ES cells, offers a novel cell source (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Lowry et al., 2008; Yu et al., 2007; Takahashi et al., 2007; Park et al., 2008). iPS cells do not exhibit chromosomal abnormalities and can differentiate to produce cells of the three embryonic germ layers. Disease-specific iPS cells have been generated, including a human iPS cell line for HD that has 72 CAG repeats (Park et al., 2008).

Models of HD have proved useful for the study of pathogenesis of the disease, symptomatic aspects and therapeutic strategies. Cell culture models of HD allow analysis and characterisation of cells affected by the disease and allows specific cells to be targeted for therapeutic strategies. In terms of neurodegeneration, HD offers a model with a focal point of cell loss (predominantly the striatum) making transplantation an attractive therapeutic approach.

1.4 Transplantation in Huntington's disease

There is currently no known cure for HD and only limited symptomatic treatments are available. Various therapeutic strategies are being explored targeting the cellular pathology, including neuronal protection, knock-down of mRNA and cell replacement by transplantation of foetal neural precursors. Transplantation aims to replace the neurons that are lost and reconstruct the circuitry that is affected by the

Introduction

disease. Primary foetal striatal tissue offers a source of MSN precursors and is currently the 'gold standard' for transplantation in HD.

Preclinical studies have investigated the optimum parameters for transplantation into the HD brain, such as age of the developing embryo, region of the developing brain for dissection and tissue preparation (Olsson et al., 1995; Fricker et al., 1997; Watts et al., 1997). It has been reported that whole ganglionic eminence (WGE) grafts into the lesioned striatum in rat generate a higher proportion of striatallike tissue, as determined by AChE and DARPP-32 immunohistochemistry, when derived from gestational ages E14 and E16, and not older donor ages (Fricker et al., 1997), but functional recovery of animal recipients of these grafts was only improved when the donor tissue was younger (E14) rather than older (E16) (Watts et al., 1997). Xenotransplantation studies of human foetal neural precursors into rodent models of HD have provided information which suggests that human foetal tissue between 8-10 weeks of gestational age is optimal for harvesting striatum for transplantation (Rosser and Dunnett, 2003; Freeman et al., 1995). However, to date, no systematic studies looking at donor age of human foetal tissue have been carried out.

Comparison of grafting the WGE versus the lateral ganglionic eminence (LGE) or medial ganglionic eminence (MGE) indicate that the LGE grafts contain a greater proportion of striatal-like cells, confirmed by staining with DARPP-32 (Pakzaban et al., 1993), and a much higher proportion of AChE-positive tissue is seen. The LGE represents the major source of striatal projection neurons (Olsson et al., 1998) and the striatal interneurons appear to come predominantly from the MGE with a smaller proportion originating in the LGE (Olsson et al., 1998; Marin et al., 2000). Fate mapping studies revealed that cells originating in the LGE migrate both anteriorly and ventrally, giving rise to projection neurons of the striatum, nucleus accumbens and olfactory tubercle, whilst the majority of cells originating in the MGE migrate dorsally and generate interneurons expressing GABA, parvalbumin and somatostain (Wichterle et al., 2001). Grafts comprising both LGE and MGE have been shown to be heterogeneous with respect to striatal phenotype (Olsson et al., 1995). In these grafts, there are regions with striatum-like tissue, called 'P regions' which express DARPP-32 and AChE. There are also 'NP regions' which contain neurons usually found in adjacent forebrain regions such as the cortex and GP (Olsson et al., 1995; Graybiel et al., 1989).

Human foetal neural precursor cells for replacement are currently obtained from collection of foetuses following elected termination of pregnancy under full ethical consent of the maternal donors (Polkinghorne, 1989; Boer, 1994). Upon retrieval of foetal tissue, the developing striatum is dissected out and tissue may be 'hibernated' for up to a week before transplantation, without a reduction in viability (Hurelbrink et al., 2000).

Clinical trials for cell-replacement therapy in HD using foetal tissue are ongoing and have demonstrated proof-of-principle, but consistent efficacy has not yet been achieved. Bilateral human foetal striatal grafts in symptomatic HD patients have been shown to survive and show typical morphology of developing striatal grafts, as seen in post mortem evaluation of one patient (Hauser et al., 2002). Assessments of safety reveal that human foetal striatal grafts do not accelerate disease progression (Rosser et al., 2002), and patients exhibiting no graft benefits appear to decline similarly to non-grafted patients (Bachoud-Levi et al., 2006). Hauser et al (2002) reported a decrease in the unified HD rating scale (UHDRS) score at 12 months posttransplantation, indicating an improvement in neurological assessment. More convincing evidence of efficacy was demonstrated by a group in Creteil, France, who reported on five patients at six years post-transplantation, who received foetal neural transplants (Bachoud-Levi et al., 2006). They used UHDRS, neuropsychological tests and MRI and determined that there are benefits both clinically and in terms of brain activity, which provide a short term improvement and stability for the patient.

A recent post mortem study, ten years post-transplantation, demonstrates graft survival but also suggests degeneration of grafted neurons (Cicchetti et al., 2009) compared with a patient from the same cohort who died 18 months posttransplantation (Freeman et al., 2000). In the more recent report, the authors demonstrate survival of tissue with expression of striatal projection neurons and striatal interneurons as well as synaptic connections between transplanted neurons and host-derived dopaminergic and glutamatergic neurons, although there is also evidence of some graft damage (Cicchetti et al., 2009).

Another recent post-mortem analysis study, at six months post-transplantation, reported graft-derived DARPP-32, NeuN, calretinin, somatostatin and astrocytes, as well as innervation of host-derived TH fibers (Capetian et al., 2009). There was also the presence of more immature precursors including doublecortin (DCX), Sox2 and Ki67 (Capetian et al., 2009). This study gives an indication of graft morphology at an

early time point post-transplantation. However, we are unable to draw any direct comparisons between data from the various studies because there are different protocols being applied at different centres, and this therefore reinforces the need for controlled multi-centre trials.

Foetal tissue as a source for cell replacement is limited and brings about both practical and ethical constraints. For transplantation in Parkinson's disease (PD) it has been shown that there is a requirement for several foetuses per transplant. It is likely that this is also the case for clinical transplantation in HD and if so, would pose logistical and quality control issues in terms of retrieving several foetuses of the same gestational age, as well as manipulation and storage of tissue under new Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) guidelines (EU Directive).

There is an urgent need for an alternative supply of tissue. Possible alternatives include stem cells, such as ES cells, neural stem cells and mesenchymal stem cells, xenogenic tissue (for example, porcine), genetically engineered cells and most recently iPS cells (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). The emergence of iPS cells might prove useful for both research and clinical applications, since they bypass the use of embryos and would enable generation of patient-specific cell lines therefore avoiding administration of immuno-suppression. Potential alternative cell sources have been investigated, although the majority of research has focussed on neural stem cells and ES cells. Neural stem cells are attractive because they are already lineage restricted, but they do have limited capacity for proliferation (Zietlow et al., 2005). ES cells have a greater proliferation potential, are more plastic, and can be directed down the various different lineages. There is now over a decade of work on ES cells for the purpose of achieving an alternative cell supply and it is likely that outcomes found for ES cells will be pertinent for the differentiation of other alternative cell sources, making ES cells a good area on which to focus.

1.5 Embryonic stem cells

ES cells offer an alternative source of cells for transplantation in neurodegenerative disorders such as HD. The characteristic features of these cells are their capacity for unlimited self-renewal and proliferation and their pluripotency

which gives them the potential to generate any cell type (Evans and Kaufman, 1981; Martin, 1981). ES cells are derived from the inner cell mass (ICM) of the developing blastocyst and have the potential to generate cells from any of the three primary germ layers of the embryo; ectoderm, endoderm and mesoderm. This makes them an attractive source of cells for therapeutic strategies in a range of diseases. In HD, since it is the MSNs of the striatum that are predominantly lost, and the optimum 'cell-type mix' that will ultimately be necessary for restoration of function is not yet known, the MSNs are likely to be the cells we wish to generate for replacement and this, therefore, is the current focus.

Mouse ES cell lines have been derived, including those with insertion of reporter genes, to investigate effects on gene expression within neural induction culture systems and determine effects of addition of factors. More recently human ES cell lines have also been derived (Thomson et al., 1998). Studies have shown similarities and differences between mouse and human ES cell lines in terms of ES cell culture conditions and subsequent neural induction protocols, reviewed in (Wobus and Boheler, 2005).

1.5.1 ES cells for transplantation in Huntington's disease

ES cells offer a potentially inexhaustible supply of cells with the potential for use in cell replacement strategies. One of the main caveats is obtaining the specific phenotype required, which in the case of HD is MSNs. Even foetal neural precursors, taken from the developing striatum, which have been exposed to the temporal and spatial cues necessary for induction of the desired phenotype, do not go on to generate the full complement of striatal projection neurons and interneurons when transplanted into the adult striatum. Long-term *in vitro* expansion of both mouse and human foetal neural progenitors prior to transplantation resulted in reduced survival following a long-term post-transplantation period (Zietlow et al., 2005). It has been reported that there are changes in gene expression between early (8 weeks) and late (20 weeks) *in vitro* expansion times of human foetal neural progenitors, with upregulation of genes associated with apoptosis after prolonged time in culture (Anderson et al., 2007). Further, the long-term expanded progenitors showed reduced transplant size as well as reduced neurogenic potential (Anderson et al., 2007). For ES cells, the predominant requirement is to direct the differentiation both in the initial *in vitro* stage, and then in the subsequent maturation stage following transplantation into the adult striatum.

There has been some degree of success in generating specific neuronal phenotypes from ES cells for replacement in neurodegenerative disease, for example PD. Transplantation of ES cell-derived neural precursors has predominantly focused on obtaining dopaminergic neurons and the general principles of directing differentiation of these cells applies for cell types throughout the developing brain. Dopaminergic neurons have been reported *in vivo* in graft-derived cells post-transplantation (Wernig et al., 2004; Ferrari et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2007), with one case demonstrating long-term survival and function of these neurons (Rodriguez-Gomez et al., 2007). Table 1.1 outlines transplantation studies that have employed neural induction of ES cell-derived precursors. Few studies have been carried out involving transplantation of ES cell-derived neural precursors into HD models and of those that have been reported only the QA-lesioned striatum model has been employed.

Mouse ES cell-derived precursors subjected to RA-induced suspension culture and then transplanted into the QA-lesioned striatum rat model generated GABA and AChE immuno-positive neurons following 6 weeks survival (Dinsmore et al., 1996). A study looking at the proportion of neural precursors, dividing cells and neurons prior to transplantation revealed that the greater the proportion of neural precursors (as determined by nestin immuno-reactivity) and dividing cells (using BrdU), the greater the potential to generate tumours (Dihne et al., 2006). When the proportion of dividing precursor cells was lower and that of mature neurons was greater, grafts generated neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, and there were no teratomas formed. Transplantation of cell populations greater than 95% nestin and 42% BrdU positive resulted in 70% tumours; 42% nestin, 16% BrdU and 13% β -tubulin resulted in 17% tumours; and 14% nestin, 5.9% BrdU and 76% β -tubulin resulted in no teratoma formation (Dihne et al., 2006).

Human ES cell-derived neural precursors induced in defined neural induction medium generated DCX immuno-positive neuroblasts, neurons and astrocytes, but no DARPP-32 immuno-positive neurons and no tumours at six weeks posttransplantation in a QA-lesioned rat striatum (Joannides et al., 2007b). A similar study looked at neural induction of human ES cell-derived precursors with addition of Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) and Dickkopf-1 (DKK-1) and after six weeks survival no DARPP- 32 was found but there were teratomas (Aubry et al., 2008). Increased neural induction time with addition of BDNF, dbcAMP and valproic acid prior to transplantation, resulted in generation of some DARPP-32 immuno-positive neurons and no teratomas (Aubry et al., 2008). Longer-term survival up to 21 weeks post-transplantation of these latter neurally induced precursors revealed regions of DARPP-32 immuno-positive cells but there was also the observation of large, overgrown grafts that compressed the host brain (Aubry et al., 2008).

A recent study of human ES cell-derived precursors generated in neurobasal medium with bFGF and the BMP inhibitor noggin, cultured for more than four weeks expressed 80% nestin-positive cells at transplantation (Nasonkin et al., 2009). Relatively low numbers of cells were transplanted into the non-lesioned rat striatum and differentiation was analysed at 1.5, 3 and 6 months. Nestin and DCX decreased over time post-transplantation (44% reduced to 1% for nestin expression; 52% reduced to 5% for DCX expression), while β -III-tubulin expression increased over time (20% increased to 86%), and although there was no DARPP-32 expression at three months, nearly a third of grafted cells were DARPP-32 positive at six months, demonstrating the need for long-term differentiation to achieve DARPP-32 expression (Nasonkin et al., 2009).

Thus far in HD research, transplantation of ES cell-derived neural precursors has resulted in good survival in the QA-lesioned host brain, with good integration and neuronal generation in some instances even into DARPP-32 immuno-positive neurons. However, the teratoma formation reported is a concern that needs to be addressed as urgently as directing the differentiation towards the desired phenotype.

Table1.1. Transplantation studies of neurally induced ES cell-derived precursors

St	tudy	Experimental Paradigms			Notes	Results
		Cells	Host	Protocols		
1996	more et al.,	Mouse ES cells (lines E14 & D3)	QA lesioned striatum, rat, CsA	Free-floating, RA-induced neuronal differentiation	3x10 ⁵ -10 ⁶ cells transplanted. Survival: 6 weeks.	Neurons expressing GABA, AChE, NSE & neuron specific tubulin, but no <i>in vivo</i> cell numbers reported.
	e et al.,	Mouse ES cells (i)eGFP line derived from transgenic C57L/6J mice expressing eGFP under influence of chicken β- actin promoter (ii)R1 line	QA lesioned striatum, mouse	EB formation in absence of LIF; neural induction in insulin/ transferrin/selenium chloride/fibronectin, then expanded in B27 & FGF2	~100,000cells/µ1 transplanted. Survival: 1, 4 & 16 weeks.	The higher the proportion of neural precursors (nestin) and dividing cells (BrdU), the greater the risk of tumours. 56.9% NF-200 neurons. Grafted cells expressing β-tubulin and GAD65/67, also astrocytes & oligodendrocytes.
Joann 2007 Song 2007	nides et al.,	Human ES cells (i)H9 (ii)HUES9	QA lesioned striatum, rat, CsA	Defined neuralizing medium	100,000-250,000 cells transplanted. Survival: 6 weeks.	Grafted cells expressing DCX, NeuN, GFAP, but no DARPP-32.
Song 2007	g et al.,	Human ES cells Miz-hES1	QA lesioned striatum, rat, CsA	Co-culture on PA6 stromal cells (generate high proportion of nestin-positive cells)	20,000 cells in 2µl transplanted. Survival: 3 weeks.	Improved apomorphine rotations at 1, 2 & 3 weeks compared with sham group. Grafted cells expressing nestin, Tuj1, DCX & GAD. No NeuN, MAP2 or DARPP-32. No tumours.

	Study	Ex	perimental Pa	aradigms	Notes	Results
		Cells	Host	Protocols		
QA lesioned striatum	Aubry et al., 2008	Human ES cells (i) SA-01 (ii) H9	QA lesioned striatum, immuno- competent rat	Rosettes in N2 & BDNF; addition of SHH/DKK-1; differentiation in BDNF/dbcAMP/ valproic acid	50,000-200,000 cells transplanted. Survival: 4-6 wceks.	Transplantation in early stages of neural induction resulted in teratomas & no DARPP- 32. Transplantation of later stage cells resulted in no teratomas, and grafts contained clusters of DARPP-32 & calbindin neurons.
			QA lesioned striatum, immuno- competent rat	Neural induction as above. Cells at the stage which gave best <i>in vivo</i> outcome at 4-6 weeks.	50,000 cells transplanted. Survival: 13-21 weeks.	Large overgrown grafts that compressed the host brain. Regions of graft-derived DARPP- 32 cells throughout the graft, often calbindin- negative, unlike short-term grafts. Very few TH neurons, no AChE & few GFAP cells.
Unlesioned	Nasonkin et al., 2009	Human ES cells BG01	Unlesioned striatum, nude rats	Neurobasal with 7.5% KSR/bFGF/noggin for 3 days. Then colonies picked from MEFs onto gelatin in neurobasal with bFGF/ noggin for 4 weeks	15000 cells transplanted. Survival 1.5, 3 and 6 months.	 High nestin expression prior to grafting (80%). Nestin and DCX expression decreased overtime in vivo, β-tubulin expression increased overtime. No GAD at 6 months; no DARPP-32 at 3 months but 30% DARPP-32 at 6 months; Some calretinin & parvalbumin at 6 months. No teratomas or graft overgrowth.
Other cells into QA	Bosch et al., 2004	Immortalised striatal neural stem cell line ST14A	QA lesioned striatum rat	Sequential RA then KCl treatment, pre- differentiated to GABAergic phenotype	9000 cells per striatum (6 graft sites). Survival: various time points.	Maintained GABAergic phenotype 3 days post-transplantation. At 1 & 5 weeks after grafting, reduction in apomorphine rotations, compared with ungrafted rats.

Study	Experimental Paradigms			Notes	Results
	Cells Host		Protocols	-	
Brustle et al., 1997	Mouse ES cells (line J1), DIG-labeled	Intrauterine transplant (E16-18), telencephalic vesicle, rat	Embryoid body formation, insulin- transferrin medium	0.1-1x10 ⁶ cells injected. Survival: 0-15 days after birth.	Grafted cells migrated & integrated into various brain regions including striatum, cortex & thalamus. Neurons, astrocytes & oligodendrocytes detected. Undifferentiated ES cells & non-neural tissue Used M2 & M6 antibodies.
Deacon et al., 1998	Mouse ES cells (i) D3 (ii) E14TG2a	Rat 6-OHDA unilateral nigrostriatal lesion, CsA; Mice unlesioned	1.5x10 ⁶ cells in 5ml DMEM +/- RA (0.5mM), no LIF	Rats: 100,000-300,000 cells; Mice: 60,000 cells. Survival : 2-4weeks.	RA+ grafts: rats 2/5 grafts survived, mice 4/4 grafts survived. RA- grafts: rat 17/26 grafts survived, mice 3/2 grafts survived. In rat host, no migration of donor cells away from graft site. TH & 5-HT neurons & GFAP Weak AChE in RA+ but none in RA- grafts. Variability between graft size & appearance. Heterogeneous tissue types, with significant volume negative for neuronal markers.
Kim et al., 2002	Mouse ES cells (stable Nurr1 line, pCMV driving expression of Nurr1)	6-OHDA lesioned rat, immuno- suppressed	Neural induction, includes addition of SHH, FGF8 & FGF2/FGF4.	480,000 cells transplanted. Survival: 4 & 8 weeks.	Grafted cells expressed TH, serotonin & GAD67, at 4 & 8 weeks. No Ki67 cells. Grafted neurons developed functional synapses & electro-physiological properties like mesencephalic neurons. Improvement in rotations, cylinder & paw-reaching. No teratomas detected. Used M2 to detect grafted cells.

Study	Experimental Paradigms			Notes	Results
	Cells	Host	Protocols	-	
Wernig et al., 2004	TauEGFP ES cells (neuron- specific enhanced GFP)	Embryonic (E16.5) rat, cerebral ventricles	EB formation 5-7 days	Transplanted 2-4x10 ⁵ cells. Survival: 1 & 14 days after birth.	Cells migrated to various brain regions incl. hippocampus, thalamus, neocortex, & striatum. Immature neural cells; bipolar, multipolar & pyramidal neurons; GAD65/67, & TH. Synaptic integration of donor & host. Ectopic expression of region-specific markers Bf1, Dlx, En1 & Pax6. TauEGFP didn't allow analysis of non- neuronal cell types. Teratomas but no undifferentiated ES cells.
Ferarri et al., 2006	Cyno1 primate parthoenogenetic ES cell line	6-OHDA rat, immuno- suppressed	SHH/FGF8, then BDNF/AA, differentiation in BDNF/GDNF/ dbcAMP/AA. Progenitors day28 (pES); different- tiated neurons day42 (dES).	100,000 cells over 2 sites. Survival: 12 weeks.	No sig difference in TH positive cells betwee pES & dES grafts; 80% improvement in D- amphetamine rotations with dES; 50% with pES. Patches of very dense TH axons, with NeuN, NF70 & Foxg1. Expression of DARPP-32 & calbindin. Heterogeneous graft morphology with non- neural cells.
Lee et al., 2007	Human ES cells (i)H1; (ii)H9; (iii)RUES1eGFP Non-human primate ES cells (i)Cyno1	<i>In ovo</i> : stage 16-17 chick spinal cord; <i>In vivo</i> : adult rat spinal cord	Rosettes exposed to FGF8/SHH, then RA/SHH. Differentiation in GDNF, BDNF & AA.	Rat; 40,000 cells per side, bilateral. Survival: 1 day, 2 and 6 weeks.	<i>In vitro</i> : FGF8/SHH resulted in forebrain but not hindbrain markers. RA/SHH reduced forebrain & increased hindbrain. <i>In ovo</i> : survival of graft-derived motoneurons <i>In vivo</i> : Graft survival up to 6 weeks. Expression of motoneuron precursors at 1 day then decrease at 2 & 6 weeks. Increase in mature neurons over time eg ChAT.

1.6 Neural Development

Currently there is no protocol for robust, efficient and reproducible differentiation of MSNs either *in vitro* or *in vivo*. Central to the development of new protocols for directing the differentiation of cells to specific phenotypes is the understanding of signals that are important in their development in the brain. In this section neural development is reviewed, with the focus being on the developing telencephalon, the origin of the putative striatum.

In early mouse embryonic development, following fertilization, the ICM and primitive endoderm are formed within the trophectoderm. Just prior to gastrulation, at E5.5 to E6, the anterior-posterior axis is formed as the distal visceral endoderm (DVE) migrates towards the anterior pole and gives rise to the anterior visceral endoderm (AVE). The AVE primarily functions to repress posterior gene expression involved in induction of mesoderm, which is as a result of expression of the genes *DKK-1* and *Lefty1*, which act to antagonise Wnt and TGF- β signalling in the epiblast. During gastrulation the three germ layers of the gastrula are formed; endoderm, mesoderm and ectoderm. It is at this stage of development that generation of the nervous system begins. Endogenous signals are released from the underlying mesoderm along the midline of the developing brain, and in response to these signals the ectoderm thickens and forms the neural plate. The neural plate folds inwards to generate the neural groove (E7.5), and eventually the folds meet and give rise to the neural tube, a process known as neurulation (E8.5). Patterning of the neural tube at this stage is regulated, in part, by the anterior neural ridge (ANR). As the neural tube develops it bends, resulting in flexures and this gives rise to vesicles along the tube: the telencephalon and diencephalon make up the forebrain, the mesencephalon the midbrain and the rhombencepalon the hindbrain (Figure 1.4; A) (Rubenstein et al., 1998; Lu et al., 2001; Wilson and Houart, 2004; Takaoka et al., 2007).

The developing telencephalon, at the most rostral point of the neural tube, can be divided into the pallium (the dorsal-most region), which gives rise to the cerebral cortex, and the subpallium (the ventral-most region), which forms the striatum and is also the origin of cells that go on to populate the olfactory bulb, GP and cortex. The subpallium comprises the LGE and MGE (Figure 1.4; B). In the human striatum, the MGE starts to appear a day before the LGE, at Carnegie stages 14 and 15 respectively

Chapter 1

(Freeman et al., 1995). The MGE gives rise to the amygdaloid body and also the GP and ventral pallidum, whilst the LGE is the foetal primordium which gives rise to the caudate and putamen (Deacon et al., 1994; Sturrock, 1980). Striatal projection neurons originate in the LGE and make up nearly 90% of LGE neurons. The majority of telencephalic interneurons are generated in the ventral telencephalon and then migrate to the region that they populate in the adult brain. Those from the LGE go on to populate the cortex, olfactory bulb and striatum, while those from the MGE will migrate to the cortex, GP and also the striatum (Wilson and Rubenstein, 2000; Anderson et al., 1997b; Anderson et al., 1997a; Marin et al., 2000).



Figure 1.4. The distinct regions of the developing mouse brain. The folding of the neural plate and then the neural groove results in the formation of the neural tube, which comprises the four regions of the developing brain: telencephalon, diencephalon, mesencephalon and rhombencephalon (A). Coronal brain section of mouse embryonic day (E) 12.5, showing the dorsal/pallial (CTX) and ventral/subpallial (LGE and MGE) regions of the developing telencephalon. Expression of the Dlx2 gene showing the position of cells in the LGE and MGE (B). Abbreviations: CTX - cortex; LGE - lateral ganglionic eminence; MGE - medial ganglionic eminence.

During telencephalic development, positioning of progenitor cells within the neural tube accounts for the distinct regionalization seen in the adult brain. The molecular mechanisms involved in forebrain development are complicated and not yet fully elucidated. Signalling centres produce secreted molecules and morphogens which generate transcription factors at various levels, which in turn induce patterning within the neural tube according to their graded levels of expression. It is the expression of combinations of transcription factors at certain times and in specific regions that is responsible for this organisation within the developing neural tube

Introduction

(Lupo et al., 2006). Dorsal and ventral regions differ with respect to the secreted molecules present in that region and the level at which cells are exposed to these molecules, imposing a degree of regional identity on the cells.

1.6.1 Factors involved in telencephalon development

There are various groups of factors involved in the patterning of the telencephalon. Members of the fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family are one such group. FGF8 is expressed in the ANR and as well as being involved in cell proliferation and cell survival it has been shown to have a role in rostro-caudal patterning and regulates expression of the rostral forebrain marker Foxg1 (Shimamura and Rubenstein, 1997; Ye et al., 1998; Storm et al., 2006). Interestingly, FGF8 beads inhibit expression of caudal forebrain markers Otx2 and Emx2 (Crossley et al., 2001). Expression of FGF8 is not the only factor involved in rostral forebrain formation since in FGF8 null mutant mice the telencephalon is still present although it is small and has patterning abnormalities (Storm et al., 2006; Wilson and Rubenstein, 2000; Shanmugalingam et al., 2000). Loss-of-function studies reveal a role in ventralisation of the telencephalon as there is a loss of the MGE and LGE structures in the absence of FGF8, which coincides with a reduction of ventral gene expression including Nkx2.1 and Dlx2, and an expansion of dorsal gene expression including Pax6 (Storm et al., 2006). Expression of Dlx2, but not Nkx2.1 has been shown to increase with increased FGF8 (Crossley et al., 2001).

One factor required for maintaining FGF8 expression is the signalling protein sonic hedgehog (SHH) (Ohkubo et al., 2002). SHH is a morphogen secreted from the notochord, which underlies the posterior structures of the brain and is thought to extend anteriorly as far as the posterior diencephalon, and the prechordal plate, which underlies the telencephalon (Rubenstein et al., 1998). It is important in embryonic development and patterning, as well as cancer progression and stem cell renewal, and is required for the generation and development of the mammalian telencephalon, giving rise to distinct neural progenitor subtypes in the ventral neural tube (Jessell, 2000). SHH has been shown to elicit its effect in a concentration-dependent gradient, for example in the patterning of the spinal cord the generation of motoneurons and
Introduction

interneurons arise in distinct dorso-ventral progenitor domains according to the levels of expression of this morphogen (Jessell, 2000; Altaba et al., 2003). Both the level and duration of SHH expression are important for specification of ventral cell fates (Stamataki et al., 2005).

Expression of SHH is observed in the ventral telencephalon from E11.5 in the developing brain (Kohtz et al., 1998). It plays an essential role in patterning of the forebrain in particular ventralising activity (Kohtz et al., 1998; Ericson et al., 1995; Chiang et al., 1996) and is both necessary and sufficient to induce expression of ventral forebrain markers (Chiang et al., 1996). In mice lacking SHH expression there is a complete absence of ventral forebrain structures, accompanied by an ectopic expression of dorsal forebrain markers in the ventral telencehalon (Chiang et al., 1996), whereas over-expression of SHH results in the dorsal expansion of ventral-specific genes (Goodrich et al., 1997). Culture of telencephalon explants treated with SHH express ventral forebrain markers such as Nkx2.1 (Ericson et al., 1995), and misexpression of SHH in the cortex results in ectopic expression of Dlx2 and Nkx2.1 (Kohtz et al., 1998).

SHH expression initiates a pathway involving patched and smoothened such that when hedgehog binds patched, patched is blocked and smoothened is derepressed. This activates Gli (glioma-associated oncogene homolog 3) which induces the target gene expression of the SHH pathway (Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5. The SHH induction pathway for target gene expression. When SHH binds Patched, Patched is blocked and Smoothened is freed. The Gli repressor (GliR) becomes activated to the Gli activator (GliA) and this induces target gene expression of Hedgehog. Abbreviations: SHH – sonic hedgehog; Gli – glioma-associated oncogene homolog.

There are three members of the Gli family of zinc finger-containing transcription factors, which are homologues of the drosophila cubitus interruptus (Ci), namely Gli1, Gli2 and Gli3. Gli transcription factors have been shown to regulate SHH-dependent gene expression. Stamataki et al (2005) showed that incremental

Chapter 1

Introduction

changes in SHH concentration result in a gradient of Gli activity (Stamataki et al., 2005). Gli1 and Gli2 proteins generally promote ventral patterning in response to SHH signalling. At low levels of SHH signalling, the Gli3 protein is cleaved from an activator into a repressor form that results in promotion of dorsal patterning. Inhibition of the Gli3 repressor formation appears to be the primary role of SHH in telencephalic patterning, and in SHH^{-} ; Gli3^{-/-} double mutants there is substantial rescue of ventral telencephalic patterning (including expression of Nkx2.1) (Gulacsi and Anderson, 2006).

Retinoic acid (RA) is the biologically active form of vitamin A. It has been implicated in survival, proliferation, specification and differentiation during forebrain development (Haskell and LaMantia, 2005; Marklund et al., 2004). RA is generated by members of the retinaldehyde dehydrogenase family, it elicits its effects through retinoic acid receptors (RAR) and retinoid X receptors (RXR), and subtypes (α , β , and γ) of both receptor groups can be found in the developing striatum. RAR β is selectively expressed in the LGE and RXR γ is primarily expressed in the LGE with low levels in the MGE and no expression in the CGE. *RXR* $\gamma I^{-\prime-}$ mutant mice exhibit specific reduction of choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) expression in the striatum, with no change in expression in GABA and TH (Saga et al., 1999). Loss of RAR β in *RAR* $\beta^{-\prime-}$ mice results in reduction of striatal-enriched tyrosine phosphatase mRNA, a gene found to be regulated by RA, in the striatum, with a reduction in DARPP-32 positive neurons as well as dynorphin, μ -opioid receptor (MOR1) and TH, compared with wild-type mice (Liao et al., 2008).

RA is required for forebrain development (Schneider et al., 2001; Ribes et al., 2006), and its expression is maintained in forebrain regions throughout adult life (Haskell and LaMantia, 2005). Retinoid signalling has been shown to maintain FGF8 and SHH expression in the forebrain (Schneider et al., 2001; Haskell and LaMantia, 2005), and in the absence of retinoid signalling, expression of FGF8 and SHH is lost (Schneider et al., 2001).

The LGE appears to be a source of retinoid signalling, and retinoids from the glia of this region have been implicated in striatal neuronal differentiation (Toresson et al., 1999). In the developing chick telencephalon, RA has been shown to specify intermediate character. Blocking RA in chick embryos blocks expression of *Meis2*,

which is expressed in progenitor cells in the intermediate zones of the telencephalon (Marklund et al., 2004). In *Gsx2* mutant mice, where development of the telencephalon is perturbed and DARPP-32-expressing neurons are reduced, addition of exogenous RA results in an increase in the number of DARPP-32 positive neurons (Waclaw et al., 2004), thus RA is implicated in the regulation of DARPP-32 in the developing brain.

In vitro LGE cultures have been shown to be responsive to both RAR and RXR signalling, showing up-regulation of striatal neuron differentiation (Toresson et al., 1999). Supplementation of RA to LGE cultures induces an increase in DARPP-32 expression (Toresson et al., 1999). This was observed at different RA concentrations (10⁻⁷M and 10⁻⁸M) and was specific to the LGE, with no increase in DARPP-32 expression detected in MGE or cortical cultures.

Wingless (Wnt) protein family of ligands are a class of secreted glycoproteins that regulate β -catenin activity and therefore gene transcription and have been shown to be important during development. Intracellular Wnt signalling can be divided into three pathways; the canonical pathway which involves the activation of β -catenin; the planar cell polarity pathway which involves jun N-terminal kinase (JNK); and the calcium pathway which involves calcineurin. The latter two are non-canonical pathways which are β -catenin-independent reviewed in (Huelsken and Behrens, 2002). It is the canonical pathway that is involved in telencephalon development.

In the canonical Wnt signalling pathway (Figure 1.6), Wnt binds to the membrane-bound receptor Frizzled which activates the intracellular component Dishevelled (Dsh). This destabilizes the complex formation between axin and glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK- 3β) which in turn decreases the phosphorylation of β -catenin and prevents its degradation. β -catenin accumulates in the cytoplasm and is then translocated to the nucleus where it binds and activates target transcription factors of Wnt signalling such as T-cell factors (TCF). This regulates the expression of a variety of Wnt target genes such as c-myc and cyclin D1. In the absence of Wnt the cytoplasmic β -catenin joins the axin and GSK- 3β complex where it becomes phosphorylated and subsequently degraded, preventing its accumulation and translocation into the nucleus for gene activation.

Chapter 1

Introduction



Figure 1.6. The canonical Wnt signalling pathway for target gene expression. When Wnt binds Frizzled, Dsh is activated and inhibits formation of the axin-GSK-3 β complex. This prevents the break-down of β -catenin and permits its translocation to the nucleus where it induces target gene expression. Abbreviations: APC - adenomatous polyposis coli; Dsh - Dishevelled; GSK3 β - glycogen synthase kinase 3 β ; TCF - T-cell factor. (Taken from Frontiers in Bioscience 9 (Hsieh, 2004).

Using a reporter line where a LacZ gene is under the control of β -catenin/TCF responsive elements, the canonical Wnt signalling pathway has been shown to be active in the pallium but not the subpallium of the mouse telencephalon at E11.5 and E16.5 (Maretto et al., 2003; Backman et al., 2005). More recently, a reporter line using LacZ tagged to Axin2 (a negative feedback regulator of the Wnt pathway which is expressed in response to Wnt signalling) revealed Wnt signalling activity in the cortex and up to 5% of cells in the subventricular zone, at E14.5 in the mouse brain (Kalani et al., 2008). Inhibition of Wnt signalling has been reported to be necessary for telencephalic generation (Houart et al., 2002). In order to look at the effects of canonical Wnt signalling in the telencephalon before neurogenesis, Backman et al (2005) generated a mouse line with a conditional Cre/loxP system to inactivate or activate β -catenin before or after neurogenesis in the telencephalon. The loss of β catenin in the mouse telencephalon prior to the onset of neurogenesis leads to downregulation of the dorsal markers Emx1, Emx2 and Ngn2 (Backman et al., 2005). Interestingly, expression of the dorsal telencephalic marker Pax6 was not downregulated in this model at this time. Analysis of the subpallial markers Dlx2, Mash1 and Gsx2 pre-neurogenesis revealed their ectopic expression in the pallium of the inactivated- β -catenin mutant. The expression of the MGE marker Nkx2.1 remained the same in both wild-type and mutant animals.

In chick embryos sequential signalling of Wnt and FGF results in the specification of dorsal telencephalic cells (Gunhaga et al., 2003). During embryonic mouse development Wnt signalling is evident from E6.5, in the posterior region of the embryo (ten Berge et al., 2008). In the mouse telencephalon, activation of β -catenin in the subpallium results in reduced expression of the ventral markers *Nkx2.1*, *Dlx2*, *Gsx2* and *Mash1*, along with expanded expression of the dorsal markers *Pax6* and *Ngn2* (Backman et al., 2005). This data implicates a role for canonical Wnt signalling in the specification of telencephalic cells by repressing induction of ventral character. Analysis of the expression of dorsal and ventral markers in the inactivated- β -catenin mutant following onset of neurogenesis revealed that there was no shift in the dorsal-ventral specification of cells of the telencephalon, as was observed pre-neurogenesis (Backman et al., 2005).

Loss of β -catenin in the ventral telencephalon caused reduced growth of the MGE with reduced proliferation of cells in this region but, although neuronal numbers were reduced, the differentiated fate of cortical interneurons and subcortical cholinergic neurons from this region was largely unaltered (Gulacsi and Anderson, 2008).

Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) belong to the TGF- β family of secreted growth factors. They are secreted by the roof plate, spread ventrally and influence the induction of dorsal neural cell types in a concentration-dependent manner. Signalling of FGF appears to be necessary for inhibition of BMP expression and the subsequent neural induction in the neural tube (Wilson and Rubenstein, 2000). Increased BMP4 expression by implantation of BMP4-soaked beads results in a reduction of both FGF8 and SHH expression in the telencephalon (Ohkubo et al., 2002), and in the absence of RA there is a reduction in BMP4 expression (Wilson and Houart, 2004). Forebrain specification was repressed in telencephalic explant cultures treated with BMPs as shown by inhibition of Foxg1 expression, as well as *Nkx2.1* and *Dlx2* (Furuta et al., 1997).

For normal neural development it is essential to have the right levels of the right molecules in the right region so that the appropriate levels of transcription factors are generated and subsequently cells are correctly specified according to their location, which then ensures the correct balance of mature phenotypes following differentiation.

1.6.2 Foxg1 expression in the developing telencephalon

The earliest known marker of the telencephalon is *Foxg1* (forkhead box G1), formerly known as Brain factor 1 (BF-1) (Tao and Lai, 1992). Foxg1 is a member of the winged helix family of transcription factors and in mammals was first identified in the developing rat brain with an expression pattern restricted to the telencephalon of the forebrain (Tao and Lai, 1992). This initial study revealed high levels of *Foxg1*, detected by *in situ* hybridization, from E10 in the developing rat telencephalon and reported the absence of expression in the neighbouring diencephalon (Tao and Lai, 1992). From this it was suggested that *Foxg1* might have a role in telencephalon development including establishing boundaries between the forebrain subdivisions.

Xuan et al (1995) generated mice with a null mutation in the *Foxg1* gene. By replacing most of the Foxg1 coding sequence with a *LacZ* and neomycin cassette, the expression of the β -galactosidase enzyme is under the control of the *Foxg1* promoter. X-Gal histochemistry revealed Foxg1 expression in the neural tube from as early as E8.5 and E9.0, and at this stage there was no difference in *Foxg1* expression between wild-type and *Foxg1*^{-/-} mice. From E10.5 the size of the telenecephalon was greatly reduced compared with the wild-type and this was further exacerbated by E12.5 (Xuan et al., 1995; Martynoga et al., 2005).

In the $Foxg1^{-/-}$ mutant telencephalon there is a significant reduction in the expression of FGF8 at E10.5, as compared with wild-type (Martynoga et al., 2005). This reduction is not due to an increase in apoptosis in this region, since apoptosis was shown to decrease in the $Foxg1^{-/-}$ mutant telencephalon at this age (Martynoga et al., 2005). BMP expression is increased (indicated by immunohistochemistry for the tyrosine-phosphorylated forms of Smad-1, 5 and 8; direct effectors of BMP signalling) at E11.5 in the $Foxg1^{-/-}$ mutant telencephalon, but not at the earlier time point of E10.5 where the reduction of FGF8 was observed and Wnt signalling does not appear to be affected (Martynoga et al., 2005).

Furthermore, Xuan et al., (1995) showed that it is the ventral telencephalon that is more severely affected than its dorsal counterpart, and at E12.5 the ganglionic

eminences were not present in the $Foxg1^{-/-}$ mutants. In addition they reported the presence of the dorsal telencephalic markers Emx2 and Pax6, but not the ventral telencephalic markers Dlx1 and Dlx2. Analysis of region-specific markers of the ventral telencephalon, comparing wild-type and $Foxg1^{-/-}$ mutant telencephalon, reveals the absence of Nkx2.1 and Mash1 from the ventral region at E9.5, and Gsx2 at E10.5 (Martynoga et al., 2005). This is consistent with earlier findings that report the absence of expression of the ventral markers Nkx2.1, Dlx1/2 and Gsx2 throughout the telencephalon at E12.5 (Xuan et al., 1995; Dou et al., 1999). In addition, there is an increase in expression of dorsal markers, such as Pax3, whose expression expands throughout the telencephalon rather than being restricted to only the dorsal-most region (Martynoga et al., 2005). Studies in the developing cortex have reported that Foxg1 suppresses the production of the earliest born neurons and in $Foxg1^{-/-}$ mutants these neurons are over-generated (Hanashima et al., 2004).

Analysis of cell proliferation by labelling with bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) revealed that only cells of the dorsal telencephalon, and not the ventral telencephalon, are actively proliferating which suggests that it is the lack of proliferating precursor cells in the ventral telencephalon that is responsible for the absence of this region. A more recent study (Martynoga et al., 2005) introduced a BrdU and iododeoxyuridine (IddU) double-labelling protocol to determine total cell cycle time and the length of S-phase in the cell cycle. They reveal an increase in cell cycle time in the *Foxg1*^{-/-} mutant telencephalon however they did not observe this increase in ventral regions (Martynoga et al., 2005) as reported previously (Xuan et al., 1995).

Recently *Foxg1* has been shown to co-ordinate the signalling pathways of SHH and Wnt/ β -catenin, which are independently required for development of the subpallial and pallial telencephalon, respectively (Danesin et al., 2009). Danesin et al (2009) demonstrate that *Foxg1* inhibits dorsal identity via the inhibition of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway, and confirm the requirement of *Foxg1* for ventral telencephalic identity, but reveal that *Foxg1* and SHH act independently in their induction of ventral fates.

The studies mentioned here support Foxgl as an integral part of forebrain development and reveal its requirement for the expression of ventral telencephalic markers.

1.6.3 Dorso-ventral organisation in the developing telencephalon

As mentioned earlier, the developing telencephalon can be divided into the dorsal/pallial portion which is the developing cortex, and the ventral/subpallial portion which is made up of the MGE and LGE. There are distinct boundaries between the dorsal and ventral regions, and between the two ventral subdivisions, the LGE and MGE, in terms of gene expression (Figure 1.7). In the dorsal telencephalon *Pax6*, Ngn1/2 and Emx1/2 genes are expressed; in the ventral telencephalon Gsx2, Mash1, Dlx1/2 and Nkx2.1 are expressed. Nkx2.1 is specific to the MGE; Gsx2, Mash1 and Dlx1/2 genes are expressed predominantly in the LGE although they are not necessarily specific to this domain.



Figure 1.7. Coronal schematic section through the telencephalon showing the dorsal and ventral domains defined by distinct gene expression patterns. Dorsal telencephalic markers include *Emx1/2*, *Ngn1/2* and *Pax6*, and ventral telencephalic markers include *Mash1*, *Dlx1/2*, *Gsh1/2* (now *Gsx1/2*) and *Nkx2.1*. Figure adapted from (Schuurmans and Guillemot, 2002).

Pax6 is a paired homeodomain gene essential for the proper development of cortical progenitors and its expression is restricted to proliferating precursors in the developing cortex (Toresson et al., 2000). *Emx1* is a marker of the dorsal telencephalon and its expression domain is further limited to the dorsal region of the cortex, with no expression in the ventral portion of the cortex. *Neurogenin 1 (Ngn1)* and *neurogenin 2 (Ngn2)* genes encode basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription

Introduction

factors that are necessary for determining dorsal telencephalic phenotype. Ngn1/2 are expressed throughout the cortex along with Pax6.

Pax6 expression is first observed in the developing forebrain at E8.0 (Stoykova and Gruss, 1994). *Pax6* mutant mice, also known as the *Small eye (Sey)* mutation, have patterning defects in the forebrain with abnormal development involving a shift in the cortical-striatal boundary (Stoykova et al., 1997) and expression of other dorsal markers such as Ngn1/2 and Emx1 are down-regulated in the cortical region (Toresson et al., 2000; Stoykova et al., 2000). Ventral markers of the LGE, Dlx1/2 (Stoykova et al., 1996; Stoykova et al., 2000; Toresson et al., 2000), *Mash1* (Toresson et al., 2000; Stoykova et al., 2000) and Gsx2 (Toresson et al., 2000) show ectopic expression across this boundary into more dorsal regions of the *Pax6* mutant telencephalon, and expression of the MGE marker Nkx2.1 expands dorsally into the LGE and shifts the LGE-MGE border (Stoykova et al., 2000).

The neurogenins Ngn1 and Ngn2 are expressed exclusively in the dorsal telencephalon and loss-of-function analysis reveals their requirement for the maintenance of the dorsal-ventral boundary in the developing telencephalon (Fode et al., 2000). In the absence of Ngn expression the ventral marker Mash1 is ectopically expressed in the dorsal telencephalon, resulting in dorsal cells acquiring a ventral fate. This subsequently alters the specification of a subset of cortical neurons to express the ventral markers Dlx1, Dlx2 and GAD 65/67, which is expressed by ventral telencephalic neurons and encodes the enzyme required for biosynthesis of the neurotransmitter GABA.

In the wild-type developing forebrain, expression patterns of the ventral gene Gsx2 and the dorsal gene Pax6 are complementary. Further, these two genes have been shown to cross-repress each other in order to generate the cortical-striatal (pallial-subpallial) boundary and correct regional expression of each is dependent on the other. The regions of the pallium and subpallium that are immediately proximal to this boundary have been termed the ventral pallium and the dorsal LGE (dLGE), and in the dLGE expression of Pax6 and Gsx2 overlaps at E10.5 in the mouse (Yun et al., 2001). The pallial-subpallial boundary (PSB), a source of a subgroup of Cajal-Retzius cortical neurons and olfactory bulb interneurons, requires both Pax6 and Gsx2 for correct expression of PSB-specific genes (Carney et al., 2009).

Gsx2 (formerly Gsh2) is a homeobox gene (Hsieh-Li et al., 1995) with expression first detected in the developing forebrain between E9 and E10 and during early telencephalic development it is restricted to the prospective LGE. It is essential for the early expression of a number of genes that mark various aspects of specification and differentiation of the LGE (Corbin et al., 2000). Gsx2 is also essential for specification of distinct cell populations and the establishment of the molecularly defined boundary between the developing cortex and the LGE.

Loss of Gsx2 in $Gsx2^{-/-}$ mutants results in loss of *Mash1* and *Dlx2* (Szucsik et al., 1997; Corbin et al., 2000; Toresson et al., 2000), accompanied by expansion of dorsal markers *Pax6* and *Ngn2* into the LGE (Corbin et al., 2000; Toresson et al., 2000). Overall there is a reduction in LGE size from E12 (Szucsik et al., 1997), reduction in striatum size at E18.5 (Wang et al., 2009) and reduced expression of striatal projection neurons which originate in the LGE (Deacon et al., 1994; Olsson et al., 1998). Interestingly the decreased *Dlx2* is more pronounced in LGE than MGE, and expression of the MGE specific marker *Nkx2.1* is not affected by the loss of *Gsx2* (Szucsik et al., 1997). From these loss-of-function studies it has been established that Gsx2 is required for the early expression of *Mash1*, *Dlx1* and *Dlx2* in the ventral telencephalon, and promotes expression of these ventral genes while repressing dorsal character via cross-repression with *Pax6*. In the $Gsx2^{-/-}$; *Pax6^{-/-* double mutant there is rescue of the telencephalic defects reported in the single mutants of these genes (Corbin et al., 2003).

Gain-of-function studies with Gsx2 revealed no ectopic expression of Dlx2 or Mash1, nor inhibition of the dorsal markers Pax6 and Ngn2, but it did cause ectopic expression of the retinol binding protein (RBP) normally expressed in LGE radial glial cells, which is not lost in the $Gsx2^{-/-}$ mutant (Corbin et al., 2000). In *SHH* knockout mice the striatum is lost (Chiang et al., 1996) along with loss of Gsx2 and RBP in the forebrain (Corbin et al., 2000). In addition, mis-expression of SHH by injection of a SHH-expressing retrovirus *in vivo* resulted in ectopic expression of Gsx2. Taken together this indicates that Gsx2 is a downstream target of SHH signalling (Corbin et al., 2000).

Mash1, also called *Ascl1* (Mouse Genome Informatics) is a basic helix-loophelix (bHLH) gene which has been shown to be essential for proper development of the ventral telencephalon (Casarosa et al., 1999). In contrast to the dorsal bHLH genes *Ngn1/2* which are expressed only in the dorsal telencephalon, *Mash1* expression is seen throughout the ventral telencephalon in a complementary pattern to *Ngn1/2* (Fode et al., 2000). Analysis of mutant mice that lack *Mash1* (*Mash1^{-/-}*) reveals defects in the developing telencephalon including a reduction in size of the MGE and loss of early born striatal neurons (Casarosa et al., 1999). Expression of *Gsx2* in the *Mash1^{-/-}* mutant is similar to that in the wild-type at E12.5, but by E18.5 there is an increase in *Gsx2*-expressing cells indicating a potential repressive function of *Mash1* on *Gsx2* at a later developmental time point (Wang et al., 2009).

Expression of the dorsal marker Ngn2 in the $Mash1^{-/-}$ mutant is similar to that in the wild-type (Wang et al., 2009), whereas in the $Gsx2^{-/-}$ mutant, dorsal character expands ventrally with expression of Ngn2 (Corbin et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2009) and Pax6 (Corbin et al., 2000) observed in the LGE.

Gsx1, a gene closely related to *Gsx2*, is also expressed in the ventral telencephalon and has been implicated in partially compensating ventral telencephalon patterning in $Gsx2^{-/-}$ mutants (Wang et al., 2009). In the $Gsx2^{-/-}$ mutant, expression of Gsx1 and Mash1 is similar in the LGE. DARPP-32 expression is absent and calbindin expression is maintained in both $Gsx2^{-/-}$; $Mash1^{-/-}$ and $Gsx2^{-/-}$; $Gsx1^{-/-}$ double mutants. The similarities in mutant phenotypes suggest that Mash1 is necessary for the role of Gsx1 in striatal compensation in $Gsx2^{-/-}$ mutants (Wang et al., 2009).

Analysis of the striatal neuronal marker FoxP1 at E18.5 reveals a slight reduction of expression in the $Mash1^{-/-}$ mutant, a more marked reduction of expression in the $Gsx2^{-/-}$ mutant and a severe reduction in the $Gsx2^{-/-};Mash1^{-/-}$ double mutant (Wang et al., 2009). A similar pattern is seen with DARPP-32, the striatal projection MSN marker, with the $Gsx2^{-/-};Mash1^{-/-}$ double mutant exhibiting a complete loss of DARPP-32 expression in the striatum (Corbin et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2009). Interestingly expression of the striatal-matrix marker calbindin is reduced in the $Mash1^{-/-}$ striatum and slightly increased in both the $Gsx2^{-/-}$ and $Gsx2^{-/-};Mash1^{-/-}$ striatum (Corbin et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2009).

Distal-less homeobox (Dlx) 1 and 2 genes have almost identical expression patterns in the developing brain (Bulfone et al., 1993). Bulfone et al looked at the expression at E12.5 and observed that in the telencephalon, both Dlx1 and Dlx2 were

found to be expressed in the MGE, the LGE and the septum, and the only difference in expression in these areas was the intensity of the hybridization signal, which was always greater for Dlx1. Dlx1/2 expression patterns suggest a role in striatal development and evidence supports a role in differentiation of the basal ganglia and migration of cells from the subcortical telencephalon to the neocortex (Anderson et al., 1997a; Anderson et al., 1997b). Single mutants of Dlx1 and Dlx2 have almost no forebrain defects, but double Dlx1/2 mutants reveal marked abnormalities in the development of the striatum, specifically LGE (Nery et al., 2003; Anderson et al., 1997b).

Expression of these genes begins when progenitors move from the ventricular zone (VZ) into the sub-ventricular zone (SVZ) and later these Dlx-expressing cells migrate away from this proliferative zone to various regions of the brain and Dlx expression is switched off when the cells differentiate (Nery et al., 2003). Dlx2-expressing cells are highly migratory, following which they differentiate into interneurons (Anderson et al., 1997a). Overexpression of Dlx2 can induce telencephalic progenitors to express GAD65/67 (Stuhmer et al., 2002a). Analysis of mice with the *tauLacZ* reporter gene inserted into the Dlx2 locus shows migration of Dlx2-expressing cells firstly to the cortex from E13.5 onwards and later to the olfactory bulb and hippocampus (Nery et al., 2003). Another fate-mapping study supports the presence of Dlx cells expressing GABA in the cortex (Stuhmer et al., 2002b). Further Dlx1/2 double mutants display a reduction in cortical GABAergic interneurons (Anderson et al., 1997a) and a loss of later born striatal matrix neurons that are believed to be derived from the SVZ (Anderson et al., 1997b).

Nkx2.1, also known as thyroid transcription factor 1 (TTF1) (Mouse Genome Informatics) is another homeodomain-containing transcription factor. It is expressed in the medial subdivision of the WGE, is required for the development of this region and functions to repress LGE character in the MGE. Expression of Nkx2.1 is induced by SHH (Ericson et al., 1995). Inhibition of SHH results in reduced expression of Nk2.1 in the MGE (Gulacsi and Anderson, 2006) with dorsalisation of the ventral telencephlaon (Chiang et al., 1996) and overactivation of SHH signalling results in the dorsal expansion of Nkx2.1 (Goodrich et al., 1997). Loss of Gli3 however does not cause dorsalisation of the MGE suggesting that the SHH-induced Nkx2.1 expression is independent of Gli3. In the absence of Nkx2.1, in $Nkx2.1^{-/-}$ mice, the MGE fate converts to that of the LGE, with some MGE-like cells expressing DARPP-32 (Sussel et al., 1999). Generation of $Nkx2.1^{-/-}$ mutants with the Dlx2 tauLacZ reporter gene revealed loss of Dlx2 early in development but not later (Nery et al., 2003). The $Nkx2.1^{-/-}$ mutant results in loss of GABA and calbindin positive neurons from the cortex, and also loss of striatal cholinergic cells (Sussel et al., 1999). In $Nkx2.1^{-/-}$; $Gsx2^{-/-}$ double mutant mice the combined loss of these medial and lateral ventral telencephalon genes results in more profound effects on regional patterning of the MGE and LGE (Corbin et al., 2003).

In the knockouts of Dlx1/2, Mash1 and Nkx2.1 a reduction in cortical interneurons is observed (Anderson et al., 1997a; Anderson et al., 1997b; Casarosa et al., 1999; Sussel et al., 1999; Marin et al., 2000). The cortical interneurons of Gsx2 mutants are unaffected and it is the olfactory bulb interneurons that are altered in this case (Corbin et al., 2000). This suggests a role for Gsx2 in olfactory bulb interneuron differentiation and migration. These factors are essential for establishment of regional specification during development and also the subsequent identity of mature neurons that originate in the specified regions. The window of expression and balance between these dorsal-ventral transcription factors are important in ensuring the identity of cells in the correct region.

1.7 Directed differentiation of ES cells

Mouse ES cells *in vitro* are maintained in their self-renewing, pluripotent state in the presence of leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and upon withdrawal of this cytokine ES cells lose this undifferentiated state and begin to differentiate. For *in vitro* differentiation of ES cells, different induction conditions are applied depending on the cell type of interest. Mouse ES cells can be induced to differentiate into a neural lineage (Bain et al., 1995; Okabe et al., 1996). The original approach towards promoting neural cell populations involved culture of mouse ES cells in bacteriological dishes where they grow as free-floating multicellular aggregates termed embryoid bodies (EB) (Bain et al., 1995). In this study EBs were cultured for 4 days without RA followed by 4 days with RA in medium without LIF or β mercaptoethanol, and the initial cell-seeding density was arbitrarily determined as a 'quarter of a confluent flask'. When these aggregates were dissociated and plated as a monolayer, cells developed a neuronal appearance and 38% were immuno-reactive for the neuronal marker β -III-tubulin, whereas untreated aggregates generated no β -III tubulin positive neurons.

Suspension culture of EBs for 4 days followed by attachment to substrate and change of culture medium to DMEM/F12 supplemented with insulin, transferrin, selenium and fibronectin (ITSF medium) for 6 days resulted in 84% cells showing immuno-reactivity for the neural precursor marker nestin (Okabe et al., 1996). These factors have a role in cell survival with insulin in particular shown to be specific for survival of nestin-positive cells. Addition of basic FGF to the culture medium resulted in increased proliferation of nestin-positive cells and subsequent differentiation in the absence of basic FGF revealed a threefold decrease in nestin-positive cells and three-to four-fold increase to 60% in MAP2-positive neurons (Okabe et al., 1996).

It has been shown that mouse ES cells will survive, proliferate and differentiate in serum-free medium (Johansson and Wiles, 1995), and can yield neuroectodermal cells under these conditions (Ying et al., 2003). This indicates that the intermediate step of EB generation prior to neural precursor cell (neural lineage) induction can be by-passed. Direct transfer of mouse ES cells to suspension culture with no serum, but bovine serum albumin (BSA), synthetic lipids, LIF, transferrin and insulin, collectively termed chemically defined medium (CDM), results in differentiation as neural embryoid bodies (NEB) with up-regulation of neuroectoderm and telencephalic precursor marker Pax6 (Wiles and Johansson, 1999). This study showed that with addition of activin the aggregates generate both mesoderm and Pax6 in parallel, but a dose response of BMP4 reveals that Pax6 expression is inversely related to BMP4 concentration.

Continued investigations into the serum-free (CDM) suspension culture system have shown the importance of an optimal cell-seeding density for suspension cultures from ES cell colony dissociation (Bouhon et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2005). The neurogenic potential of the suspension cultures has been reported following immunocytochemistry identifying nestin, sox1 and RC2 immuno-positive cells following 8 days in CDM and when these cells are dissociated and plated onto substrate they are seen to express β -III tubulin (Bouhon et al., 2005). Fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis reveals 83% nestin positive cells at day 2 and a decrease to 67% by day 8 in CDM suspension culture. With addition of FGF2 to the medium the percentage of nestin positive cells at day 8 is more similar to that seen at day 2 in CDM alone. Cultures beyond day 8 are dependent on FGF2 for maintenance (Bouhon et al., 2005). Markers of the developing neural tube were seen to up-regulate between day 4 and day 8 in CDM culture, including *Pax6* (dorsal telencephalon marker) and *Gsx2* (ventral telencephalon marker) (Bouhon et al., 2005).

Wnt signals have been shown to inhibit neural differentiation of EBs *in vitro* (Aubert et al., 2002). Within EBs, activation of the Wnt pathway is necessary for establishing the anterior-posterior axis (ten Berge et al., 2008). Addition of exogenous Wnt induces posterior character with mesendodermal differentiation, while inhibiting Wnt signals induces anterior character with neuroectodermal differentiation (ten Berge et al., 2008).

In the serum-free suspension culture system expression of Wnt3a is not detected at day 2 but is detectable from day 4 through to day 8 (Bouhon et al., 2005). Supplementing CDM with BMP, LiCl (to mimic Wnt signalling), an FGF receptor anatagonist and a Hedgehog antagonist reduced the percentage of neural precursors as shown by immunocytochemistry with Sox1 (Bouhon et al., 2005). Using an ES cell line where the reporter GFP is tagged to Sox1, separate addition of Wnt3a, Nodal (a member of the TGF-B ligand superfamily) and BMP each causes a decrease in Sox1positive cells (Watanabe et al., 2005). The anti-Nodal agent, LeftyA, and the anti-Wnt reagent DKK-1, together caused an increase in Sox1 positive cells, but individually there was only a small non-significant increase and anti-BMP reagents did not have an effect on the Sox1 population (Bouhon et al., 2005). Interestingly, a study looking at the effect of Sox1 on telencephalic neural progenitor cells (from E12-E16 mouse ganglionic eminences) reported that neurosphere formation was not compromised with reduced or absent Sox1 expression, however subsequent differentiation resulted in a significant reduction of β -III-tubulin positive neurons, compared to wild-type derived cultures (Kan et al., 2007).

Addition of DKK-1 during days 0-5 of NEB culture caused an increase in the percentage of Foxgl positive cells (from 15% to 30%), and this increase was counteracted by addition of Wnt3a (Watanabe et al., 2005). DKK-1 did not affect the percentage of cells positive for TH, 5-HT and Tuj1. With addition of both DKK-1 and LeftyA, *Foxg1* positive cells increased to 35%. Late addition of Wnt to serum-free

suspension cultures did not significantly alter the *Foxg1* population, but within the *Foxg1* population there was a reduction of ventral telencephalic markers Nkx2.1 and Gsx2, and an increase in the percentage of the dorsal telencephalic marker Pax6 (Watanabe et al., 2005).

Analysis of rostral markers revealed that SHH addition to serum-free suspension culture increased Nkx2.1 positive cells and decreased Pax6 and Emx1positive cells, and did not have a significant effect on Gsx2 and Mash1, without affecting the Foxg1 population (Watanabe et al., 2005). This indicates that SHH does not have an affect on anterior-posterior patterning but does alter dorsal-ventral patterning within the forebrain population. Inhibition of SHH in defined serum-free medium with the SHH antagonist cyclopamine resulted in increased expression of the dorsal markers Emx1 and Pax6, and decreased expression of the ventral markers Dlx1, Gsx2 and Nk2.1, without altering the nestin neural precursor population (Gaspard et al., 2008).

Exposing ES cell cultures to signals indicative of regionalisation and specification can direct their differentiation towards a specific phenotype. Addition of SHH and RA, which induced ES cells to differentiate into motoneurons (Wichterle et al., 2002) has provided proof-of-principle for this strategy of applying knowledge of developmental biology to ES cell differentiation. Further, Soundarajan et al (2006) found that treatment with a SHH agonist and RA (both at 10⁻⁶M), induced ES cells to differentiate into functional motoneurons specific to the medial motor column (Soundararajan et al., 2006). Functional GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons have been generated in defined serum-free culture conditions with a greater proportion of glutamatergic neurons generated in the presence of cyclopmine (Gaspard et al., 2008). Together, this demonstrates the potential to direct ES cells to functional mature neuronal phenotypes.

Time and length of exposure have also been implicated as important factors when treating cultures to direct neural differentiation. Early exposure of EBs to high RA concentrations $(5x10^{-7}M)$ has been shown to promote neural differentiation of ES cells (Bain et al., 1995), but also results in ablation of the forebrain markers *Foxg1* and *Otx2* and induction of caudal markers (Irioka et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2005). Later addition results in only suppression of forebrain markers alongside induction of caudal markers (Watanabe et al., 2005). This supports the theory of specific time windows for addition of factors in influencing the fate of neural precursor cells.

When added to cultures of mouse ES cells, RA induces concentration dependent effects on neural differentiation. *Ngn2* expression is enhanced by high RA concentrations (>10⁻⁷M), whilst at lower concentrations, mesodermal (*Brachyury*) and endodermal (*Pdx1*) markers are detected. It has also been demonstrated that higher RA concentrations induce a dorsal phenotype, while lower RA concentrations induce a more ventral phenotype, as indicated by expression of ventral genes such as *Nkx2.2* (Okada et al., 2004). This induction of ventral neural progenitors with low RA concentrations occurred as a result of increased expression of the N-terminus of SHH protein, and the effect was abolished upon addition of the SHH antagonist cyclopamine (Okada et al., 2004).

Notably, expression of the ES cell specific marker Oct-3/4 is shown to persist following four days in CDM, albeit to a lesser degree than the same time in the presence of serum, as shown by the use of an ES cell line where *LacZ* expression is under the control of the *Oct-3/4* promoter (Bouhon et al., 2005). Oct-3/4 expression in serum-free suspension culture down-regulates over time as shown by RT-PCR (Bouhon et al., 2005) and immunocytochemistry (Watanabe et al., 2005), however RT-PCR does still reveal evidence of a faint band at day 8, and immumocytochemistry indicates that a very low percentage of cells are still expressing Oct-3/4 (Bouhon et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2005).

The mouse ES cell culture system offers a robust model that is easy to manipulate, enabling integration of reporter systems for analysis of genes of interest in response to signalling cues. Although there are some differences in the maintenance of mouse ES cells compared to human ES cells, their fundamental properties are transferable, including the capacity to respond to developmental cues. Mouse ES cells require LIF in order to maintain their self-renewal and pluripotency characteristics, and in the presence of LIF and serum or serum-replacement, can be maintained *in vitro* indefinitely. Human ES cells are insensitive to LIF and until recently were reliant upon the presence of feeder layers for maintenance (Thomson et al., 1998). Some of the shared characteristics of mouse and human ES cells include expression of the ES cell marker Oct-3/4, telomerase activity and the capacity to form teratomas containing derivatives of the three germ layers (Thomson et al., 1998; and reviewed in Wobus and Boheler, 2005). Human ES cells exhibit a slower growth rate than mouse ES cells and are more susceptible to cell death upon dissociation. One study looked at

addition of a Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) inhibitor, an inhibitor of apoptosis, to attempt to overcome this problem of cell death, and demonstrated that dissociation-induced apoptosis was significantly reduced compared to untreated human ES cells (Watanabe et al., 2007). Further, when they applied the ROCK inhibitor to serum-free suspension culture for neural induction, they were able to generate 30% Foxg1 positive cells, 95% of which expressed the dorsal telencephalic marker Pax6 (Watanabe et al., 2007).

Various methods have been utilised for neural lineage derivation from human ES cells, including co-culture on stromal cells, which induces formation of neural rosettes, with subsequent culture of cells attached to substrate (Perrier et al., 2004; Aubry et al., 2008); stromal cell co-culture followed by suspension culture and then further differentiation on substrate (Park et al., 2005); and direct transfer of ES cells to defined neuralizing medium under substrate and feeder-free conditions (Joannides et al., 2006; Joannides et al., 2007a). Stromal-feeder induction of neural precursors from human ES cells yields a decrease in expression of ES cell markers, such as Oct-3/4, with an increase in both Pax6 and MAP2 expression over time (Perrier et al., 2004). Neural rosettes following sequential application of SHH, FGF8, BDNF, ascorbic acid, GDNF, dibutyryl cAMP and TGFB3, resulted in 30-50% β-III-tubulin positive neurons, with 64-79% of these expressing TH and 1-2% expressing GABA (Perrier et al., 2004). Application of a similar protocol of sequential addition of factors, but with the notable inclusion of DKK-1 and exclusion of FGF8 and GDNF, resulted in 22% MAP2 positive neurons, of which 36% expressed GABA, 53% expressed DARPP-32, 10% expressed calbindin and less than 2% expressed TH (Aubry et al., 2008).

Culture of human ES cells in suspension with defined human neuralizing medium which included human serum albumin, transferrin, insulin, as well as amino acids and lipids, resulted in expression of immature neural markers including Sox1 and Pax6 (Joannides et al., 2007b; Joannides et al., 2007a). Following 14 days terminal neuronal differentiation of these cells at day 25, 95% of the population expressed β -III-tubulin, and at day 70, 60% expressed β -III-tubulin (Joannides et al., 2007b). Further analysis of the day 70 derived neurons revealed that 55% expressed GABA and 34% expressed glutamate (Joannides et al., 2007b).

A novel method for neural induction of human ES cells uses two inhibitors of SMAD signalling (activated in the BMP signalling pathway), noggin and SB431542, which have previously been shown to enhance neural induction (Lee et al., 2007;

Elkabetz et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2008), in order to avoid the use of stromal feeder layers (Chambers et al., 2009). Addition of both inhibitors resulted in an increase in Pax6 expression to 80% of the total population by day 7 in culture. There was also an increase in other neural markers Otx2, Foxg1 and Sox1, with a decrease in Oct-3/4 expression. The generation of such protocols helps to lead the way for more specific induction of ES cells to lineages whilst concomitantly avoiding potential contamination from feeder cells and associated medium components.

One issue regarding the neural induction protocols with ES cells is that differentiation is not exclusively neural and the resulting population is often heterogeneous containing multiple cell types. The continued presence of undifferentiated ES cells in the culture system makes this cell source less attractive as a prospect for transplantation due to their potential to form teratomas. To reduce the risk of teratoma formation cell populations could be subjected to purification using techniques such as FACS, or magnetic activated cell sorting (MACS), or integration of DNA plasmids with antibiotic resistance linked to a specific gene, into an ES cell line, which would enable selection of cells expressing the gene of interest. Another strategy involves increased differentiation of ES cell-derived precursors in culture prior to transplantation in order to encourage down-regulation of pluripotency markers, and with addition of the patterning factors known to be required for correct neural developmental, specifically directing cells towards the desired phenotype.

However, this is not the only issue that needs to be overcome prior to clinical translation, and of equal importance is the reliable and reproducible production of a defined phenotype that not only has the capacity to survive, but also to function following transplantation into the brain. Since primary foetal tissue has provided the proof-of-principle for cell replacement studies and is the current 'standard', it is important, when assessing alternative cell sources, to refer to this 'standard' and be able to draw comparisons.

1.8 Aims of this thesis

It is evident from the research outlined above that transplantation into the neurodegenerative HD brain is a viable strategy for repairing circuitry and function, and although it is unlikely to be the sole therapy responsible for a cure, it has the potential to alleviate some of the symptoms associated with the disease. The experiments in this thesis will explore ES cell-derived neural precursors as an alternative cell source for transplantation in HD. Information obtained from developmental biology which gives an insight into the development of the cell type of interest will be applied in order to attempt to direct ES cell differentiate into the desired mature MSN phenotype that is lost in HD.

Chapter 3 addresses forebrain characterisation and specification of NEBs including addition of factors known to be important in the developing neural tube. In Chapter 4 NEBs following different times in neural induction culture are transplanted into the QA-lesioned rat striatum model of HD in order to assess survival and differentiation *in vivo*. NEBs are then further treated with both a SHH agonist and antagonist in Chapter 5 in order to determine the effects of this morphogen on the dorsal-ventral patterning of these cells. Following this, in Chapters 6 and 7, the mature phenotypes of the NEBs after differentiation *in vivo* (in the mouse QA-lesion model) are investigated to confirm or deny the presence of the MSN marker DARPP-32 as well as other neuronal markers.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 In vitro methods

2.1.1 Mouse ES cell culture

ES cells were maintained in ES cell culture medium which consisted of Iscove's modified Dulbecco's medium (IMDM) (*Gibco, Invitrogen, Paisley, Scotland, UK*), supplemented with 15% 'knock-out' serum replacement (KSR) (*Gibco*), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (PS) (*Gibco*), non-essential amino acids (MEM) (1mM) (*Gibco*), L-glutamine (2mM) (*Gibco*), β -mercaptoethanol (0.1mM) (*Sigma, Gillingham, Dorset, UK*) and leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF) (produced '*in-house*' as described in Appendix 5).

ES cells were maintained on 10cm tissue culture treated petri-dishes (*Nunc, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, Leicestershire, UK*) coated with 0.1% gelatin in Ultrapure water (*Chemicon International, Chandlers Ford, Southampton, UK*). Medium was changed daily and cultures were passaged when sub-confluent (every 2-3 days) using 0.1% trypsin/EDTA (*Gibco*). For passaging, ES cell culture medium was aspirated off and cells were washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) pH 7.4 (*Gibco*), then lifted off culture dishes using 0.1% trypsin/EDTA, incubated at 37°C for 2-3 minutes and this enzymatic reaction was stopped by addition of ES cell culture medium. Cells were harvested from the culture dishes and collected by centrifugation at 1000rpm for 3 minutes. The resulting pellet was resuspended in ES cell culture medium followed by re-plating according to the desired ratio for the split, usually 2 x 10^6 cells per 10cm plate.

2.1.2 Freezing and thawing mouse ES cells

For freezing ES cells were washed with PBS, incubated at 37°C for 2-3 minutes in 0.1% trypsin/EDTA at 37°C, harvested from the culture dishes following addition of ES cell culture medium and centrifuged at 1000rpm for 3 minutes. Frozen

stocks were made by freezing cells at the desired density, usually 2×10^6 cells/ml, in 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (*Sigma*) in ES cell culture medium, in cryovials using a cryochamber with isopropanol, at -80°C.

Frozen ES cells were removed from -80°C, thawed rapidly in a water-bath at 37°C for 2-3 minutes and transferred to a tube containing ES cell culture medium before being centrifuged at 1000rpm for 3 minutes. The pellet was re-suspended in fresh ES cell culture medium and the cells were plated on gelatin-treated petri-dishes for culture.

2.1.3 Formation and maintenance of NEBs

ES cells were harvested using trypsin-EDTA (as described above) and a single-cell suspension was made. To remove any serum and LIF, cells were washed in 10ml of PBS and then a cell count was performed. For the cell count 10 μ l of cell suspension was taken, transferred to a haemocytometer with a glass cover-slip and viewed under the microscope. Cells in the centre square of the haemocytometer were counted and the number of cells per μ l was calculated as well as total cell number.

Cells were re-suspended in a chemically defined medium (CDM), ADF+, which consisted of Advanced DMEM/F-12 (ADF) (*Gibco*), 1 x lipid concentrate (*Gibco*), PS, glutamine (2mM), 12.5mg/ml transferrin (final concentration 150µg/ml) (*Sigma*), 10mg/ml insulin (final concentration 14μ g/ml) (*Sigma*), and β mercaptoethanol (0.1mM). Cells were plated on untreated bacteriological grade culture dishes (*Sterilin, Caerphilly, UK*) at a density of 5 x 10⁴ cells/ml and this was referred to as day 0. ADF+ was changed every 2 days by collecting NEBs into falcon tubes (*Sterilin*), harvesting a pellet of cells by centrifugation at 500rpm for 3 minutes, followed by resuspending cells in ADF+ and plating onto fresh bacteriological dishes.

For some of the studies the ADF+ medium was supplemented with factors to analyse their effects on the NEB cultures. FGF2 (*R&D Systems, Abingdon, Oxfordshire, UK*) was resuspended in PBS and used at 1, 5, 10 and 20 ng/ml. DKK-1 (*R&D Systems*) was resuspended in PBS and used at 10, 100 and 1000 ng/ml. Purmorphamine (*Calbiochem, Merck, Hull, UK*) was resuspended in DMSO and used at 0.5, 1, 2 and 5 μ M. Cyclopamine (*Calbiochem*) was resuspended in methanol and used at 0.1, 0.5, 1 and 2 μ M.



Figure 2.1. Schematic representation of NEB differentiation.

ES cells are transferred into ADF+ chemically defined medium, termed 'day 0'. Medium is replaced every two days and addition of different factors in the different studies was at day 0, day 2 or day 4. Following initiation of growth factor addition, this factor addition was maintained through to day 8 or day 16, when cells were plated onto substrate for differentiation and analysis.

2.1.4 Differentiation of NEBs

Glass cover-slips were first coated with poly-L-lysine (PLL) (0.1mg/ml in distilled H_2O) (*Sigma*) overnight at 4°C in 24-well plates (*Iwaki, Sterilin*) and then washed with distilled H_2O and allowed to dry. Then a 30µl drop of laminin (*Sigma*) (0.1mg/ml in distilled H_2O) was added to each cover-slip and left for 45 minutes at 37°C. Immediately prior to plating down the cells, the laminin was removed, but the cover-slips were not allowed to dry.

Cells were harvested, washed in PBS and incubated with accutase (*PAA Laboratories, Farnborough, Hampshire, UK*) at 37°C for 15 minutes. A single-cell suspension was generated by gently triturating the cells and neuronal differentiation medium was added to stop the enzymatic reaction. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 1000rpm for 3 minutes, the pellet was resuspended in neuronal differentiation medium (DMEM/F-12, 1% PS, 2% B-27 and 1% FCS) and cells were counted as described previously.

Cells were plated onto the PLL/laminin cover-slips or onto LGE glial cultures (preparation described in section 2.1.2 & 2.1.3), at a known density, usually 25,000 cells/cm², in 30 μ l of neuronal differentiation medium. (The seeding density is lower

Chapter 2

for the differentiating NEBs than the LGE neuronal differentiation cultures because the NEBs continue to proliferate for the first few days following plating and it becomes difficult to visualise individual cells for subsequent counts and analysis.) Cells were allowed to adhere for 2-3 hours at 37°C and then 500µl of neuronal differentiation medium was added to each well before returning the plate to 37°C. Cells were left to differentiate for 7-14 days and medium was discarded and replaced with fresh neuronal differentiation medium every 2-3 days.

2.1.5 Dissection and preparation of primary mouse cells

Mouse embryos at embryonic day (E) 14 were collected in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) (*Gibco*), the brains were removed and the striatal eminences were dissected out, as shown in figure 2.2. Dissections were carried out using a dissecting microscope in a laminar flow hood.



Figure 2.2 Dissection of the striatal eminences.

Following removal of the brain, a longitudinal cut is made along the cortex, close to the midline, which is opened up to reveal the striatal primordium. To remove the WGE a superficial cut is made, removing the heart-shaped structure. To remove the LGE a vertical cut is made down the midline of the WGE to divide the LGE and the MGE, and the lateral side is collected by a superficial cut underneath (arrow). (Figure adapted from (Dunnett and Bjorklund, 1992).

The dissected tissue pieces were washed in HBSS, then transferred to a solution of 0.1% trypsin (*Worthington, Lakewood, New Jersey, USA*) in 0.5% DNAse (*Sigma*) in HBSS for 20 minutes at 37°C. Trypsin inhibitor (*Sigma*) and DNAse were

added and the tissue was incubated for a further 5 minutes at 37°C. The tissue was then washed in DMEM/F-12 (*Gibco*), centrifuged at 1000rpm for 3 minutes and the remaining pellet was resuspended in 200 μ l DMEM/F-12 and triturated 10-15 times with a 200 μ l Gilson pipette to generate a single cell suspension. Cells were counted using a haemocytometer and trypan blue (0.4% trypan blue solution) (*Sigma*) exclusion, in order to assess cell viability. 10 μ l of cell suspension was taken, diluted with DMEM/F-12 and trypan blue, and transferred to a haemocytometer with a glass cover-slip and viewed under the microscope. Cells in the centre square of the haemocytometer were counted and the number of cells per μ l was calculated as well as total cell number, taking the dilution factor into account:

cells counted/squares counted x dilution factor x $10 = cells/\mu l$

2.1.6 LGE glia expansion cultures

For generation of LGE glial cultures, cells were resuspended at a density of 200cells/µl in T25 tissue-culture treated flasks (*Iwaki, Sterilin*) with 10ml glial expansion medium, which consisted of; DMEM/F-12, 1% PS, 10% fetal calf serum (FCS), glutamine (2mM) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) (20ng/ml), and the medium was changed every 2-3 days, depending on cell density. When 80-90% confluency was reached, glial cultures were passaged. Cells were washed with PBS, followed by incubation with 0.1% trypsin-EDTA at 37°C for 2-3 minutes. Glial expansion medium was added to inhibit the enzymatic reaction and the cells were harvested by centrifugation at 1000rpm for 3 minutes. Cells were resuspended in glial expansion medium at the required density, and re-seeded in tissue-culture flasks for further expansion.

When glial cultures reached passage 4, stocks were made by harvesting cells and freezing at the required density in 10% DMSO in glial expansion medium, in cryovials using the cryo-chamber.

2.1.7 LGE glia co-cultures

Glial cells were plated onto coverslips 2-3 days prior to the beginning of coculture with neuronal plate-downs. Frozen glial cells were removed from the -80°C storage box, thawed rapidly in a water-bath at 37°C, for 2-3 minutes and transferred to a tube containing glial expansion medium before being centrifuged at 1000rpm for 3 minutes. The pellet was re-suspended in fresh glial expansion medium and cells were plated at a density of 40,000 cells/cm² onto 13mm diameter glass cover-slips, which had been coated with PLL. Cells were plated in 30 μ l drops onto the cover-slips and allowed to adhere for several hours before each well was flooded with 500 μ l glial expansion medium.

24 hours before co-culture, the medium in the wells was replaced with 500μ l glial differentiation medium, which was DMEM/F-12 with 1% PS, 10% FCS and glutamine (2mM).

2.1.8 LGE neuronal differentiation cultures

For generation of LGE neuronal differentiation cultures, cells were resuspended in neuronal differentiation medium and seeded onto either PLL-coated glass cover-slips or LGE glia co-cultures. When plated onto PLL-coated cover-slips, cells were seeded at 100,000 cells/cm² in 30 μ l drops and were allowed to adhere for 2-3 hours before the wells were flooded with 500 μ l neuronal differentiation medium. When plated onto LGE glia co-cultures on cover-slips, cells were seeded at 100,000 cells/cm² in 500 μ l suspension, to prevent the glia cultures from drying out.

Cultures were maintained at 37° C in humidified 5% CO₂ and 95% atmospheric air, and differentiation medium was replaced with fresh medium every 2-3 days.

In Chapter 6 differentiation medium was supplemented with factors to determine their effects on the survival and yield of DARPP-32 positive neurons. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (*Peprotech, New Jersey, USA*) was resuspended in PBS and used at 50 and 100 ng/ml. RA (*Sigma*) was resuspended in DMSO and used at 10, 100 and 1000 nm.

2.1.9 Immunocytochemistry

Following differentiation of cells for the required time period, differentiation medium was removed, cells were washed in PBS and fixative solutions were added. Cells were fixed in either 4% formaldehyde in PBS for 20 minutes, 0.2% gluteraldehyde in 4% formaldehyde in PBS for 15 minutes, or methanol at -20°C for 10 minutes, depending on the antibodies to be used, and were subsequently washed 3 times in PBS.

Appendix 3 lists the antibodies used and details the appropriate blocking sera, optimal concentrations and secondary antibodies to be applied.

Cells were first permeabilised with 100% ethanol for 2 minutes, followed by 3 washes in PBS. To prevent non-specific antibody binding, a blocking serum was applied for 2 hours (3% normal serum in a 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS solution). Primary antibody was then added at the appropriate dilution, in 3% normal serum in 3% BSA in PBS, and cells were incubated overnight at 4°C. Where double-labelling was performed, both primary antibodies were added at the same time, ensuring they were raised in different species. The primary antibody was then removed, cells were washed 3 times with PBS and secondary antibody was added, in 3% normal serum in 3% BSA in PBS, and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature and in the dark. The secondary antibody was washed off with PBS and Hoechst nuclear stain was added for 10 minutes. Cover-slips were rinsed in PBS, mounted onto glass microscope slides using PBS:glycerol (1:1), sealed with clear nail varnish and stored at 4°C in the dark.

2.1.10 X-gal assay

Incubation of Foxg1-lacZ ES cell-derived NEB cultures with 5-Bromo-4chloro-3-indolyl galactopyranoside (X-gal) yields a blue product, allowing visualisation of Foxg1-lacZ positive cells within the population. Cells were harvested, plated onto PLL/laminin substrate and partially fixed in 1% formalin for 5-10 minutes. Following PBS wash X-gal staining solution (see Appendix 2b) was added and cultures were incubated at 37°C for 2-4 hours and then overnight at 4°C. X-gal staining solution was discarded, cells were fixed in 4% formalin for 15 minutes and washed 3x in PBS. Cells were counterstained with eosin solution, which was diluted 1:10 in distilled water, for 10 minutes.

2.1.11 Microscopy

Cells were visualised under UV fluorescence using a Leitz microscope. UV was used to detect the Hoechst positive nuclei and obtain a total cell count within a grid placed randomly on the coverslip with a magnification of 40X. Cells were then checked for counterstaining with antibodies under fluorescence using different UV wavelengths (560nm-red; 494nm-green; 346nm-blue). The grid was placed randomly

over 5 different fields per cover-slip in order for cell counts to be performed, and replicates of 3-4 coverslips were counted per condition. Images were processed using Optronics MagnaFire Software and Adobe Photoshop.

2.2 Molecular methods

2.2.1 RNA extraction and quality check

Cells were harvested (as described previously), washed in PBS and RNA was extracted using the Qiagen RNeasy Mini kit, RNase-free DNase set and QiaShredder (all *Qiagen, West Sussex, UK*). Following extraction, the amount of RNA was determined using NanoDrop and 500ng RNA was run on a formaldehyde gel.

Formaldehyde gel was made as a 1.7% agarose gel with addition of formaldehyde from 39% stock solution and 10X 3-(N-Morpholino)-propane sulfonic acid (MOPS) buffer, which consisted of 200mM MOPS pH7.0, 80mM sodium acetate and 10mM ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid (EDTA) pH8.0.

The extracted RNA was mixed with RNA loading buffer heated to 65°C for 10-15 minutes, cooled on ice and then loaded onto the gel. The gel was run at 100V for 40 minutes in 1X MOPS solution, and visualized using ethidium bromide and AlphaImager 2200 Multi-image Light Cabinet.

2.2.2 cDNA synthesis

For first strand synthesis, DNase-treated RNA was incubated with random primers (*Invitrogen*) and 10mM dNTP mix for 5 minutes at 65°C. Following a brief chill on ice, 5X first strand buffer, 0.1M DTT and RNase Out RNase Inhibitor (all *Invitrogen*) were added and incubated for 2 minutes at 25°C. Finally, Superscript II (*Invitrogen*) was added and incubated at 25°C for 10 minutes, then 42°C for 50 minutes and then 70°C for 15 minutes. cDNA was used for PCR reactions.

2.2.3 RT-PCR: Reverse Transcription – Polymerase Chain Reaction

For PCR amplifications, the basic PCR mix used was: cDNA from first strand synthesis, 10X Bioline NH₄ Reaction Buffer (*Bioline, London UK*), 50mM MgCl₂, 10mM dNTP, BioTaq DNA polymerase (*Bioline*), oligo pair at 10pmol each and water (*Sigma*), to make it a 25µl reaction. The reaction conditions used were initial denaturation step at 95°C for 1 minute, with a cycle of denaturing at 95°C for 45 seconds, annealing at 60°C for 1 minute and extension at 72°C for 1 minute. The final extension was at 72°C for 10 minutes. PCR products were analysed by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel and visualised with ethidium bromide.

2.2.4 QPCR

For QPCR reactions the fluorescent probe SYBR Green (*Bioline*) was used. For each cDNA sample to be analysed 3 replicate wells were prepared with 1µl cDNA (diluted with water at 1:20), 10pmol of each of the oligo pairs of interest, 10µl SYBR Green mastermix and water (*Sigma*) to give a 20µl reaction mix. Opticon Monitor 3 software was used for QPCR analysis. Amplification conditions used were 95°C for 15 minutes followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 60°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds. Melt curves were generated from readings every 0.5°C between 53°C and 95°C. Amplification of the target transcript sequence was quantified using relative quantification, where the ratio between the Ct value of the target transcript and that of β -actin was determined.

2.2.5 Primer sequences

Primer pairs were generated using *Mouse Genome Informatics* and *Ensembl* for sequence information, and *Primer 3 Input* for primer design. All QPCR primers were designed to; melt at 60°C, be a sequence of 18-22 base pairs in length and generate a transcript of 80-120 base pairs. Primer pair sequences are listed in Appendix 4.

2.2.6 Transformation and inoculation of plasmid DNA

Plasmid DNA was added to TOP10 *E. coli* chemically competent cells (*Invitrogen*) and left on ice for 20 minutes. This underwent a heat shock at 42°C for 1 minute and was then transferred to ice for a further 2 minutes before 1 ml cultivation medium (*Invitrogen*) was added. The bacterial suspension was then transferred to a bacteriological tube (*Falcon, Becton Dickinson Labware, New Jersey, USA*) and left to shake at 37°C for 30 minutes. Subsequently, 100 μ l bacterial suspension was streaked onto a plate of selective agar (ampicillin resistant) and left at 37°C overnight.

An individual colony was picked using an inoculation loop, and transferred to a bacteriological tube with 5ml Luria-Bertani (LB) media (*DIFCO; Becton Dickinson*) and ampicillin (150µg/ml) (*Sigma*), and left to shake at 37°C overnight.

2.2.7 Midi prep

A colony from the 'master plate' was picked and inoculated in LB media plus ampicillin (150µg/ml) and left to shake at 37°C overnight. From this bacterial suspension, a glycerol stock was made by combining 600µl bacterial suspension with 400µl LB media:glycerol (1:1). The remainder of the bacterial suspension was centrifuged and a Midi prep was performed on the resulting pellet using the Qiagen Midi prep kit, according to manufacturer's instructions. A sample of the resulting DNA was run on a 0.8% agarose gel and visualized with ethidium bromide. The DNA was stored at -20°C in Tris-EDTA (TE) at $1\mu g/\mu l$.

2.2.8 DNA digest

DNA was digested for an analytical check by incubation with the appropriate restriction enzyme, 10X BSA and 10X Buffer (*New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA*), at 37°C overnight. At this stage, a sample of the DNA was run on a 1% agarose gel against undigested DNA, and visualized with ethidium bromide.

2.2.9 Transfection

For transfection, COS (monkey renal epithielial) cells were used. Cells were maintained on T25 tissue culture treated flasks in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS, L-Glutamine (2mM) and 1% PS. Medium was changed every 2-3 days and cells were passaged at 70-80% confluence. Briefly, medium was aspirated off, cells were washed in PBS, trypsin-EDTA was added and cells were incubated at 37° C for 2-3 minutes. Cells were harvested, resuspended in COS culture medium and centrifuged at 1000rpm for 3 minutes. The pellet was resuspended in COS culture medium and cells were re-seeded according to desired ratio for split, usually 2 x 10^{6} cells per T25 flask. Cells were transfected at 70% confluency and 2-4 hours before transfection, culture medium was changed to that containing no PS.

Transfection reagent FuGENE 6 (*Roche, West Sussex, UK*) was used according to instructions in the kit. FuGENE 6 was added to Opti-MEM (*Gibco*) and left at room temperature for 5 minutes. Then plasmid DNA was added and left for a further 15 minutes at room temperature and then more Opti-MEM was added. The media was aspirated off the cells and 'transfection mix' was added and left at 37°C for 2-3 hours. Following this incubation period, Opti-MEM was added and the cells

were left at 37°C overnight. After 24 hours, the transfection mix was discarded and replaced with COS cell culture medium.

2.3 In vivo methods

2.3.1 Animal care, anaesthesia and immunosuppression

All animal experiments were performed in compliance with local ethical guidelines and approved animal care according to the UK Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act 1986 and it subsequent amendments. Adult female Sprague-Dawley rats (*Harlan, UK*) weighing 200-250g at the start of the experiment were used, and were housed in cages of up to four in a natural light-dark cycle with access to food and water *ad libitum*.

All surgery was performed under gaseous isoflurane anaesthesia. Anaesthesia was induced in an induction chamber with isoflurane and oxygen, and maintained by passive inhalation of isoflurane (1-21/min) and a mixture of oxygen (0.81/min) and nitrous oxide (0.41/min). Animals were recovered in a warmed recovery cage and received analgesia by paracetemol dissolved in drinking water (2mg/ml) for 3 days following surgery.

In experiments involving xeno-transplantation into adults, animals were immunosuppressed with daily intraperitoneal injections of Cyclosporin A (CsA, Sandimmun, 10mg/kg) (*Novartis, Hampshire, UK*) commencing the day prior to transplantation and continuing for the duration of the experiment.

2.3.2. Quinolinic acid lesion

Quinolinic acid (QA) was dissolved in 0.1M phosphate-buffer to make a 90mM solution. Animals received a unilateral injection of 45nmol QA into the right striatum.

For QA lesions in rats, a Hamilton syringe attached to a pump and cannula was used to infuse 0.75μ l of QA solution at two sites for 3 minutes per site and 1.5 minutes each at two heights. The stereotaxic coordinates from bregma were +0.4/+1.4 mm anterior-posterior (AP) and -3.2/-2.4 mm lateral (L). The heights (H) below dura were -5.0 mm and -4.0 mm. Following QA infusion, the needle was left at the lesion site for a further 3 minutes before being withdrawn. The incision was sutured and the animals were administered a subcutaneous injection of 5ml saline glucose into the scruff and an intramuscular injection of 0.15ml diazepam into the upper leg.

For QA lesions in mice 0.5μ l QA was infused at one site for 4 minutes. The stereotaxic coordinates from bregma were +0.9mm AP, -1.8mm L and -2.7mm below dura. The needle was left at the lesion site for a further 4 minutes before being withdrawn, the incision was sutured and animals were administered a subcutaneous injection of 0.5ml saline glucose into the scruff and an intramuscular injection of 0.03ml diazepam into the upper leg.

2.3.3 Unilateral striatal grafts

For transplants into adult rat brain 2μ l of cell suspension (250,000cells/ μ l) were delivered at a rate of 1μ l/minute with 1 minute each at two heights, using a Hamilton syringe. Grafts were placed ipsilateral to the side of the lesion using the stereotaxic coordinates +0.6 mm AP and -2.8 mm L from bregma, at two heights -5.0 mm and -4.0 mm below dura. Following grafting, the needle was left at the graft site for a further 2 minutes before being withdrawn. The incision was sutured and the animals were administered a subcutaneous injection of 5ml saline glucose into the scruff.

For transplants into adult mouse brain 2μ l of cell suspension (125,000cells/ μ l) were delivered at a rate of 1μ l/minute with 1 minute each at two heights, using a Hamilton syringe. Grafts were placed ipsilateral to the side of the lesion using the stereotaxic coordinates +0.9 mm AP and -1.8 mm L from bregma, at two heights -2.7 mm and -2.4 mm below dura. Following grafting, the needle was left at the graft site for a further 2 minutes before being withdrawn. The incision was sutured and the animals were administered a subcutaneous injection of 0.5ml saline glucose into the scruff.

2.3.4 Perfusions and sectioning

Animals were terminally anaesthetised by intraperitoneal administration of 0.5ml sodium pentobarbital (Euthatal) and transcardially perfused with a prewash solution, pH 7.3 for 2 minutes followed by 1.5% paraformaldehyde solution, pH 7.3 (PFA) for 3 minutes. The brains were removed, post-fixed in 1.5% PFA overnight and transferred to 25% sucrose in prewash solution until they sank.

Brains were sectioned coronally at 40 μ m thickness using a freezing-stage microtome. Sections were stored in 0.2% sodium azide in Tris-buffered saline (TBS), in 24-well plates at 4°C.

2.3.5 Cresyl violet staining

Brain sections (1 in 12 series) were mounted onto glass microscope slides, previously double-subbed with 1% gelatin, and allowed to dry. Sections were subjected to 10 minutes in increasing levels of alcohol from 70%, to 95% and then 100%, followed by xylene for 1 hour and then decreasing alcohols for 10 minutes from 100% to 95% to 70% and then distilled water, before incubation in the cresyl violet stain for 10 minutes. Stained sections were rinsed in water, dehydrated in 70% and 95% alcohol, then decolourised in 2.5% acetic acid in 95% alcohol for 2-5 minutes, until the desired colour was achieved, further dehydrated in 95% and 100% alcohol and then cleared in xylene before coverslips were mounted using DPX mountant.

2.3.6 Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) histochemical staining

Brain sections (1 in 12 series) were mounted onto glass microscope slides, previously double-subbed with 1% gelatin, and allowed to dry at 37° C overnight. Sections were transferred to glass koplin jars with incubation solution for 3 hours at 37° C. The incubation solution comprised acetylthiocholine iodide and ethopropazine in a stock solution of copper sulphate, glycine and sodium acetate in distilled water. Following the incubation sections were thoroughly washed 4 x 3 minutes in distilled water and then transferred to sodium sulphide solution for 30 seconds to 2 minutes for the brown colour to develop. Sections were then allowed to dry overnight, and were then dehydrated in 70%, 95% and 100% alcohol, cleared in xylene and coverslips were mounted with DPX mountant.

2.3.7 Immunohistochemistry on free-floating tissue sections

1 in 12 series of brain sections were washed in TBS and then quenched with 10% hydrogen peroxide and 10% methanol in distilled water for 5 minutes followed by three 5 minute washes in TBS, pH 7.4. Blocking solution of 3% appropriate serum in 0.2% Triton X-100 in TBS (TXTBS) was added for 1 hour, and then, without washing, block was discarded and primary antibody was added at the appropriate concentration (see Appendix 3) in 1% serum in TXTBS and incubated overnight at room temperature. Negative controls were performed in parallel, where the primary antibody was not added and sections remained in blocking solution. Sections were washed 3 times in TBS before addition of a biotinylated secondary antibody at 1:200 dilution in 1% serum in TBS for 2 hours. The secondary antibody solution was washed off by 3 washes in TBS and streptavidin ABC (A and B both at 1:200 dilution in 1% serum in TBS; prepared 30 minutes before addition) was added for a further 2 hours. The sections were washed 3 times in TBS followed by twice more in 0.05M tris non saline (TNS) pH 7.4 and positive staining was visualised using either diaminobenzidine (DAB) at 0.5mg/ml in TNS with 12µl hydrogen peroxide, which reveals the cells as brown colour, or the vector SG kit (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) made up in TNS, which reveals the cells as a grey colour. Following the appropriate colour change, sections were washed twice in TNS before being mounted on gelatinised glass microscope slides, allowed to dry and then dehydrated in increasing levels of alcohol, cleared in xylene and coverslips were mounted using DPX mountant.

2.3.8 Photomicroscopy and analysis of grafts

Cells expressing markers of interest were counted using a Leitz light microscope and Olympus CASTgrid stereology software. Images were processed using Optronics MagnaFire Software and Adobe Photoshop.

Estimate of graft volume was calculated using the formula: $(\Sigma a^*M)/f$

where: $a = area (mm^2)$, M = section thickness and f = frequency of sampled sections (1:12).

Estimate of total number of cells per animal was calculated using the formula:

 $\Sigma c^{*}[\Sigma a/(\Sigma n^{*}a)]^{*}f$

where: c = cells counted, a = area, n = total number of grids counted within the area and f = frequency of samples sections.
2.4 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Minitab 15 statistical software. Parametric data were analysed using two-sample t-tests, or one- or two-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey-Kramer *post-hoc* comparisons when appropriate, to compare differences between pairs of mean values.

Chapter 3

The forebrain character of NEBs

3.1 Summary

This chapter looks at characterising in vitro differentiation of mouse ES cells under defined neural induction conditions that are currently used as 'standard' in our lab. Mouse ES cells have been shown to generate neural precursors in vitro when cultured in CDM and default to a forebrain character without addition of further exogenous factors. This study utilised the mouse ES cell line Foxg1Z, in which the expression of the reporter gene LacZ is under the control of the Foxg1 promoter; Foxg1 is the earliest known marker of the forebrain. This enables detection of Foxg1expressing cells using X-gal or antibodies against β -galactosidase. Neural induction of Foxg1Z ES cells using standard neuralising conditions yielded an increase in percentage of Foxg1 positive cells over days in culture up to day 8. Addition of FGF2 resulted in a further increase in Foxg1 positive cells, with 20ng/ml FGF2 added at day 4 yielding the highest Foxg1 population, but Wnt inhibition with DKK-1 did not alter the proportion of Foxg1 positive cells. Interestingly, FGF2 addition did not significantly increase nestin or Otx2 expression in neural induction cultures. When cultures were differentiated for 7 days β -III-tubulin immuno-positive neurons were generated, including GABAergic neurons but not DARPP-32 positive neurons, and there were no GFAP immuno-positive astrocytes. Addition of FGF2 resulted in increased β -III-tubulin yield following 7 days neuronal differentiation. In summary, neural induction cultures of mouse ES cells resulted in a proportion of Foxg1 positive cells, which could be increased by addition of FGF2, and these precursors went on to generate neurons. These results are at odds with some previous studies in the literature and there are a number of possible explanations for this including discrepancies in culture conditions, which may have differing effects on subsequent gene expression.

3.2 Introduction

ES cells have become a widely researched cell source due to their potential to generate any cell from the three germ layers, namely ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm. With regards to neurodegenerative diseases, such as HD, and cell-replacement strategies, ES cells offer an alternative source of cells to primary foetal neural tissue which is currently used as standard. In addition, mouse ES cells offer a robust culture system that is easily employed in conjunction with genetic manipulation including incorporation of reporter systems to aid analysis of genes of interest.

Foxgl expression is restricted to the telencephalic neuroepithelium and the nasal half of the retina and optic stalk, and has been implicated in defining the compartmental boundary between the telencephalon and diencephalon (Tao and Lai, 1992). The Foxg1Z mouse ES cell line (used in this study, a gift from J. Quinn and D. Price), was derived from Foxg1Z mice and offers a useful tool for the analysis of Foxg1 expressing cells. Foxg1Z mice were generated by replacing most of the coding sequence of Foxg1, which is contained in a single exon, with a LacZ and neomycin cassette. The LacZ sequence, with a nuclear localization signal was fused in-frame to the first 13 amino acids of *Foxg1*, so that expression of the β -galactosidase enzyme is under the control of the Foxgl promoter (Xuan et al., 1995). This enables visualisation of *Foxg1* positive cells using the X-gal assay or antibodies against β galactosidase. Foxg1-LacZ knock-in reporter ES cells have previously been used to show induction of Foxg1 expression in neural induction protocols of mouse ES cells using stromal feeder layers with serum replacement medium followed by culture in N2 and bFGF with later addition of SHH, FGF8 and BDNF (Barberi et al., 2003). Further, GABAergic neurons generated using this method were demonstrated to be of forebrain identity by assessment of β -galactosidase histochemistry (Barberi et al., 2003).

During embryonic development the presence of certain endogenous factors in the neural tube are important for the generation of the telencephalon. Members of the FGF family are involved in cell proliferation and cell survival, and have a role in patterning within the telencephalon including regulation of *Foxg1* (Shimamura and Rubenstein, 1997; Storm et al., 2006). Wnt proteins have been shown to be involved in the regulation of neural development, reviewed in (Michaelidis and Lie, 2008) and Wnt signalling inhibition is reported to be necessary for telencephalic generation (Houart et al., 2002; Backman et al., 2005; Gulacsi and Anderson, 2008).

Mouse ES cells cultured in defined serum-free suspension without the addition of exogenous factors yield neural precursor cells, although different proportions of various markers are reported, including nestin positive cells ranging from 67-90% and Sox1 positive cells ranging between 60-70% (Ying et al., 2003; Bouhon et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2005; Smukler et al., 2006; Okabe et al., 1996). Addition of FGF2 to neural induction cultures has been reported to result in a greater proportion of neural precursors following 8 days in culture, with an increase in nestin-positive cells (Okabe et al., 1996; Bouhon et al., 2005), Sox1-positive cells (Ying et al., 2003) and an upregulation of *Foxg1* expression (Bouhon et al., 2006).

The Wnt inhibitor DKK-1 causes an increase in Foxg1 positive cells when added early (days 0-5) to mouse ES cell-derived neural induction cultures (Watanabe et al., 2005). This increase in Foxg1 can be counteracted by the concurrent addition of the Wnt3a protein with DKK-1. Late addition (days 6-10) of Wnt3a does not significantly alter the Foxg1 population, although it does result in an increase in expression of the dorsal telencephalic marker Pax6 and a decrease in expression of the ventral telencephalic markers Nkx2.1 and Gsx2 within the Foxg1 population (Watanabe et al., 2005). Therefore specific time points for addition of factors to the neural induction suspension culture system are important for the induction of neural precursor cells expressing appropriate markers.

In this chapter neural induction of Foxg1Z ES cells is analysed following 8 days in serum-free suspension culture. Neural character is assessed within culture populations, in particular the proportion of Foxg1 expression, via the *LacZ* reporter assay. Following addition of factors to the culture system, including the mitogen FGF2 and the Wnt inhibitor DKK-1, expression of *Foxg1* was analysed in the precursor population. Expression of other neural precursor markers such as nestin and Otx2 was also assessed. Cultures at day 8 were transferred to neuronal differentiation medium for 7 days and subsequently analysed for expression of neuronal and astrocyte markers.

3.3 Experimental Procedures

Cell culture

The mouse ES cell line Foxg1-LacZ (Foxg1Z) (a gift from J. Quinn and D. Price, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK) was used in this study. NEBs were derived from the Foxg1Z mouse ES cell line as described in Chapter 2. Briefly, ES cells were transferred from ES cell culture medium to CDM (ADF+ medium) at a density of 50,000 cells per ml and medium was replaced every 2 days. To determine the effects of addition of factors, FGF2 was added at 1, 5, 10 and 20 ng/ml. DKK-1 was added at 10, 100 and 1000 ng/ml.

X-Gal assay

Cells were plated onto PLL/laminin treated cover-slips at a density of 50,000 cells per 30µl drop on each cover-slip. Cells were fixed 2-4 hours after plating, on adhering to the substrate, in 1% formalin for 5-10 minutes, followed by washing in PBS and incubation in X-gal staining solution (see Appendix) at 37°C for 2-4 hours and then overnight at 4°C. Following the overnight incubation, X-gal was removed and cells were fixed in 4% formalin for 15 minutes, washed in PBS and counterstained with eosin for 10 minutes.

Immunocytochemistry

Cells were fixed 2-4 hours after plating, on adhering to the substrate, or after 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium. Fluorescent immunocytochemistry was performed according to the protocol detailed in Chapter 2. Primary antibodies used were anti- β -galactosidase (1:1000), anti-nestin (1:400), anti-Otx2 (1:500), anti- β -III-tubulin (1:1000); anti-GFAP (1:100), anti-GABA (1:500) and anti-DARPP-32 (1:20,000). (For antibody details see Appendix 3).

Gene expression analysis

Cells were harvested, RNA extracted and cDNA was generated. QPCR analysis of *axin* expression was performed using cDNA dilutions and the SYBR green assay. (For primer sequences see Appendix 4).

Quantification

Cells expressing markers of interest were visualised and counted under UV fluorescence using a Leitz microscope. Hoechst positive nuclei were detected and cells immuno-labelled with the marker of interest were counted, as described in Chapter 2. Images were processed using Optronics MagnaFire Software and Adobe Photoshop.

Statistical analyses were performed by two-sample t-tests, and one-factor ANOVA with Tukey-Kramer *post-hoc* comparisons when appropriate, using Minitab 15 software.

3.4 Results

Foxg1 expression in NEBs

To determine the proportion of Foxg1Z positive cells in the culture and to assay the effects of factors on the proportion of Foxg1-positive cells, incubation with 5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl galactopyranoside (X-gal) which yields a blue product was employed. Foxg1Z ES cell-derived NEBs (Foxg1Z NEBs) were cultured in ADF+ neural induction medium for up to 8 days and were analysed at different time points within this time window. Within cultures there were clusters of cells that were negative (Figure 3.1; A) along side both individual cells and clusters of cells that were positive (Figure 3.1; B) for X-gal. Undifferentiated Foxg1Z ES cells were negative for X-gal (Figure 3.1; C), as were CGR8.8 NEBs (a mouse ES cell line without the *LacZ* reporter) following the 8 days in ADF+ (Figure 3.1; D).

The proportion of X-gal positive cells present in cultures at different days following neural induction was expressed as a percentage of the total cell number as determined by eosin counterstaining (Figure 3.2). Analysis was performed on NEBs from day 0 through to day 8 of neural induction. There was a highly significant difference in the proportion of X-gal positive cells with increasing time in neural induction culture (time, $F_{4,15} = 117.31$, p<0.001), with no positive cells identified at day 0 and the greatest proportion of X-gal positive cells evident at day 8. The percentage of positive cells at day 2 (0.68 ± 0.60%) (mean ± SEM) was not significantly different from that at day 0 (0.00). The percentage of positive cells at day 4 (19.89 ± 1.43%) was statistically significant from that at day 0, day 2 and also day 8 (25.91 ± 1.78%). At day 6 (21.75 ± 0.90%) the percentage was not statistically significant from that at either day 4 or 8, but was significantly different from that at day 0 and day 2.



Figure 3.1. Foxg1Z NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate. After 2-4 hours cells had adhered to the substrate and were partially fixed, followed by incubation in X-gal staining solution (blue) and subsequent counterstaining with eosin (pink). Within cultures there were NEBs present with very few or no X-gal positive cells (A), interspersed with regions exhibiting patches of X-gal positive cells (B). Photomicrographs A and B are different areas of the same culture plate-down. Undifferentiated Foxg1Z ES cells (C) and CGR8.8 NEBs (D) exhibited no X-gal positive cells. Scale bars = $50\mu m$.



Figure 3.2. Foxg1Z NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate for analysis at days 0, 2, 4, 6 and 8 following neural induction. After adhering to the substrate cells were partially fixed and then incubated in X-gal staining solution followed by counterstaining with eosin. X-gal positive cells were counted and are represented as a percentage of total eosin stained cells. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. There was a significant difference in X-gal positive cells with varying days in culture. Significant *post-hoc* differences are indicated with brackets. (***p<0.001).

Effect of FGF on Foxg1 expression

Addition of increasing concentrations of FGF2 to neural induction cultures on day 4 resulted in an increase in the percentage of X-gal positive cells in the cultures (Figure 3.3). The increase was statistically significant overall (concentration, $F_{4,15} =$ 5.57, p<0.05). The percentage of X-gal positive cells in untreated cultures (25.73 ± 2.71%) was not significantly lower than those treated with 1ng/ml (34.17 ± 7.34%), 5ng/ml (35.61 ± 8.05%) and 10ng/ml (44.39 ± 8.92%) FGF2, but was significantly lower than those treated with 20ng/ml FGF2 (70.67 ± 8.51%). There was no significant difference between those cultures treated with 10ng/ml and 20ng/ml FGF2.

20ng/ml FGF2 was added to neural induction cultures on either day 0, 2 or 4 and was maintained in cultures until day 8 when cells were analysed. The percentage of X-gal positive cells was significantly increased the later the initial addition of FGF2 (day, $F_{3,12} = 33.89$, p<0.05) (Figure 3.4). Untreated cultures (26.56 ± 2.49%) were not significantly different from cultures treated with FGF2 from day 0 (35.24 ± 4.92%), but were significantly different from those cultures treated from day 2 (55.01 ± 3.88%) and day 4 (74.10 ± 2.78%). There was also a significant difference in the percentage of X-gal positive cells between cultures where FGF2 was added from day 2 and those where it was added from day 4.

Addition of 20ng/ml FGF2 at day 4 of neural induction resulted in the greatest proportion of X-gal-positive cells when analysed at day 8, compared to untreated cultures (Figure 3.5).

FGF8 is the member of the FGF family known to be involved in telencephalon development, and FGF 2 is a synthetic equivalent of FGF8. Addition of increasing concentrations of FGF8 to neural induction cultures on day 4 resulted in an increase in the percentage of X-gal positive cells, which was statistically significant overall (concentration, $F_{3,12} = 7.46$, p<0.05) (Figure 3.6). The percentage of X-gal positive cells in untreated cultures (23.11 ± 0.86%) and those treated with 25ng/ml FGF8 (23.28 ± 2.57%) was significantly lower than those treated with 50ng/ml FGF8 (52.85 ± 6.74%), but there was no significant difference between those cultures treated with 50ng/ml FGF8 (36.44 ± 7.43%).



X-gal expression in foxg1Z NEBs at various concentrations of FGF2

Figure 3.3 FGF2 (1, 5, 10 and 20 ng/ml) was added to Foxg1Z NEBs at day 4 and cells were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate for analysis at day 8. X-gal positive cells were counted and are represented as a percentage of total eosin stained cells. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. There was a significant increase in X-gal positive cells with increasing FGF2 concentration. Significant *post-hoc* differences are indicated with brackets. (*p<0.05).



Figure 3.4. Foxg1Z NEBs were cultured in neural induction medium and addition of 20ng/ml FGF2 was initiated on either day 0, 2 or 4, and maintained through to analysis at day 8. X-gal positive cells were counted and are represented as a percentage of total eosin stained cells. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. There was a significant difference in the percentage of X-gal positive cells, depending on the initial day of FGF2 addition. Significant *post-hoc* differences are indicated with brackets. (*p<0.05).



Figure 3.5. Foxg1Z NEBs were cultured in the absence or presence of 20ng/ml FGF2 from day 4 and at day 8 were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate. After 2-4 hours cells had adhered to the substrate; they were partially fixed, followed by incubation with X-gal (blue) and subsequent eosin counterstaining (pink). Foxg1Z NEB cultures in the absence of FGF2 are shown to express few X-gal-positive cells (A and B). Cultures treated with 20ng/ml FGF2 reveal a greater proportion of X-gal-positive cells (C and D). Photomicrographs A and B are different magnifications of the same culture, and photomicrographs C and D are different magnifications of the same culture. Scale bars = $200\mu m$ (A and C); $100\mu m$ (B and D).



Figure 3.6. FGF8 (25, 50 and 100 ng/ml) was added to Foxg1Z NEBs at day 4 and cells were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate for analysis at day 8. X-gal positive cells were counted and are represented as a percentage of total eosin stained cells. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. There was a significant increase in X-gal positive cells with increasing FGF8 concentration. Significant *post-hoc* differences are indicated with brackets. (*p<0.05).

Effect of DKK-1 on Foxg1 expression

The Wnt inhibitor DKK-1 was added to neural induction cultures to determine its effects on the forebrain population. Addition of DKK-1 did not result in a statistically significant difference in the percentage of X-gal positive cells (concentration, $F_{3,12} = 3.45$, p = n.s) (Figure 3.7; A); (untreated 24.89 ± 2.13%; 10ng/ml DKK-1 21.21 ± 1.35%; 100ng/ml DKK-1 23.45 ± 0.91%; 1000ng/ml DKK-1 28.84 ± 2.19%). Earlier addition of 1000ng/ml DKK-1 did not result in a significant difference in X-gal positive cells (day, $F_{3,11} = 2.19$, p = n.s) (Figure 3.7; B); (untreated 24.89 ± 2.13%; from day 0 19.51 ± 1.86%; from day 2 19.30 ± 2.66%; from day 4 24.03 ± 0.97%). DKK-1 addition from day 4 did alter the expression of the Wnt signalling pathway component, axin, compared to untreated cultures (Figure 3.7; C) (concentration, $t_2 = 19.54$, p<0.01).



Figure 3.7. DKK-1 (10, 100, 1000 ng/ml) was added to Foxg1Z NEBs at day 4, and cells were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate for analysis at day 8 (A); addition of 1000ng/ml DKK-1 was initiated on either day 0, 2 or 4 and maintained through to analysis at day 8 (B). X-gal positive cells were counted and are represented as a percentage of total eosin stained cells (A and B). Foxg1Z NEBs were untreated or treated with 1000ng/ml DKK-1 from day 4 to day 8 and expression of the Wnt signalling pathway component axin was analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR (C). Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (**p<0.01).

The effect of DKK-1 dose response on X-gal positive cells in NEB cultures was initially analysed in the absence of FGF2. To determine if there was an additive effect of these two factors 100ng/ml DKK-1 was added in conjunction with 20ng/ml FGF2 at day 4 of neural induction and cells were plated for analysis at day 8 (Figure 3.8). Statistical analysis confirmed a highly significant difference between the percentage of X-gal positive cells yielded from untreated and treated cultures (treatment, $F_{3,12} = 114.60$, p<0.001). Cultures treated with 20ng/ml FGF2 and 100ng/ml DKK-1 (67.44 ±

Chapter 3

3.53%) expressed significantly more X-gal than untreated cultures $(24.89 \pm 2.13\%)$ and DKK-1 treated cultures $(23.45 \pm 0.91\%)$, but did not differ significantly from those cultures treated with FGF2 alone $(74.09 \pm 2.78\%)$.



Figure 3.8. Foxg1Z NEBs were maintained in neural induction medium with no additional factors (A), 20ng/ml FGF2 at day 4 (B), 100ng/ml DKK-1 at day 4 (C) or 20ng/ml FGF2 and 100ng/ml DKK-1 at day 4 (D), and were plated onto PLL-coated coverslips at day 8 for analysis with the X-gal assay (blue) and eosin counterstain (pink). Scale bar = 100 μ m. Cultures treated with FGF2 alone or both FGF2 and DKK-1 have significantly more X-gal positive cells than untreated cultures and there is no significant difference between untreated cultures and those treated with DKK-1 alone (E). Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (***p<0.001).

Further neural analysis of Foxg1Z NEBs

Neural specification of Foxg1Z NEBs following 8 days in neural induction medium was further characterised by analysis of the neural precursor markers nestin, and Otx2, with or without the addition of FGF2. Immunocytochemistry using antibodies against nestin and Otx2 was performed on day 8 NEBs that had been plated for 4 hours and fixed as precursors (Figure 3.9; A and B). Counts were performed and represented as a percentage of Hoechst positive cells (Figure 3.9; C and D). NEB cultures with no FGF2 treatment were $54.53 \pm 4.02\%$ nestin positive at day 8, which was not significantly different from FGF2 treated cultures which were $63.46 \pm 8.45\%$ nestin positive (concentration, $t_5 = 1.62$, p = n.s) (Figure 3.9; A and C). Analysis of Otx2 expression revealed no significant difference between untreated cultures (33.34 $\pm 6.79\%$) and FGF2 treated cultures (39.84 $\pm 9.52\%$) (concentration, $t_4 = 0.56$, p = n.s) (Figure 3.9; B and D).



Figure 3.9. Foxg1Z NEBs were maintained in neural induction medium either untreated or with addition of 20ng/ml FGF2 from day 4, harvested and dissociated at day 8 and plated onto PLL-coated coverslips for 4 hours before fixation. Cultures were immuno-labelled for nestin (red) (A and C) or Otx2 (green) (B and D) and counterstained with Hoechst nuclear stain (blue in A and B). Graphs represent immuno-positive cells as a percentage of total Hoechst cells counted. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 4 (C) and 3 (D) different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. Scale bars = $50\mu m$.

Neuronal differentiation of Foxg1Z NEBs

To look at the neuronal differentiation of ES cell-derived NEBs, Foxg1Z NEBs were harvested, dissociated, plated onto substrate and allowed to differentiate for 7 days in the presence of 2% B27 growth supplement and 1% FCS, and in the absence of any additional growth factors (such as FGF2). Foxg1Z NEBs continue to express β -galactosidase following differentiation (Figure 3.10; A and E; Figure 3.13; A) and are shown to co-express the neuronal marker β -III tubulin (Figure 3.10; B, D, F and H; Figure 3.13; A). There were significantly more β -galactosidase/ β -III-tubulin double-labelled cells in cultures with addition of 20ng/ml FGF2 to ADF+ at day 4 (34.42 ± 4.19%) compared with untreated cultures (17.49 ± 4.34%) (concentration, t₅ = 2.81, p<0.05).

Foxg1Z NEBs cultured for 8 days in ADF+ medium without the addition of FGF2 generated 31.66 \pm 2.33% β -III-tubulin immuno-positive neurons whilst those cultured in the presence of 20 ng/ml FGF2 yielded 37.80 \pm 1.29% β -III-tubulin immuno-positive neurons, following subsequent neuronal differentiation for 7 days, which was a significant difference (concentration, t₁₂ = 2.31, p<0.05) (Figure 3.13; B).

The presence of GFAP positive astrocytes (Figure 3.11; B, D, F and H) was very rare both without FGF2 addition (0.05 \pm 0.04%) and with FGF2 addition in ADF+ medium (0.14 \pm 0.13%), and the difference in the 2 conditions was not statistically significant (concentration, t₃ = 1.09, p = n.s) (Figure 3.13; B).

To assess the types of neurons generated following neuronal differentiation, cultures were further immuno-labelled for GABA (Figure 3.12;A-D) and DARPP-32 (Figure 3.12; E-H). Untreated neural induction cultures yielded $12.84 \pm 1.74\%$ GABA positive neurons, as a percentage of total Hoechst positive nuclei, which was not significantly different to $15.52 \pm 3.16\%$ yielded from FGF2 treated cultures, (concentration, $t_3 = 0.74$, p = n.s) (Figure 3.12; B). DARPP-32 was never detected in the cultures either with or without FGF2 addition to ADF+ medium (Figure 3.13; B).



Figure 3.10. Foxg1Z NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated at day 8 following neural induction in either untreated medium (A-D) or FGF2 treated medium (E-H) and were differentiated for 7 days in B27 and FCS with no additional growth factors. Cultures were triple-labelled for β -galactosidase (red) (A and E), β -III tubulin (green) (B and F) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue) (C and G). Photomicrograph D is a merged image of A, B and C; and photomicrograph H is a merged image of E, F and G. Scale bars = 100µm.



Figure 3.11. Foxg1Z NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated at day 8 following neural induction in either untreated medium (A-D) or FGF2 treated medium (E-H) and were differentiated for 7 days in B27 and FCS with no additional growth factors. Cultures were triple-labelled for β -III-tubulin (red) (A and E), GFAP (green) (B and F) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue) (C and G). Photomicrograph D is a merged image of A, B and C; and photomicrograph H is a merged image of E, F and G. Scale bars = 100µm.



Figure 3.12. Foxg1Z NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated at day 8 following neural induction with addition of FGF2 from day 4, and were plated for neuronal differentiation for 7 days in B27 and FCS with no additional growth factors. Cultures were triple-labelled for β -III-tubulin (red) (A), GABA (green) (B) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue) (C); or β -III-tubulin (green) (E), DARPP-32 (red) (F) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue) (G). Photomicrograph D is a merged image of A, B and C; and photomicrograph H is a merged image of E, F and G. Scale bars = 100 µm.



Figure 3.13. Foxg1Z NEBs were maintained in ADF+ neural induction medium with or without the addition of 20ng/ml FGF2 at day 4. On day 8 NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate and were allowed to differentiate for 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium. β -galactosidase and β -III-tubulin double-labelled cells are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst-positive nuclei (A). β -III-tubulin, GFAP, GABA and DARPP-32 immuno-positive cells were counted and are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst-positive nuclei and are represented as a percentage of total hoechst-positive cells were counted and are represented as a percentage of total hoechst-positive nuclei. Each bar on the graphs represent a mean of at least 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (*p<0.05).

3.5 Discussion

Expression of X-gal in Foxg1Z NEBs

Serum-free neural induction suspension culture of mouse ES cells results in generation of neural precursor cells (Wiles and Johansson, 1999; Ying et al., 2003; Bouhon et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2005). Over time in serum-free suspension culture there is an induction of neurogenicity, inluding upregulation of the neuroectodermal marker Sox1 (Bouhon et al., 2006; Watanabe et al., 2005) and the neural precursor marker nestin (Bouhon et al., 2005), with a decrease in ES cell markers such as Oct-3/4 (Bouhon et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2005; Bouhon et al., 2006).

The mouse ES cell line Foxg1Z enables analysis of expression of the early forebrain marker *Foxg1* via use of the *LacZ* reporter gene and an X-gal assay or antibodies against the enzyme β -galactosidase (Xuan et al., 1995). Foxg1Z ES cells cultured in the above conditions spontaneously form aggregates termed NEBs, and can be maintained in this state for a number of days without the addition of growth factors. When dissociated, plated onto substrate, fixed as precursors without differentiation, and stained with X-gal, blue cells can be visualised and counted as shown above. Foxg1Z positive cells increased over time in culture as expected, up to 25.91% at 8 days, which was a higher percentage than shown in a previous study (Watanabe et al., 2005). Feeder-dependent cultures maintained for 5 or 10 days resulted in less than 2% Foxg1 positive cells. This was increased to 11% when cultures were feeder-free and in suspension for the initial 5 days, and further increased to 15% when all 10 days were feeder-free and in suspension (Watanabe et al., 2005).

Different studies looking at neural induction protocols of mouse ES cells apply different protocols as outlined in Table 3.1, which indicates the need for caution when drawing comparisons. Differences in composition of neural induction culture medium include the use of 5% knock-out serum replacement (KSR) in the 'Watanabe' medium, which contains lipids, insulin and transferrin, along with other components (Price et al., 1998), compared with the additional supplementation of these 3 components to the ADF+ medium used in this study. KSR, unlike FCS, does not contain any undefined growth factors and has a stable composition. The concentration

of lipids in the 'Watanabe' medium is nearly a third lower than in ADF+ and the concentrations of insulin and transferrin are 28 and 187.5 times less, respectively, than supplemented in ADF+ medium. 'Bouhon' medium comprises insulin at half the concentration in ADF+ and transferrin is double that in ADF+. Insulin and transferrin are important for cell survival, with insulin in particular, showing specificity for survival of neural precursor cells (Okabe et al., 1996). The ADF+ serum-free suspension culture system used here appears to encourage induction of Foxg1 precursors more than other protocols.

		Watanabe (2005)	Bouhon (2005)	This study (ADF+)
Cell lines		46CSoxGFP	E14	Foxg1Z
		(gene targeting E14 cell line (129/Ola derived))	(129/Ola derived)	(C57Bl6/J derived)
Substrate for		Gelatin	Feeders (MEFs), then	Gelatin
ES cell culture			gelatin for 2 passages	
Medium	Base	GMEM	IMDM:F12 (1:1)	Advanced-DMEMF12
		5% KSR	BSA	
	Lipid		1 x lipid concentrate	1 x lipid concentrate
	Insulin	} from KSR	7μg/ml	14µg/ml
	Transferrin	,	150µg/ml	75µg/ml
	Other	Thioglycerol	Thioglycerol	β-mercaptoethanol
T 11 41 C		· 0 1		

Table 3.1. Comparison of medium components in neural induction protocols.

Discrepancies between protocols regarding effects of addition of factors on gene expression may be attributed to use of different cell lines, differences in culture media or different culture conditions. 'Baseline' *Foxg1* expression is variable between this study and Watanabe et al; not only were there differences in culture conditions, namely medium recipes, but also the cell lines employed were different. For this study the Foxg1Z line was used, while Watanabe used the 46CSoxGFP cell line (Ying et al., 2003; Watanabe et al., 2005). When working with mouse ES cell lines, and drawing comparisons between different studies, it is important to keep in mind the differences that may arise due to background strains of the mice used when cell lines were derived from the ICM. Different ES cell culture media may contain a different complement of factors which include signals that affect ES cell pluripotency and growth curves, and may have effects on subsequent ES cell differentiation. Different culture mediam recipes for differentiation of ES cells may contain varying levels of signalling factors. A consequence of this might be affects on 'baseline' gene expression and also the outcome of supplementing medium with additional factors of

Forebrain character of NEBs

interest, which may only influence neural induction under specific conditions. The use of feeder layers in maintenance of ES cells may also add to the differences in the presence of various signalling factors in the culture medium which in turn might impose modifications on the fate of cells.

Effect of FGF and DKK-1 in Foxg1Z neural induction culture

FGF8 is necessary for normal telencephalic development and *in vivo* studies have shown a relationship between expression of FGF8 and Foxg1, where loss of Foxg1 results in reduced FGF8 expression in the developing telencephalon (Martynoga et al., 2005). Neural plate explants incubated with FGF8-soaked beads were shown to extensively express Foxg1 in the area surrounding the beads compared with the PBS-soaked beads where no Foxg1 was expressed (Shimamura and Rubenstein, 1997). Loss-of-function studies with FGF8 mutant mice revealed that Foxg1 expression was reduced in the neural plate (9-10 somite stage) and also at the later gestational stage E9.0 (Storm et al., 2006).

Increasing concentrations of FGF8 added to Foxg1Z NEB cultures resulted in increased expression of *Foxg1*/X-gal positive cells after 8 days, with the highest yield following addition of 50ng/ml FGF8. A similar increase in *Foxg1*/X-gal positive cells was demonstrated with addition of FGF2, the synthetic equivalent of FGF8, and for subsequent studies FGF2 was used.

Increasing concentrations of FGF2 added to Foxg1Z NEB cultures increased the expression of *Foxg1*/X-gal positive cells after 8 days from 26% to 71%, which is consistent with previous studies that showed via semi-quantitative analysis, using RT-PCR, that treatment at day 4 with 20ng/ml FGF2 induced expression of Foxg1 at day 8 (Bouhon et al., 2006). Supplementing culture medium with 20 ng/ml FGF2 at earlier culture days did not yield higher expression of Foxg1 than when treated at day 4. Members of the FGF family elicit their effects via FGF receptors. FGFR1 expression is not observed in mouse ES cells but following initiation of neural induction it can be detected from day 2 with increasing expression through to day 8 (Bouhon et al., 2005). The absence of FGF receptors in early neural induction cultures might explain the lack of response to early exogenous FGF signals in culture, since the appropriate receptors are not yet detectable.

Treatment of mouse ES cells with the FGF inhibitor PD184352, which inhibits the MEK component of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade, was

shown to inhibit early neural differentiation (Gaulden and Reiter, 2008). Treatment of mouse ES cells with a different FGF inhibitor, SU5402, which inhibits tyrosine kinase activity of FGFR1, has been reported not to alter early neural differentiation (Gaulden and Reiter, 2008; Smukler et al., 2006). Together this suggests that MAPK activation may be important for ES cell neural induction, but via an FGFR1-independent mechanism. However other studies looking at inhibition of FGF signalling through FGFR1, using SU5402, contradict this finding and show a reduction in Sox1 positive neural precursor cells in both adherent and suspension cultures (Ying et al., 2003; Bouhon et al., 2005), which highlights discrepancies between culture systems and responses to inductive or inhibitive supplements. Factors other than FGFs that activate the MAPK cascade include insulin-like growth factors (IGF) (Pera et al., 2001). IGFs and insulin are members of a family of cytokines that are structurally and functionally related and IGF signals have been shown to be necessary for neural induction *in vivo* (Pera et al., 2001).

Addition of FGF2 to the ADF+ culture system did not significantly alter the expression of the neural precursor marker nestin or Otx2. Otx2 is not only expressed in the developing telencephalon, but also the diencephalon and mesencephalon (Boncinelli et al., 1993). Previous findings report that FGF2 increases nestin positive cells at day 8, when added at day 4, but it causes a decrease in Otx2 expression at day 8 (Bouhon et al., 2005). These differences might be attributable to differences in cell lines, culture medium and culture conditions, all of which are inconsistent between the study here and the Bouhon study (detailed in Table 3.1).

Analysis at day 8, following addition of FGF2 at day 4, revealed that there were fewer neural precursors, as determined by expression of nestin (63%), than Foxg1-expressing cells (74%). Nestin expression is restricted to the neural precursor population including those cells throughout the CNS which are pre-determined to generate neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. One explanation for the lower proportion of nestin-expressing cells than *Foxg1*-expressing cells is that some of the cells are beginning to differentiate further and therefore nestin is being switched off. Cells were only analysed at day 8 in this study and the peak expression of nestin might occur a few days prior to this. Although *Foxg1* is expressed in the forebrain progenitor cells, it is not restricted to the proliferating population and is found in postmitotic cells derived from the telencephalic neuroepithelium (Dou et al., 1999). *Foxg1*

expression has been shown in differentiating and mature neurons of the cortex (Ariani et al., 2008).

During mouse development Wnt signalling is evident from E6.5 in the posterior region of the embryo and in embryoid body development it is required for the establishment of the anterior-posterior axis (ten Berge et al., 2008). Inhibition of Wnt signalling within embryoid bodies promotes anterior expression and induces neuroectodermal differentiation (ten Berge et al., 2008). Here, addition of the Wnt inhibitor DKK-1 did exhibit an effect on the Wnt signalling pathway, although there was no effect on the expression of Foxg1 in the ADF+ neural induction system, both when added at day 4 at a range of concentrations, and when 1000ng/ml was added on different starting days and maintained through to day 8. This was contradictory to a previous study which showed a significant upregulation of Foxgl expression from 15% to 35% in the presence of 1000ng/ml DKK-1 between days 0 to 5 (Watanabe et al., 2005). In untreated neural induction cultures Wnt3a has been shown to be expressed from day 4 and its expression is maintained, albeit at a lower level, through to day 8 (Bouhon et al., 2005). The same cultures express DKK-1 at day 4 and day 6 at a similar intensity, but at day 8 expression is reduced dramatically (Bouhon et al., 2005). Although the presence of endogenous Wnt in neural induction cultures might implicate supplementation with Wnt inhibitors to allow for direction towards a neural lineage, the concomitant presence of endogenous DKK-1 in these cultures might be enough to inhibit alternative cell fates.

Neuronal differentiation of Foxg1Z NEBs

Allowing NEBs to adhere to substrate and differentiate for 7 days in the presence of B-27 growth supplement and FCS, and in the absence of exogenous growth factors such as FGF resulted in generation of β -III-tubulin positive neurons with very few astrocytes. Further analysis revealed that a proportion of the neurons were positive for GABA, which is the principal neurotransmitter of the striatal MSNs. The expression of β -III-tubulin and GABA is consistent with previous *in vitro* differentiation analysis at the same time points (Bouhon et al., 2006). Although there was expression of GABA, there was no expression of the MSN marker DARPP-32 at this stage.

DARPP-32 expression has not been reported from mouse ES cells following either *in vitro* or *in vivo* differentiation. However, transplantation of human ES cellderived neural precursors has produced DARPP-32 positive cells following short (4-6 weeks) and long-term (13-21 weeks) survival, but only when precursors were 'late' stage and not 'early' stage induced *in vitro* (Aubry et al., 2008). The day 8 precursor cells here are likely to be too immature in terms of their gene expression profile and are therefore not yet capable of generating the mature marker DARPP-32. Later stage precursors, and those that have undergone further patterning to specify their fate, would be more likely to generate DARPP-32.

Analysis at day 8, with FGF2 treatment from day 4, revealed that 74% of the population were expressing *Foxg1/LacZ*. Following 7 days under neuronal differentiation conditions, 34% of the forebrain population expressed the immature neuronal marker β -III-tubulin, and nearly 40% of the total population expressed β -III-tubulin. In neural induction of mouse ES cells, cells do not respond synchronously (Ying et al., 2003), and therefore it is likely that there are precursor cells as well as those that have begun to differentiate and those that are further differentiated. Due to the heterogeneity of the cell population at day 8, it is highly probable that there are cells of other lineages present, and of the neuronal linage, there are likely to be phenotypically different neurons characteristic of different regions of the CNS.

Conclusions

Results presented in this chapter demonstrate the use of mouse ES cells and reporter gene systems in neural induction assays. Forebrain specification of NEBs can be up-regulated by addition of FGF2 at a specific time point, but there was no effect on *Foxg1/LacZ* expression following addition of the Wnt inhibitor DKK-1 in the ADF+ culture system. Mature neurons can be yielded from these cultures following differentiation, but further specification of cells is required to generate the DARPP-32 phenotype.

Importantly, this chapter highlights some discrepancies between different culture systems employed and demonstrates the need for caution when interpreting and comparing results between the different systems. Previous work within this group has only analysed gene expression of neurally induced ES cells at relatively early time points (Bouhon et al., 2005). It has been reported that addition of FGF2 is necessary for continued culture beyond day 8 (Bouhon et al., 2005). Subsequent chapters will look at cultures beyond day 8, with analysis of later stage precursors.

Chapter 4

In vivo characterisation of NEBs (xenograft model)

4.1 Summary

Neural transplantation of mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors (NEBs) into excitotoxic lesion models of HD has shown that these cells have the ability to generate neurons in vivo. Furthermore, they have been shown to generate AChE and GABAergic neurons. However, to date DARPP-32 positive neurons generated from these cells in vivo has not been reported. Here, mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors generated from the Foxg1Z cell line were subjected to neural induction for 8 and 16 days, and were transplanted into the QA-lesioned rat striatum. The day 8 NEB grafts developed large cell masses and survival time was only two weeks posttransplantation. All animals in the day 16 NEB group had surviving grafts after six weeks post-transplantation. Day 16 NEB grafts appeared to be comprised of areas of both neural and non-neural tissue. Since use of the mouse specific markers, M2 and M6, was unsuccessful in our study, only those cells expressing Foxg1 and the LacZ reporter gene could be positively identified as donor cells. Analysis of these cells showed that grafted cells had generated neurons and glia, and further neuronal analysis showed differentiation of donor cells into calbindin and parvalbumin positive neurons, but not AChE or DARPP-32 positive neurons.

4.2 Introduction

Cell replacement strategies for neurodegenerative diseases such as HD offer great potential for the repair of damaged circuitry and replacement of the lost cells. Primary neural stem cells taken from the developing striatum at the appropriate developmental age have been shown to generate beneficial results in both rodent models and human patients (Watts et al., 1997; Bachoud-Levi et al., 2006). However, for clinical studies this source of tissue is in limited supply and as well as the ethical issues surrounding use and collection of the tissue, there are also difficulties with coordination of tissue collection, the amount required for transplantation and the logistics of the transplantation itself.

ES cells offer an alternative cell source for replacement because of their pluripotency and self-renewal characteristics. However, one caveat associated with the use of ES cells is their uncontrolled proliferation, with the continued presence of ES cells following differentiation increasing the potential for teratoma formation, which is clearly not acceptable for clinical transplantation.

Neural transplantation of ES cell-derived neural precursors into the QA lesioned-striatum model of HD has to date been limited, which is in part due to difficulties in generating the desired phenotype for repair in HD ie MSNs. Studies have reported generation of neuronal phenotypes, such as AChE and GABAergic neurons, following transplantation of mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors into the rat lesioned striatum (Dinsmore et al., 1996). Transplantation of pre-differentiated GABAergic neurons derived from an immortalised striatal neural cell line (ST14A) have been shown to maintain their phenotype and also elicit a beneficial effect on reducing the number of apomorphine rotations (Bosch et al., 2004).

Precursors derived from both human and non-human-primate ES cells have been shown to generate mature neurons expressing DARPP-32 following transplantation into the rat striatum (Aubry et al., 2008; Ferrari et al., 2006). Nonhuman primate ES cells subjected to sequential addition of SHH and FGF8 then BDNF and ascorbic acid were transplanted at a progenitor (pES) stage (day 28) and as differentiated (dES) neurons (day 42) into the striatum of 6-OHDA lesioned rats (Ferrari et al., 2006). The pES cells generated very large grafts with heterogeneous morphology whereas the dES grafts were significantly smaller and exhibited no

86

overgrowth. D-amphetamine-induced rotations at twelve weeks post-transplantation were improved in 50% of the pES group and 80% of the dES group, and interestingly there was no difference in numbers of TH positive cells within the grafts of the two groups, which also expressed DARPP-32 within TH-positive regions (Ferrari et al., 2006). Aubry et al (2008) employed N2 and BDNF followed by SHH and DKK-1 for neural induction of human ES cells and reported teratoma formation and no DARPP-32 expression when cells were transplanted at early culture time points (29 days *in vitro*). Later stage cells (59 days *in vitro*) resulted in no teratomas and expression of DARPP-32 positive neurons. However, following longer survival post-transplantation grafts showed overgrowth, as well as DARPP-32 positive neurons (Aubry et al., 2008).

A longitudinal transplant study of human ES cells neurally induced in the presence of bFGF and noggin, grafted into the non-lesioned striatum resulted in no overgrowth or teratoma formation (Nasonkin et al., 2009). At three months there was no DARPP-32 expression but by six months 30% of graft-derived cells were DARPP-32 positive. To date, differentiation of mouse ES cell-derived precursors into DARPP-32 positive neurons following transplantation has not been reported.

The previous chapter involved the characterization of Foxg1Z NEBs up to 8 days in a neural induction protocol. In this chapter Foxg1Z NEBs were maintained in culture in ADF+ for either 8 or 16 days and transplanted into the QA lesioned striatum model. Oct-3/4 expression has been reported in neurally induced mouse ES cells at day 8 (Bouhon et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2005), albeit at low levels, but due to its presence at this time point (also shown here; Figure 4.1), longer term cultures were analysed and two cell groups were taken forward; short term (day 8) and long term (day 16).

The original aims were to analyse the potential of these cells and characterise their phenotypic differentiation *in vivo* at six weeks post-transplantation, in particular looking for differentiation to striatal phenotypes. Due to adverse events the group that received the day 8 NEB grafts were sacrificed at two weeks post-transplantation. The group that received the day 16 NEB grafts did not exhibit signs of ill-health and survived the six week experimental period. Morphological analysis was carried out on both grafted groups, but more detailed analysis of specific cell phenotypes generated *in vivo* was only carried out on the day 16 NEB grafted group.

4.3 Experimental Procedures

Cell Culture and Immunocytochemistry

The mouse ES cell line Foxg1-lacZ was used in this study. Foxg1Z NEBs were derived from the Foxg1Z mouse ES cell line as described in Chapter 2. Briefly, ES cells were transferred from ES cell culture medium to ADF+ medium at a density of 50,000 cells per ml, medium was replaced every 2 days and FGF2 (20ng/ml) was added from day 4. Cells were plated onto PLL/laminin treated cover-slips at a density of 50,000 cells per 30µl drop on each cover-slip. Cells were fixed 2-4 hours after plating, on adhering to the substrate. Fluorescent immunocytochemistry was performed according to the protocol detailed in Chapter 2. Primary antibodies used were anti-Oct-3/4 (1:100), anti-Nestin (1:400) and anti-Pax6 (1:50).

Neural Transplantation

Adult female Sprague-dawley rats received a unilateral QA lesion of the right striatum. Two-three weeks after lesioning rats received transplants of Foxg1Z NEBs of either 8 days or 16 days following neural induction (n=9 for each group) into the lesioned striatum. Lesions and grafts were carried out as described in Chapter 2.

On the day of grafting, cells were harvested and dissociated following incubation with accutase, as detailed in Chapter 2. Cells were counted and resuspended at 250,000 cells per μ l and 2μ l cell suspension was grafted per animal. From the day prior to grafting, animals received immunosuppression in the form of daily intra-peritoneal injections of cyclosporin A (10mg/kg) for the duration of the experiment.

Histology and Immunohistochemistry

Animals were intended to survive for six weeks however the 'day 8 NEB' graft group were sacrificed at two weeks post-transplantation due to adverse events and as a requirement of our licensing protocols. The 'day 16 NEB' graft group were sacrificed at six weeks post-transplantation as originally planned. Animals were transcardially perfused and brains were taken for histological analysis. Brains were sectioned coronally on the freezing-stage microtome at 40µm. 1:12 series' were processed for Nissl staining using cresyl violet, histochemical staining for AChE, and

further 1:12 or 1:24 series' were processed for immunohistochemistry with anti-M2 (1:50), anti-M6 (1:50), anti- β -galactosidase (1:1000), anti-GFAP (1:2000), anti-NeuN (1:4000), anti-DCX (1:500), anti-DARPP-32 (1:10,000) (a gift from Paul Greengard), anti-FoxP1 (1:500), anti-calbindin (1:20,000) and anti-parvalbumin (1:4000).

The immunohistochemical staining protocol was the same for each antibody, as described in Chapter 2. For double-labelling, the anti- β -galactosidase was always processed first and visualised using DAB (brown), and then the second antibody was processed and visualised using the Vector SG kit (blue). The only exception to this was for the AChE stain, where the anti- β -galactosidase was processed first and visualised using the colour reaction for the AChE stain yields a brown product.

Lesion-only animals were generated at a later time-point for comparison of immunohistochemical stains.

Quantification

Cells expressing markers of interest were counted using a Leitz light microscope and stereology software. Graft volume was determined as described in Chapter 2. Statistical analyses were performed using two-sample t-tests and one-way ANOVA with Tukey-Kramer *post-hoc* comparisons when appropriate, using Minitab 15 software.

4.4 Results

In vitro characterisation of NEBs pre-transplantation

Expression of the ES cell marker Oct-3/4 in NEBs decreased over time in ADF+ neural induction culture (Figure 4.1). There was a highly significant difference between Oct-3/4 expression and day of neural induction culture (day, $F_{8,27} = 115.81$, p<0.001). The proportion of cells that expressed Oct-3/4 on day 0 of the neural induction protocol was 89.25 ± 0.26%; at day 4 the proportion was 8.43 ± 3.21% and at day 8 it was 2.25 ± 0.31%. The detection of 2% Oct-3/4 positive cells still present in the cultures at day 8 prompted a longer time-point for analysis. Oct-3/4 expression has 'switched-off' by day 16 in the neural induction culture, suggesting there are no longer ES cells present.



Figure 4.1. Foxg1Z NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate every two days following initiation of the neural induction protocol. Cultures were fixed after 4 hours and immuno-labelled for the undifferentiated ES cell marker Oct-3/4 (red) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue) (A and B). Oct-3/4 immuno-positive cells were counted and are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst stained cells (C). At day 8 few Oct-3/4 positive cells were present (A) and at day 16 there were no Oct-3/4 positive cells detected (B). Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. Significant *post-hoc* differences are indicated with brackets. (***p<0.001). Scale bars = 100 μ m.

Foxg1Z NEBs were analysed following 8 and 16 days in neural induction culture for the expression of nestin; a neural precursor marker and Pax6; a marker of the developing dorsal telencephalon. Cultures were dissociated, plated onto PLL/laminin substrate and fixed after 4 hours. There was a highly significant difference in nestin expression between NEB cultures at day 8 ($63.46 \pm 8.45\%$) (mean \pm SEM) and at day 16 ($18.07 \pm 2.33\%$) (day, t₄ = 8.67, p<0.001) (Figure 4.2; A, B and C). Pax6 expression did not differ significantly from day 8 ($42.89 \pm 2.87\%$) to day 16 ($45.16 \pm 5.18\%$) (day, t₅ = 0.41, p = n.s) (Figure 4.2; D, E and F).

Following *in vitro* differentiation of day 8 and day 16 NEBs for 7 days in the presence of FCS and B-27, incubation with X-gal revealed Foxg1-positive cells. Day 8 differentiated cells (Figure 4.3; A) exhibited large clusters of cells including those with neuronal appearance. Within these cultures there was also the presence of large clusters of X-gal-negative cells which were not neural in appearance. Day 16 differentiated cultures (Figure 4.3; B) exhibited a more even distribution of Foxg1-positive cells interspersed with Foxg1-negative cells, and appeared to have less heterogeneous morphology.



Figure 4.2. Foxg1Z NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate at day 8 (A and D) and day 16 (B and E) of neural induction. Cultures were fixed after 4 hours and immuno-labelled with nestin (red) (A - C) or Pax6 (red) (D - F) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue). Nestin and Pax6 immuno-positive cells were counted and are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst cells (C and F). The neural precursor marker nestin is more highly expressed in day 8 NEBs compared with day 16 NEBs, and there is no difference in expression of the developing forebrain marker, Pax6 between day 8 and day 16 NEB cultures. Each bar on the graphs represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (***p<0.001). Scale bar = $50\mu m$.



Figure 4.3. Foxg1Z NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated onto substrate at day 8 and day 16, and allowed to differentiate for 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium. Cultures were incubated with X-gal staining solution (blue) and counterstained with eosin (pink). X-gal staining of day 8 cultures revealed clusters of blue cells including those showing neuronal morphology (red arrow). Within these cultures there were also large clusters of X-gal-negative cells (A). Day 16 cultures revealed a more even distribution of X-gal-positive cells throughout the platedown (B). Scale bars = $100\mu m$.

Day 8 NEB graft morphology

Analysis of day 8 NEB grafts at six weeks post-transplantation was not possible due to the observation of ill-health and this group was sacrificed at two weeks post-transplantation. Nissl-stained sections (Figure 4.4; A, B and C) reveal that these grafts exhibited what appeared to be uncontrolled proliferation, resulting in overgrowth and a cell mass with well-defined borders, which filled the striatum and pushed into the cortex. All animals within this group had similar looking grafts with 'swirling' patches of tissue throughout, some of which appeared to be highly organised and were predominantly of non-neural cell composition.

The mouse neuron and mouse glia specific markers, M2 and M6 respectively, that were intended for use in order to identify grafted cells, proved non-specific and no graft-derived cells were labelled. The *LacZ* reporter incorporated in the Foxg1Z cell line enabled the use of the β -galactosidase antibody to detect Foxg1-positive-graft-derived cells (Figure 4.4; D and E). Within these 'teratoma-like' grafts there are patches of dense β -galactosidase immunoreactivity alongside regions with no immuno-positive cells. Graft volume was estimated using cell counts of β -galactosidase positive cells and the mean graft volume for the day 8 NEB grafts was 336.32 ± 129.16 mm³ (mean \pm SEM). There was huge variability in graft size between animals with the range of volumes from 19.24 to 962.32mm³.



Figure 4.4. A representative 1:12 series, anterior to posterior, showing morphology of day 8 NEB grafts by Nissl staining with cresyl violet, at two weeks post-transplantation (A). Scale bar = 500μ m. Photomicrographs B and C show higher power images of the Nissl stain. Scale bars = 100μ m. The cell mass does not integrate into the host brain, but appears to grow as an isolated mass, with 'swirling' patches throughout and well-defined borders. Photomicrographs D and E show staining for β -galactosidase, which reveals β -galactosidase-dense regions alongside regions with no immunopositive cells. Scale bars = 500μ m.

Day 16 NEB grafts morphology

Surviving grafts were seen in all animals that were transplanted with day 16 NEBs, as revealed by Nissl-stained sections (Figure 4.5; A, B and C) and β -galactosidase immunoreactivity (Figure 4.5; D and E). There are cell-dense regions present throughout the graft which are interspersed with less dense regions with a more even distribution of β -galactosidase immunopositive cells throughout the graft and fewer 'less-dense' regions, when compared with the day 8 NEB grafts. The borders of the day 16 NEB grafts are less well-defined than those of the day 8 NEB grafts (Figure 4.4; A and C, and Figure 4.5; A and B), which indicates a degree of integration of the day 16 NEB grafts into the host brain, rather than the distinctly isolated cell mass of the day 8 NEB grafts. Estimating the graft volume using the number of β -galactosidase positive cells revealed a range from 13.14 to 56.5 mm³ with a mean value of 21.87 ± 4.63mm³. Day 16 NEB grafts exhibited a less heterogeneous appearance than day 8 NEB grafts. They had less non-neural tissue and

their appearance was more similar to grafts observed with primary striatal donor tissue, although they were larger in volume.



Figure 4.5. A representative 1:12 series of Nissl staining using cresyl violet, showing graft morphology of day 16 NEB grafts at six weeks post-transplantation (A). Scale bar = 500μ m. Photomicrographs B and C show higher power Nissl-stained images which reveal an even distribution of cells throughout the graft. Photomicrographs D and E show β -galactosidase immuno-reactivity within the graft, showing even distribution of β -galactosidase immunopositive cells. Scale bars = 100μ m.

Neural analysis of Day 16 NEB grafts

Grafts were analysed for the expression of the neuronal markers DCX, which labels immature neurons, NeuN, which labels the nuclei of more mature neurons and also the glial marker GFAP. Expression of the striatal markers DARPP-32, calbindin and parvalbumin was also assessed. Due to the lack of specificity when staining with both M2 and M6 the only graft-derived cells which can be identified with confidence and analysed for expression of markers of interest are those that are immunopositive for β -galactosidase.

 β -galactosidase-positive cells were seen to double label with NeuN throughout the graft (Figure 4.6; A and B) in all animals, and there was a proportion of NeuN immunopositive cells that did not double label. Between animals the numbers of NeuN positive cells as a percentage of β -galactosidase positive cells ranged from 10 – 25% with a mean of 16.95 ± 1.44% (mean ± SEM) (Figure 4.7). DCX positive cells were identified within the graft and were seen to double label with β -galactosidase (Figure 4.6; C and D). There was variability in number of co-labelled cells between



Chapter 4

animals, ranging from 4-16%, with a mean of $8.24 \pm 1.29\%$ (Figure 4.7). All grafts exhibited some degree of immunoreactivity to the astrocyte marker GFAP with double labelling with β -galactosidase (Figure 4.6; E and F), within a range of 3 - 12%(7.38 $\pm 1.12\%$) (Figure 4.7) across the group, but not all GFAP positive cells within the graft area were positive for β -galactosidase.

NeuN



GFAP



Figure 4.6. NeuN (blue)/ β -galactosidase (brown) staining reveals NeuN positive cells within the graft seen to double label with the β -galactosidase graft-derived cells, as shown with the arrow (A and B). DCX (blue)/ β -galactosidase (brown) staining shows some expression of DCX co-expressed with β -galactosidase (shown with the arrow) (C and D). GFAP (blue)/ β galactosidase (brown) staining shows double-labelling of the astrocyte marker with grafted cells, within the graft area (shown with the arrow) (E and F). Scale bars = 50µm.



Figure 4.7. The percentage of β -galactosidase-positive cells expressing the neuronal markers NeuN, DCX, calbindin and parvalbumin, and the glial marker GFAP, in day 16 NEB grafts at six weeks post-transplantation. Error bars represent SEM.

Analysis of striatal markers within the grafts

There was no DARPP-32 immunoreactivity seen within the graft area, very few immuno-positive cells were seen at the periphery of the graft and there was no colocalisation with β -galactosidase (Figure 4.8; A and B). Sections stained for FoxP1 showed some immuno-reactive cells at the graft periphery and within the graft area itself, but none of these cells were seen to double label with β -galactosidase (Figure 4.8; D and E). Expression of both DARPP-32 and FoxP1 were seen at the periphery of the lesion (Figure 4.8; C and F).

Other striatal neuronal markers assessed were calbindin and parvalbumin. Few calbindin positive cells were seen within the grafts and there was a degree of double-labelling with β -galactosidase (Figure 4.8; G and H) although this was not the case with all animals. The situation was similar when sections were stained with parvalbumin, where few immunopositive cells were seen to double label with β -galactosidase (Figure 4.8; J and K) but this was not evident in all animals. The range for co-localisation of β -galactosidase with calbindin was 0-5% with a mean of 1.62 \pm 0.77%, and with parvalbumin the range was 0-6%, with a mean value of 2.26 \pm 0.76% (Figure 4.7). Calbindin expression was seen at the periphery of the lesion (Figure 4.8; I) and a few parvalbumin positive cells could be seen within the lesion, but they were very scarce (Figure 4.8; L).


Figure 4.8. Striatal markers analysed within day 16 NEB grafts at six weeks posttransplantation. Sections were stained for DARPP-32 (A-C), FoxP1 (D-F), calbindin (G-I) and parvalbumin (J-L). Photomicrographs in column 3 are sections from lesion-only brains (C, F, I and L). DARPP-32 immuno-reactive cells (blue) were observed at the periphery of the graft area as shown with the arrow in B. No β -galactosidase (brown) positive cells were seen to double label with DARPP-32 (A and B). FoxP1 positive cells (blue) were also seen at the edge of the graft area (arrow in D), and again there was no co-expression of FoxP1 with the graft-derived β -galactosidase (brown) (C and D). Calbindin staining revealed some calbindinpositive cells (blue) within the graft area, and some of these cells were seen to double label with β -galactosidase (brown) (E and F). Parvalbumin staining showed a small proportion of the β -galactosidase-graft-derived cells double-labelling (G and H). Scale bars = 50µm.

AChE identifies the characteristic patch-matrix structure of the striatum, outside the grafted area however, there is no evidence of the patch-matrix within the graft, since the AChE histochemical staining revealed no double-labelling with β -galactosidase positive cells (Figure 4.9).

AChE



Figure 4.9. Photomicrographs of a representative day 16 NEB graft at various magnifications following AChE hisotchemical staining. β -galactosidase (blue) and AChE (brown) show no co-localisation. The AChE identifies the patch-matrix structure of the striatum outside the grafted area however there is no evidence of the patch-matrix within the graft. Scale bars = $50\mu m$.

4.5 Discussion

In vitro expression of precursors pre-transplantation

Oct-3/4 is a member of class V of the POU (Pit, Oct, Unc)-domain transcription factor family and is expressed by pluripotent cells (Niwa et al., 2000). It is expressed in ES cell lines derived form the ICM when the cells are in an undifferentiated state and when ES cells begin to differentiate the expression of Oct-3/4 rapidly down regulates. When ES cells are subjected to our neural induction protocol (ADF+), expression of Oct-3/4 is seen to decrease over time from 89.25% at day 0 to 2.25% at day 8. Bouhon et al report that Oct-3/4 expression at day 4 is lower

in CDM culture than when cells are cultured in 10% serum (Bouhon et al., 2006). After 8 days in CDM with and without addition of FGF2 at day 4, RT-PCR revealed a faint band representing Oct-3/4 expression relative to Gapdh (Bouhon et al., 2005) and cell counts following immunocytochemistry revealed 2.43% cells still expressing Oct-3/4 at day 8 (Bouhon et al., 2006). Oct-3/4 expression in cultures in this study was analysed using fluorescent immunocytochemistry with the Oct-3/4 antibody and is consistent with the evidence of Oct-3/4 positive cells in cultures at day 8, albeit a low proportion of cells. The few cells that still express Oct-3/4 are an issue that needs to be addressed before cells after this short period in CDM culture can be used for transplantation. After 16 days in ADF+ culture Oct-3/4 expression is shown to have 'switched off'.

Expression of nestin following neural induction in ADF+ significantly decreased from day 8 to day 16. This is consistent with a report that showed nestin expression in neurally induced ES cells decreases over time in culture from day 0 to day 8, with a further decrease by day 12 (Bouhon et al., 2005). Analysis of nestin-positive cells present in neural induction culture prior to transplantation revealed that the lower the proportion of nestin-positive cells, the lower the risk of teratoma development (Dihne et al., 2006). Addition of FGF2 to CDM cultures has been shown to maintain the proportion of nestin-positive cells over time, up to day 8, when compared with CDM alone and the same study also reported that NEBs older than day 8 depend on exogenous FGF2 (Bouhon et al., 2005). Pax6 expression, a marker of dorsal telencephalic cells, was not significantly different between day 8 and day 16 cultures. Bouhon et al., (2005) reported an increase in Pax6 expression between day 4 and day 8 in CDM, but expression beyond day 8 was not analysed.

Day 8 NEB graft survival and morphology

During post-mortem analysis there is a need for detection of transplanted cells in order to distinguish between graft-derived and host-derived phenotypes generated following implantation, subsequent survival time and *in vivo* differentiation. When grafting cells of mouse origin into the host rat brain this identification can prove difficult since there are very few mouse specific markers available. M2 and M6 markers which are reported to specifically label mouse neurons and mouse astrocytes respectively, were initially used in our study, but proved unreliable and unsuccessful when tested using our current protocols. The Foxg1Z ES cell line used in this study enables the detection of cells expressing *LacZ* and therefore *Foxg1*, by using antibodies against the enzyme β -galactosidase. Only those cells immunopositive for β -galactosidase can be positively identified as donor cells, and thus, due to lack of any other reliable marker, only these cells were further characterised. It is therefore not always straight forward to draw conclusions regarding whether or not a single-labelled cell is graft or host-derived.

The number of β -galactosidase immuno-positive cells in the day 8 NEB grafts varied greatly between animals. Histological analysis showed that all animals in the group exhibited grafts with massive overgrowth, as shown in figure 4.4, and due to signs of ill-health observed in the animals, the group was sacrificed at the early time point of two weeks. The difference in graft survival time between the two graft groups, and the fact that the day 8 NEB grafts suffered the uncontrolled proliferation and generation of 'teratoma-like' masses, make it difficult to draw comparisons between them.

The potential of ES cells to develop teratomas following transplantation is one major down-fall in their consideration as an alternative cell source for clinical applications. The appearance of non-neural-like regions of cells within the day 8 NEB grafts in this study, and the overgrowth observed indicates generation of teratomas, which can be recognised by the presence of a range of differentiated tissue types, representative of the three germ layers (Przyborski, 2005). Mouse ES cell-derived EBs implanted into the embryonic rat brain and left to survive until 2 weeks after birth have been shown to migrate to various brain regions and generate neural cell types (Brustle et al., 1997). Benninger et al (2000) generated EBs from ES cells using neurobasal medium supplemented with B27 and following 8 days in these culture conditions the cells were grafted into the adult mouse striatum where graft-derived cells differentiated into neurons, glia and oligodendrocytes (Benninger et al., 2000). Furthermore, donor cells have shown some degree of expression of region-specific markers such as Foxg1, Dlx and Pax6 (Wernig et al., 2004). However along with these encouraging observations for the potential of these cells to develop into desired phenotypes, other findings, within the same host brains, include undifferentiated ES cells, non-neural tissue clusters (Brustle et al., 1997), including epithelium, muscle and cartilage (Benninger et al., 2000), and teratomas (Wernig et al., 2004).

Day 16 NEB graft survival and morphology

At six weeks post-transplantation, during which time daily immunosuppression was administered, all animals receiving day 16 NEB grafts had what appeared to be healthy, surviving grafts. The Nissl staining showed that these grafts did not cause distortion of the brain and they did not show signs of over-growth. There was an indication though that the grafts comprised heterogeneous cell types of both neural and non-neural derivation. However, this finding is not remarkable since non-neural differentiation has previously been reported following neural transplantation, as outlined earlier (Brustle et al., 1997; Benninger et al., 2000; Wernig et al., 2004).

Graft volume was variable within the day 16 NEB graft group and looked comparable to graft sizes from a previous study where mouse ES cell-derived precursors were grafted into the adult rat QA lesioned striatum (Dinsmore et al., 1996), although this study reported no cell numbers or graft volumes. Primary rat striatal tissue grafted into the rat lesioned striatum (450,000 - 500,000 cells grafted) yielded grafts with a range of volumes that are around 20 times smaller than that reported in this chapter, and interestingly, MGE-derived grafts were smaller than LGE-derived grafts (Pakzaban et al., 1993; Olsson et al., 1995).

Phenotype of Foxg1Z cells in day 16 NEB grafts

Due to the problem of reliably identifying all donor cells, further graft analysis considers those cells that are β -galactosidase positive. Donor cells were shown to generate immature and more mature neurons, shown by co-expression of β galactosidase with the markers DCX and NeuN, respectively, and also glial cells, shown by co-expression with GFAP. Analysis of striatum-specific neurons revealed expression of donor-derived calbindin and parvalbumin, but neither DARPP-32 nor AChE. Co-expression of β -galactosidase and FoxP1 was not observed indicating the absence of graft-derived striatal precursor cells.

The 28 kD calcium-binding protein calbindin is expressed in projection neurons originating in the striatal matrix compartment. The presence of calbindin immunopositive cells within the day 16 NEB grafts indicates striatonigral projection neurons characteristic of the matrix compartment of the striatum (Gerfen, 1992). Parvalbumin immunoreactivity is evidence of striatal medium aspiny neurons and interneurons within the graft. There are only a handful of reports on the survival and phenotype of mouse ES cell-derived precursors transplanted into the QA lesioned striatum. Dinsmore et al (1996) transplanted mouse ES cell-derived precursors that were grown as free-floating spheres with the addition of RA. Following six weeks *in vivo*, they found neurons within the graft area that were positive for neuron-specific enolase (NSE), neuron-specific tubulin, GABA and AChE (Dinsmore et al., 1996).

Bosch et al (2004) used the immortalised striatal neural stem cell line, ST14A and following sequential treatment with RA and KCl, and pre-differentiation to a GABAergic phenotype, cells were transplanted into the lesioned rat striatum. They observed that three days post-transplantation cells maintained their GABAergic phenotype, and at both one and five weeks post-transplantation apomorphine-induced rotations were reduced in grafted animals compared with non-grafted controls, suggesting a degree of benefit from GABAergic pre-differentiated neurons transplanted into QA-lesioned rats (Bosch et al., 2004).

Although there have been no reports on the generation of DARPP-32 positive neurons following transplantation of mouse ES cell-derived precursors, this has been shown for human NEBs (Aubry et al., 2008; Nasonkin et al., 2009). Transplantation of neurally induced human ES cell-derived precursors involving long-term addition of BDNF, Shh and Dkk-1, gave rise to grafts containing DARPP-32 and calbindin positive cells, following six weeks *in vivo* (Aubry et al., 2008). Nasonkin et al (2009) cultured human ES cells in FGF2 and noggin for four weeks and then transplanted into the unlesioned rat striatum. At three months post-transplantation there was no graft-derived DARPP-32 but at six months 30% of grafted cells were DARPP-32 positive (Nasonkin et al., 2009).

The absence of DARPP-32 within the grafts in our study might be because the cells were not exposed to all the necessary differential cues while in culture prior to transplantation, and also the *in vivo* maturation period might not have been long enough to encourage induction of more mature neuronal phenotypes such as DARPP-32.

Conclusions

Work presented in this chapter supports the evidence that ES cells have the potential to be beneficial for neural transplantation. It is clear however that further controlled directed differentiation of these cells is required in order to remove unwanted cell populations and achieve the desired striatal progenitor population. Analysis of the day 16 NEB grafts reveals that when transplanted these cells have the ability to generate neurons, a low proportion of which exhibit striatal markers. The presence of striatal neurons such as calbindin and parvalbumin is an encouraging result and longer term *in vivo* differentiation of these cells might generate increasing numbers of striatal-like cells including DARPP-32 expressing neurons.

Cells originating from the developing striatum that are transplanted for cell replacement in HD, have been exposed to the necessary complement of factors and cues to steer them towards the desired phenotype. Even these cells, when grafted into lesion models, do not appear to generate all the cell types in the necessary proportions to achieve the desired functional recovery. It is ambitious to suppose that *ex-vivo* derived NEBs, with initial differentiation *in vitro* and subsequent maturation *in vivo* in the adult striatum, will be sufficiently induced to generate the required cell identities, and it is understandable therefore that a complex of factors will need to be added to NEBs in order to generate LGE-like progenitor cells.

Ventral telencephalon-like precursors

Chapter 5

Generation of ventral telencephalon-like

precursors

5.1 Summary

NEBs cultured under standard neuralising conditions without attempting directed differentiation showed some evidence, in Chapter 4, of differentiation typical of striatal neuronal markers. Others have reported similar cells in these conditions to express gene markers of the developing telencephalon, and more specifically markers which are characteristic of specific dorso-ventral regions of the telencephalon. Here, analysis of such markers in NEBs at day 8 and day 16 following standard neural induction culture, using semi-quantitative RT-PCR, showed that expression levels of all markers were lower than their comparative levels in the cells of the dorsal or ventral telencephalon. Addition of a range of concentrations of the SHH agonist purmorphamine resulted in reduced expression of dorsal markers Pax6 and Ngn2, and low concentrations (0.5µM) resulted in an increase in ventral markers Nkx2.1 and Dlx2. Analysis of SHH-pathway components revealed that expression of SHH and Patched was higher in NEBs at both day 8 and day 16 than expression in the E14 mouse ventral telencephalon. Treatment of NEBs with various concentrations of the SHH antagonist cyclopamine did not significantly alter expression of dorsal markers, but caused a decrease in expression of ventral markers Nkx2.1, Dlx2 and Gsx2. Interestingly, Mash1 expression was not changed.

Fluorescent immunocytochemistry indicated that the dorsal marker Pax6 was reduced with purmorphamine treatment and increased with cyclopamine treatment, at both day 8 and day 16. The MGE marker Nkx2.1 was increased at day 8 with purmorphamine and decreased with cyclopamine, and at day 16 this response was more substantial. *Mash1* expression was reduced by addition of purmorphamine at day 8 and day 16, and was shown to increase with cyclopamine treatment at both days.

In summary, although gene expression changes in NEBs were demonstrated in response to purmorphamine and cyclopamine, this was not consistent for all the dorso-ventral genes analysed and no conclusive patterns were identified.

5.2 Introduction

The developing telencephalon expresses markers that are characteristic of distinct regions of origin and are responsible for the subsequent generation of mature phenotypes present in the adult forebrain. The dorsal-most region of the telencephalon gives rise to the cortex, whilst the ventral-most region is the origin of cells that go on to populate the striatum, cortex, GP and olfactory bulb. It is the LGE of the ventral portion that is predominantly the origin of DARPP-32-positive MSNs.

Mouse NEBs cultured in serum-free suspension medium have been reported to express genetic markers of the developing telencephalon, and in addition, markers typical of specific regions along the dorsal-ventral axis (Bouhon et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2005; Gaspard et al., 2008). Supplementation of neural induction cultures with factors known to be important for development of the neural tube, in particular patterning of cells, has proved fruitful in generating such precursors (see section 1.6 Introduction).

SHH is a morphogen released from the prechordal plate, which underlies the telencephalon (Rubenstein et al., 1998) and it acts in a concentration-dependent gradient within the developing neural tube (Jessell, 2000). Addition of a range of doses of SHH (3-300nM) to serum-free suspension cultures of mouse ES cells decreased expression of the dorsal telencephalon markers *Pax6* and *Emx1*, whilst increasing expression of the ventral telencephalon markers *Gsx2* and *Nkx2.1* within the Foxg1 population, which was not significantly changed (Watanabe et al., 2005). Treatment of neural induction cultures of mouse ES cells with the SHH antagonist cyclopamine has been reported to increase expression of the ventral telencephalon markers *Pax6*, *Emx1* and *Emx2*, and decrease expression of the ventral telencephalon markers *Gsx2* and *Nkx2.1* (Gaspard et al., 2008).

A sonic hedgehog agonist, purmorphamine, was discovered by Wu et al, (2002), who screened a 'heterocycle combinatorial library' for small molecules with osteogensis-inducing activity. Purmorphamine showed significant activity in the alkaline phosphatase (ALP) enzymatic assay, which is an osteoblast specific gene highly expressed during differentiation (Wu et al., 2002). Wu et al (2004) investigated how purmorphamine induced bone differentiation and found that the same genes that are induced by Hedgehog are also upregulated by purmorphamine and, when Hedgehog signalling was blocked, the effect of purmorphamine disappeared (Wu et al., 2004). More recently, it has been shown that purmorphamine directly targets smoothened in the SHH signalling pathway and has opposing activity to smoothened inhibitors (Sinha and Chen, 2006; Briscoe, 2006).

Following the generation of optimal numbers of forebrain precursors from mouse ES cells in neural induction culture with the addition of 20ng/ml FGF2 at day 4, as demonstrated in Chapter 3, the next step was to further specify the forebrain precursors to enrich for ventral telencephalon-like precursors. This chapter analysed gene expression of NEBs relative to expression in corresponding regions of the developing mouse brain at gestational age E14. The SHH agonist purmorphamine was added to cultures at day 4 at various concentrations in order to determine if there was a dose-response effect on NEBs with analysis at day 8 and at day 16, and markers indicating dorso-ventral patterning in the developing telencephalon were analysed. Upon further analysis, endogenous SHH levels were found to be higher than anticipated and subsequently cultures were treated with the SHH antagonist cyclopamine and analysed for dorso-ventral specification.

Analysis of purmorphamine and cyclopamine treatments revealed changes in expression of both dorsal and ventral markers, and some patterns of expression were observed. However, this was not entirely consistent across all the markers analysed and there was no conclusive pattern regarding effects on dorso-ventral patterning. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR and fluorescent immunocytochemistry analysis were carried out on untreated and treated NEBs, looking at markers indicative of specification along the dorso-ventral telencephalic axis, comparing expression with that in the developing telencephalon.

5.3 Experimental Procedures

Cell Culture

The mouse ES cell line Foxg1-lacZ was used in this study. NEBs were derived from the Foxg1Z mouse ES cell line as described in Chapter 2. Briefly, ES cells were transferred from ES cell culture medium to CDM (ADF+ medium) at a density of 50,000 cells per ml, medium was replaced every 2 days and FGF2 (20ng/ml) was added from day 4.

For analysis of effects of the SHH agonist purmorphamine, the range of concentrations 0.5, 1, 2 and $5\mu M$ was used, and was added from day 4.

For analysis of effects of the SHH antagonist cyclopamine, the range of concentrations 0.1, 0.5, 1 and $2\mu M$ was used, and was added from day 4.

Dissection of mouse forebrain regions

Control samples for gene expression analysis were taken from the E14 mouse forebrain. Cortex, WGE, LGE and MGE were dissected from E14 mouse embryos as described in Chapter 2. Each region was dissected, washed and finely chopped before RNA extraction for gene expression analysis. Tissue from the same regions was also enzymatically dissociated and plated down onto substrate for immunocytochemistry (as described in Chapter 2).

Gene expression analysis

NEBs were analysed at days 8 and 16. RNA was extracted for subsequent cDNA synthesis and QPCR analysis was then carried out using the SYBR Green assay, as detailed in Chapter 2.

Primer pairs used were β -actin, Pax6, Ngn2, Emx2, Nkx2.1, Dlx2, Mash1, Gsx2, Shh, Gli3 and Patched1 (see Appendix 4 for sequences). Opticon Monitor 3 software was used and the differential gene expression of different samples was measured relative to the expression of β -actin (as described in Chapter 2).

Immunocytochemistry

NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin treated coverslips at a density of 50,000 cells per 30μ l drop on each cover-slip, as described in Chapter 2. Cells were fixed 2-4 hours after plating on adhering to the substrate. Fluorescent immunocytochemistry was performed according to the protocol detailed in Chapter 2. Primary antibodies used were anti-Pax6 (1:50), anti-Nkx2.1 (1:200) and anti-Mash1 (1:200).

Microscopy and Statistical Analysis

Cells were visualised under UV fluorescence using a Leitz microscope. Hoechst positive nuclei were detected and cells immuno-labelled with the marker of interest were counted, as described in Chapter 2. Images were processed using Optronics MagnaFire Software and Adobe Photoshop.

Statistical analyses were carried out using Minitab 15 statistical software. Oneway ANOVA with Tukey-Kramer *post-hoc* comparisons when appropriate were performed.

5.4 Results

Dorsal-ventral telencephalic gene expression in NEBs

NEBs were analysed for gene expression following 8 and 16 days of the ADF+ neural induction protocol, using semi-quantitative RT-PCR. Expression of the dorsal telencephalon markers *Pax6*, *Ngn2* and *Emx2* in ES cell-derived NEBs were analysed relative to developing mouse cortex at E14 (Figure 5.1). *Pax6* expression in NEBs was significantly different from that in the E14 mouse cortex ($F_{2,9} = 17.25$, p<0.01) (Figure 5.1; A). *Post-hoc* analysis confirmed that expression at day 8 (0.27 ± 0.05) was significantly lower than cortical expression, but at day 16 (0.63 ± 0.18) there was no statistical significance. There was a highly significant difference in *Ngn2* expression between E14 cortex and NEBs ($F_{2,9} = 251.68$, p<0.001) (Figure 5.1; B), with NEB cultures at day 8 (0.08 ± 0.03) having significantly lower expression than the cortex. Expression of *Ngn2* at day 16 (0.39 ± 0.05) was not significantly different from E14 cortex, and there was no significant difference between day 8 and day 16. *Emx2* expression revealed a significant difference between NEBs and cortex ($F_{2,9} = 9.92$, p<0.05) (Figure 5.1; C); expression was statistically significant between cortex and NEB cultures at day 8 (0.42 ± 0.06), but not at day 16 (0.59 ± 0.16).

The ventral telencephalon can be subdivided, and for the purpose of this study we have used the MGE and LGE divisions. In the developing telencephalon, *Nkx2.1* expression is restricted to the MGE and is a specific marker of this region. There was a significant difference in expression of *Nkx2.1* between that in mouse E14 MGE and day 8 NEBs (0.12 ± 0.05), but not day 16 NEBs (0.37 ± 0.17) ($F_{2,9} = 7.99$, p<0.05) (Figure 5.2; A).

Markers of the LGE include Dlx2, Mash1 and Gsx2, and although their expression is not exclusive to the LGE (as Nkx2.1 expression is to the MGE) they are widely used as markers for this region, but caution is necessary when attempting to draw definitive conclusions. Dlx2 expression (Figure 5.2; B) was significantly lower than E14 LGE at both day 8 (0.01 ± 0.00) and day 16 (0.22 ± 0.13), and there was also a significant difference in expression between day 8 and day 16 NEBs, with greater expression at day 16 ($F_{2,9}$ =42.36, p<0.001). Expression of Mash1 (Figure 5.2; C) was significantly lower than LGE at day 8 (0.10 ± 0.03), but not at day 16 (0.49 ± 0.11); also *Mash1* expression at day 16 was significantly higher than that at day 8 ($F_{2,9}$ = 17.45, p<0.01). *Gsx2* expression (Figure 5.2; D) revealed significantly lower expression than LGE at both day 8 (0.04 ± 0.01) and day 16 (0.17 ± 0.15) ($F_{2,9}$ = 22.08, p<0.01).



Figure 5.1. Expression of dorsal markers Paxb (A), Ngn2 (B) and Emx2 (C) was analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from E14 mouse cortex and NEBs harvested at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. The broken line crossing the y-axis at 1 represents relative expression in the E14 mouse cortex. Each bar on the graphs represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (*<p0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001).



Figure 5.2. Expression of ventral markers Nkx2.1 (A), Dlx2 (B), Mash1 (C) and Gsx2 (D) was analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from E14 mouse MGE, LGE and NEBs harvested at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. Nkx2.1 expression in NEBs was determined relative to that in MGE, whilst Dlx2, Mash1 and Gsx2 expression in NEBs was determined relative to that in LGE. The broken line crossing the y-axis at 1 represents relative expression in the E14 mouse MGE (A) and LGE (B-D). Each bar on the graphs represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. * = significant difference from MGE/LGE control. \dagger = significant difference between day 8 and day 16 NEB groups. (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, \dagger + \dagger p<0.01).

Effect of the SHH agonist purmorphamine on dorsal-ventral expression

To determine if NEBs are responsive to the SHH agonist purmorphamine, ADF+ neural induction medium was supplemented with a range of purmorphamine concentrations and expression of SHH-pathway components was analysed (Figure 5.3). Purmorphamine was added at day 4 and NEBs were harvested for analysis at day 8 or day 16. At both day 8 and day 16 expression of *SHH* (Figure 5.3; A) was shown to increase following addition of purmorphamine and this was similar for *Patched* expression (Figure 5.3; B). Expression of *Patched* was always higher at day 16 than at day 8. *Gli3* expression was reduced slightly following addition of purmorphamine (Figure 5.3; C).

Expression of dorsal and ventral telencephalic markers in NEB cultures were analysed in response to the addition of purmorphamine, and analysis was compared relative to E14 cortex or MGE/LGE (expression relative to E14 WGE is shown in Appendix 6). *Pax6* expression was shown to decrease with addition of purmorphamine (Figure 5.4; A). There was no significant difference between the day of analysis (two-way ANOVA, $F_{1,30} = 2.35$, p = n.s) however there was a significant difference between concentrations ($F_{4,30} = 4.48$, p<0.05). At day 16, NEBs treated with 0.5, 1.0 or 2.0µM purmorphamine had significantly lower expression of *Pax6* than untreated cultures. Expression of *Ngn2* (Figure 5.4; B) revealed a similar pattern to that of *Pax6*. There was no significant difference between days ($F_{1,30} = 0.04$, p = n.s), but there was a significant difference between concentrations ($F_{4,30} = 3.93$, p <0.05), with 1.0 and 2.0µM purmorphamine yielding significantly lower expression in NEBs at day 16 than untreated cultures on the same day.

Nkx2.1 expression in NEBs following purmorphamine addition is shown relative to that in E14 mouse MGE (Figure 5.5; A). There was a significant difference in expression between day 8 and day 16 ($F_{1,30} = 10.41$, p<0.01) and concentration ($F_{4,30} = 5.41$, p<0.01). With 0.5µM purmorphamine there was significantly more *Nkx2.1* expression at day 16 than at day 8. In day 16 cultures there appeared to be an increase in expression with 0.5µM purmorphamine, although this was not significant; expression then declined, and 2µM purmorphamine yielded significantly lower expression than untreated cultures. *Dlx2* expression in NEBs following addition of purmorphamine is shown relative to LGE (Figure 5.5; B). There was a significantly higher expression at day 16 than at day 8 following addition of 0.5 and 1.0µM

purmorphamine. There was also a significant difference in expression between concentrations ($F_{4,30} = 5.39$, p<0.01), with a significant decrease in expression following addition of 2µM purmorphamine at day 16. Although there was no significant increase in *Dlx2* expression with purmorphamine treatment, at day 16 addition of 0.5µM resulted in a slight increase. Expression of *Mash1* in NEBs following addition of purmorphamine is shown relative to LGE (Figure 5.5; C). There was a significant difference in expression between day 8 and day 16 ($F_{1,30} = 47.63$, p<0.001), with expression at day 16 significantly higher than at day 8 following addition of 0.5 and 2µM purmorphamine. There was also a significant difference in expression between concentrations ($F_{4,30} = 4.28$, p<0.05), with 1µM purmorphamine yielding significantly less expression than untreated cultures at day 16. *Gsx2* expression in NEBs following addition of purmorphamine is shown relative LGE (Figure 5.5; D). There was no significant difference between days ($F_{1,30} = 0.00$, p = n.s), but there was a significant difference between concentrations ($F_{4,30} = 3.44$, p<0.05).

NEBs exhibited more of a response to purmorphamine following 16 days in neural induction culture than 8 days, when analysing dorsal and ventral telencephalic markers. Increasing concentrations of purmorphamine yielded tendencies towards a decrease in expression of dorsal telencephalic genes *Pax6* and *Ngn2* (Figure 5.4). At day 8 expression of the MGE marker *Nkx2.1* appeared unchanged as purmorphamine concentration was increased, whereas at day 16 there appeared to be an increase in expression following addition of 0.5μ M purmorphamine, which then decreased with higher concentrations (Figure 5.5; A). Expression of *Dlx2, Mash1 and Gsx2* were not changed at day 8 with purmorphamine addition (Figure 5.5; B, C, and D respectively). At day 16, *Dlx2* expression increased following addition of 0.5μ M purmorphamine addition of 0.5μ M purmorphamine addition of 0.5μ M purmorphamine with higher concentrations, similar to the response seen in *Nkx2.1* expression. There was not a big response in *Gsx2* expression at day 16, although there was a tendency towards a decrease and expression of *Mash1* showed a decrease with increasing concentrations of purmorphamine.

One point of note was that long-term treatment of cultures with high concentrations of purmorphamine (2 and 5μ M) resulted in formation of crystal-like structures within the culture medium. In these cultures, cell numbers were reduced when compared with untreated cultures and those treated with lower purmorphamine concentrations (0.5 and 1 μ M).

В



Patched1 expression following purmorphamine addition



Figure 5.3. Dose-response of expression of components of the SHH pathway. Expression of SHH (A), Patched1 (B) and Gli3 (C) was analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from NEBs at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 and different concentrations of the SHH agonist purmorphamine present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM.



A Pax6 expression following purmorphamine addition

Figure 5.4. Expression of dorsal markers Pax6 (A) and Ngn2 (B) was analysed using semiquantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from NEBs at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 and different concentrations of the SHH agonist purmorphamine present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. The broken line crossing the y-axis at 1 represents relative expression in E14 mouse cortex. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (*p<0.05).



Figure 5.5. Expression of the ventral markers Nkx2.1 (A), Dlx2 (B), Mash1 (C) and Gsx2 (D) were analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from NEBs at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 and different concentrations of the SHH agonist purmorphamine present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. The broken line crossing the y-axis at 1 represents relative expression in the E14 mouse MGE (A) and LGE (B-D). Each bar on the graphs represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. Brackets indicate significance between the day 8 and day 16 NEBs at a particular concentration. * = significant difference from WGE control. \dagger = significant difference between NEB groups. (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, $\dagger p$ <0.05, $\dagger p$ <0.01).

Endogenous expression of SHH-pathway components in NEBs

Since the response of NEBs to the addition of purmorphamine was not 'clean' across the range of dorso-ventral markers analysed, interpretation of results was not always straightforward. Therefore expression of *SHH* and *Patched1* were analysed in NEBs, relative to their expression in the E14 mouse dorsal and ventral telencephalon, to determine if there was endogenous SHH present in the NEB cultures (Figure 5.6). As expected, analysis using semi-quantitative RT-PCR showed that there was less *SHH* and *Patched1* in the cortex than in the WGE. Interestingly the expression of both *SHH* and *Patched1* in NEBs at day 8 and day 16 was greater than seen in the WGE.



Figure 5.6. Expression of SHH (A) and Patched1 (B) was analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from E14 mouse WGE, CTX and ES cell-derived NEBs harvested at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM.

Effect of the SHH antagonist cyclopamine on dorsal-ventral expression

To determine if NEBs are responsive to the Shh antagonist cyclopamine, ADF+ neural induction medium was supplemented with a range of cyclopamine concentrations and expression of SHH-pathway components was analysed (Figure 5.7). Cyclopamine was added at day 4 and NEBs were harvested for analysis at day 8 or day 16.

Expression of dorsal and ventral telencephalic markers in NEB cultures were analysed in response to the addition of cyclopamine, and analysis was compared relative to E14 cortex or MGE/LGE (expression relative to E14 WGE is shown in Appendix 6). Expression of the dorsal marker *Pax6* (Figure 5.8; A) did not change significantly with addition of cyclopamine relative to day ($F_{1,30} = 2.15$, p = n.s) or concentration ($F_{4,30} = 1.40$, p = n.s). *Ngn2* expression (Figure 5.8; B) was also not altered significantly in the presence of cyclopamine with respect to day ($F_{1,30} = 4.91$, p = n.s) or concentration ($F_{4,30} = 1.19$, p = n.s).

Expression of the MGE specific marker *Nkx2.1* was significantly reduced following addition of cyclopamine (Figure 5.9; A). There was a significant effect between days ($F_{1,30} = 17.29$, p<0.01), and concentration ($F_{4,30} = 20.39$, p<0.01), with addition of 0.1, 0.5, 1.0 and 2.0µM cyclopamine resulting in significantly lower expression of *Nkx2.1* than untreated cultures at both day 8 and day 16. *Dlx2* expression was significantly reduced in the presence of cyclopamine (Figure 5.9; B). There was a significant effect between days ($F_{1,30} = 10.10$, p<0.05) and concentration ($F_{4,30} = 5.74$, p<0.05). Post-hoc analysis confirmed significance at day 16, with all cyclopamine concentrations yielding significantly lower *Dlx2* expression. Expression of *Mash1* following addition of cyclopamine (Figure 5.9; C) was not significantly different with respect to days ($F_{1,30} = 4.35$, p = n.s) or concentration ($F_{4,30} = 0.30$, p = n.s). There was also no significant difference in *Gsx2* expression in the presence of cyclopamine (Figure 5.9; D) with respect to days ($F_{1,30} = 4.26$, p = n.s) or concentration ($F_{4,30} = 3.32$, p = n.s).



Figure 5.7. Dose-response of expression of components of the SHH pathway. Expression of SHH (A), Patched1 (B) and Gli3 (C) was analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from NEBs at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 and different concentrations of the SHH antagonist cyclopamine present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM.



A Pax6 expression following cyclopamine addition

Figure 5.8. Expression of *Pax6* (A) and *Ngn2* (B) was analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from NEBs at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 and different concentrations of the SHH antagonist cyclopamine present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. The broken line crossing the y-axis at 1 represents relative expression in the E14 mouse CTX. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM.



Figure 5.9. Expression of the ventral markers Nkx2.1 (A), Dlx2 (B), Mash1 (C) and Gsx2 (D) were analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from NEBs at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 and different concentrations of the SHH antagonist cyclopamine present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. The broken line crossing the y-axis at 1 represents relative expression in the E14 mouse MGE (A) and LGE (B-D). Each bar on the graphs represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. Brackets indicate significance between the day 8 and day 16 NEBs at a particular concentration. * = significant difference to untreated NEBs at day 8. \dagger = significant difference to untreated NEBs at day 16. (**p<0.01, $\dagger p<0.05$).

Fluorescent immunocytochemistry of dorsal-ventral markers

Fluorescent immunocytochemistry, using antibodies against the dorsal telencephalon marker Pax6 (Figure 5.10 and 5.11), the MGE marker Nkx2.1 (Figure 5.12 and 5.13) and the LGE marker Mash1 (Figure 5.14 and 5.15), was performed to further analyse the effects of purmorphamine and cyclopamine with respect to untreated cultures and the appropriate regions of the developing mouse brain.

Fluorescent immunocytochemistry revealed that the proportion of Pax6expressing cells was significantly lower in NEBs than in E14 cortex ($F_{2,9} = 16.42$, p<0.01) (Figure 5.11), but there was no significant difference between day 8 and day 16 NEBs. Following purmorphamine treatment expression of Pax6 decreased significantly compared with untreated NEBs at day 8 ($F_{4,15} = 62.95$, p<0.001), and at day 16 ($F_{4,15} = 62.95$, p<0.001). There was no significant difference in Pax6 expression between NEBs treated with 0.5µM purmorphamine and 1.0µM purmorphamine. Cyclopamine treatment resulted in significantly more Pax6-positive cells than purmorphamine treated NEBs, but there was no significant difference between 0.1µM and 1.0µM cyclopamine treated NEBs, and no significant difference from untreated cultures.

The proportion of Nkx2.1 immuno-positive cells was significantly lower in NEBs than in E14 MGE ($F_{2,9} = 22.79$, p<0.01) (Figure 5.13). There was no significant difference between untreated NEBs and those treated with purmorphamine or cyclopamine at day 8 ($F_{4,15} = 2.89$, p=n.s) or day 16 ($F_{4,15} = 2.88$, p=n.s).

There were significantly more Mash1 immuno-positive cells in E14 LGE than in NEBs at day 8 and day 16, and there were significantly more at day 16 than at day 8 ($F_{2,9} = 97.51$, p<0.001) (Figure 5.15). There was no significant difference between untreated NEBs and those treated with purmorphamine or cyclopamine at day 8 ($F_{4,15}$ = 2.25, p=n.s) or day 16 ($F_{4,15} = 1.32$, p=n.s). Figure 5.10 (overleaf). Pax6 expression using fluorescent immunocytochemistry. E14 mouse cortex (A-C) was dissected and dissociated for plating. NEBs cultured in ADF+ and 20ng/ml FGF2 were taken at day 8 following no additional treatment (D-F), treatment with 0.5μ M purmorphamine (G-I) or treatment with 1.0μ M cyclopamine (J-L), or at day 16 following no additional treatment (M-O), treatment with 0.5μ M purmorphamine (P-R) or treatment with 1.0μ M cyclopamine (P-R) or treatment with 1.0μ M cyclopamine (S-U). Cells were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate. After 2-4 hours, when cells had adhered to the substrate; they were fixed and double-labelled for Pax6 (red) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue). The third column is a merged image of the first two photomicrographs in each row. Scale bars = 50 μ m.



Pax6 expression: fluorescent immunocytochemistry

Figure 5.11. Pax6 expression using fluorescent immunocytochemistry. E14 mouse cortex was dissected and dissociated for plating. NEBs cultured in ADF+ and 20ng/ml FGF2 were taken at day 8 or day 16 following no additional treatment, or treatment with 0.5μ M purmorphamine, 1.0μ M purmorphamine, 0.1μ M cyclopamine or 1.0μ M cyclopamine. Cells were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate. After 2-4 hours, when cells had adhered to the substrate; they were fixed and double-labelled for Pax6 and Hoechst nuclear stain. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (* indicates significant difference from E14 cortex; † indicates a significant difference from other treated cultures at the same day; # indicates a significant difference from other treated cultures at the same day. (**p<0.01, ++<0.01, ##p<0.01).



126

Chapter 5

Figure 5.12 (overleaf). Nkx2.1 expression using fluorescent immunocytochemistry. E14 mouse WGE (A-C) and MGE (D-F) were dissected and dissociated for plating. NEBs cultured in ADF+ and 20ng/ml FGF2 were taken at day 8 following no additional treatment (G-I), treatment with purmorphamine (J-L) or treatment with cyclopamine (M-O), or at day 16 following no additional treatment (P-R), treatment with purmorphamine (S-U) or treatment with cyclopamine (V-X). Cells were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate. After 2-4 hours cells had adhered to the substrate; they were fixed and double-labelled for Nkx2.1 (red) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue). The third column is a merged image of the first two photomicrographs in each row. Scale bars = $50\mu m$.



Nkx2.1 expression: fluorescent immunocytochemistry

Figure 5.13. Nkx2.1 expression using fluorescent immunocytochemistry. E14 mouse MGE was dissected and dissociated for plating. NEBs cultured in ADF+ and 20ng/ml FGF2 were taken at day 8 or day 16 following no additional treatment, or treatment with 0.5μ M purmorphamine, 1.0μ M purmorphamine, 0.1μ M cyclopamine or 1.0μ M cyclopamine. Cells were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate. After 2-4 hours, when cells had adhered to the substrate; they were fixed and double-labelled for Nkx2.1 and Hoechst nuclear stain. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (* indicates significant difference from E14 MGE). (**p<0.01).



Ventral telencephalon-like precursors

128

Chapter 5

Figure 5.14 (overleaf). Mash1 expression using fluorescent immunocytochemistry. E14 mouse WGE (A-C) and LGE (D-F) were dissected and dissociated for plating. NEBs cultured in ADF+ and 20ng/ml FGF2 were taken at day 8 following no additional treatment (G-I), treatment with purmorphamine (J-L) or treatment with cyclopamine (M-O), or at day 16 following no additional treatment (P-R), treatment with purmorphamine (S-U) or treatment with cyclopamine (V-X). Cells were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate. After 2-4 hours cells had adhered to the substrate; they were fixed and double-labelled for Mash1 (red) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue). The third column is a merged image of the first two photomicrographs in each row. Scale bars = $50\mu m$.



Mash1 expression: fluorescent immunocytochemistry

Figure 5.15. Mash1 expression using fluorescent immunocytochemistry. E14 mouse LGE was dissected and dissociated for plating. ES cell-derived NEBs cultured in ADF+ and 20ng/ml FGF2 were taken at day 8 or day 16 following no additional treatment, or treatment with 0.5 μ M purmorphamine, 1.0 μ M purmorphamine, 0.1 μ M cyclopamine or 1.0 μ M cyclopamine. Cells were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate. After 2-4 hours, when cells had adhered to the substrate; they were fixed and double-labelled for Nkx2.1 and Hoechst nuclear stain. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (* indicates significant difference from E14 LGE; \ddagger indicates a significant difference between untreated cultures at day 8 and day 16). (**p<0.01, $\ddagger p<0.01$).



Chapter 5

Ventral telencephalon-like precursors

5.5 Discussion

Dorso-ventral expression in NEBs

Following culture in neural induction medium, NEBs express genes which give an indication of their position along the dorso-ventral axis within the neural tube. In comparison to expression in the developing mouse E14 cortex, expression of the dorsal telencephalic marker genes *Pax6*, *Ngn2* and *Emx2* were all lower in untreated neurally induced NEBs at day 8. At day 16, expression of these 3 markers did not differ significantly from that in the cortex. Expression of the ventral markers *Nkx2.1*, *Dlx2*, *Mash1* and *Gsx2* were also lower in NEBs at day 8 than in cells of their regional position within the neural tube, MGE or LGE. However, at day 16 expression of *Nkx2.1*, *Mash1* and *Gsx2* in NEBs were not significantly different from expression in the MGE (*Nkx2.1*) and LGE (*Mash1* and *Gsx2*). This indicates a more mature precursor at day 16 which more closely resembles *in vivo* telencephalic precursors than the earlier day 8 precursors.

Bouhon et al (2005 and 2006) reported that neurally induced mouse ES cells following 8 days in CDM express the dorsal marker *Pax6* and ventral markers *Gsx2* and *Dlx1* (Bouhon et al., 2005; Bouhon et al., 2006), using semi-quantitative RT-PCR. Fluorescent immunocytochemistry revealed Pax6-positive cells with few Gsx2 and Nkx2.1-expressing cells following 10 days in serum-free suspension culture (Watanabe et al., 2005). A more recent study using CDM showed an increase in expression of *Dlx1* and *Nkx2.1* from day 7 through to day 14 using RT-PCR, and with fluorescent immunocytochemistry revealed a low proportion of Pax6-expressing cells, with few Gsx2-expressing cells (Gaspard et al., 2008).

Addition of the SHH agonist, purmorphamine to NEBs

The response of SHH pathway components to different concentrations of purmorphamine at day 8 analysis was more typical of the expected dose response than analysis at day 16. Duration of SHH signalling, as well as concentration, has been shown to influence the expression of transcription factors which subsequently specify different neuronal subtypes. Chronic exposure results in desensitization of cells to SHH which is caused by upregulation of Patched; increasing Patched levels decreases responsiveness of cells to Hedgehog (Taipale et al., 2002; Dessaud et al., 2007).

Chapter 5

Ventral telencephalon-like precursors

Dessaud et al (2007) reported that SHH concentration and duration of exposure are proportional to each other, and demonstrated that chick neural cells convert different SHH concentrations into time-limited periods of signal transduction.

Analysis of dorso-ventral markers revealed that purmorphamine treatment at day 4 of the ADF+ neural induction protocol did not appear to elicit a profound response in NEBs by day 8, however there was more of a response when NEBs were analysed after 16 days. Purmorphamine resulted in down-regulation of the dorsal markers Pax6 and Ngn2, which was consistent with a decrease in Pax6-expressing cells following addition of Shh protein at day 4 and analysis at day 10 (Watanabe et al., 2005). At low purmorphamine concentrations there was an increase in expression of the ventral marker Nkx2.1 at day 16, but at increasing purmorphamine concentrations Nkx2.1 expression was reduced. Watanabe et al observed that with addition of the Shh protein at low concentrations Nkx2.1 expression was increased, although not significantly, and at higher concentrations expression reached a plateau (Watanabe et al., 2005). Expression of Dlx2 was shown to increase at low purmorphamine concentrations, although at increasing purmorphamine concentrations the expression declined, and Mash1 expression decreased with increasing purmorphamine concentrations, as did expression of Gsx2, although base-line expression of Gsx2 was much lower than Mash1 when compared relative to their expression in the E14 LGE. It has previously been reported that addition of increasing concentrations of SHH protein did not have a significant effect on Gsx2-expressing cells (Watanabe et al., 2005).

Although addition of purmorphamine resulted in a degree of up- or downregulation of some dorso-ventral genes in the direction expected, this was not consistent across all the markers analysed. As a result, there was no distinctive pattern of expression in purmorphamine-treated NEBs, with respect to dorso-ventral patterning. Purmorphamine directly targets smoothened in the Hedgehog signalling pathway and it has been shown that Patched, upstream of smoothened, is not required for purmorphamine activity (Sinha and Chen, 2006). Moreover, in cells lacking smoothened, purmorphamine was not able to induce the Hedgehog signalling pathway (Sinha and Chen, 2006). Analysis of neurally induced ES cells following 8 and 16 days in ADF+ demonstrated relatively high expression of *Patched* when compared with mouse E14 WGE. As a result of high levels of *Patched* there would be subsequently low levels of smoothened which is the target of purmorphamine. During development, one role of SHH is to inhibit the Gli3 repressor that plays a role in dorsal patterning, and induce the Gli3 activator (Gulacsi et al., 2006). With low levels of SHH signalling Gli3 is converted from the activator form to the repressor form, which induces a switch from ventral patterning to dorsal patterning. Since the level of SHH is definitive in this decision in the developing neural tube, this could equally be the case when treating neural induction cultures with various concentrations of SHH, and might be one explanation for the mixed responses in expression of genes of the dorso-ventral axis.

Ventral patterning in the telencephalon does not solely rely on Hedgehog signalling, but a combination of activities of a number of different signalling centres. SHH is involved in maintaining normal expression patterns of FGF8 and BMP4 in the developing telencephalon (Ohkubo et al., 2002; Hayhurst et al., 2008). Changes in SHH signalling early in development results in changes in other signalling centres, so altering SHH expression in NEBs might have a knock-on affect on other signals and modify subsequent gene expression according to these signals, as well as SHH.

Another hypothesis for the limited response of NEBs to purmorphamine treatment is the presence of endogenous SHH activity. Semi-quantitative RT-PCR comparing gene expression in NEBs relative to that in E14 WGE revealed higher expression of SHH in both day 8 and day 16 NEBs than in WGE. ES cells cultured in CDM culture have been shown to express low levels of SHH at day 6, with an increase at day 8 (Bouhon et al., 2005). A different study, also culturing mouse ES cells in CDM, showed induction of SHH expression at day 4 with an increase through to day 14 (Gaspard et al., 2008). Although initiation of SHH expression in neurally induced ES cells, as well as its continued presence in culture (showing an increase over time), has been reported, it has not previously been demonstrated relative to that in the developing mouse striatum.

Since chronic administration of high concentrations of purmorphamine resulted in the formation of crystal-like structures within the culture medium and cell numbers were reduced in these cultures when compared with untreated cultures and those treated with lower purmorphamine concentrations (0.5 and 1 μ M), data from the high concentrations (2 and 5 μ M) needs to be analysed with caution. The cells that survived in culture appeared healthy, but further analysis is required to determine what population of cells remained, i.e. forebrain population.
Addition of the SHH antagonist, cyclopamine to NEBs

Cyclopamine is an antagonist of the Hedgehog signalling pathway, inhibiting smoothened activity by influencing the balance between the active and inactive forms of smoothened. Treatment of neurally induced ES cells with cyclopamine resulted in a significant decrease in expression of the ventral markers *Nkx2.1*, *Dlx2* and *Gsx2*. This was consistent with previous findings which revealed abolishment of *Dlx1* and *Nkx2.1* (using RT-PCR analysis) and Gsx2 (using fluorescent immunocytochemistry) (Gaspard et al., 2008). Interestingly here, expression of the ventral marker *Mash1* was not significantly reduced following addition of cyclopamine, however expression of this gene has not been reported in other neural induction studies, either in untreated cultures or those following addition of SHH agonists and antagonists.

Dorsal markers Pax6 and Ngn2 were not significantly altered following addition of cyclopamine in ADF+ culture from day 4 with analysis at day 8 and day 16, which was not consistent with findings that reported a significant increase in Pax6-expressing cells at day 14, with cyclopamine treatment from day 2 to day 10 (Gaspard et al., 2008).

Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis resulted in the observation of relatively high levels of deviation between cultures, with samples from 3 different neural induction cultures taken for analysis of gene expression. Generation of neural precursors from ES cell cultures involves harvesting ES cells and then transfer to neural induction medium. The 'state' of ES cells in terms of their proliferation capacity and colony structure, immediately prior to harvesting, might result in the generation of more diverse NEB cultures, with different rates of proliferation and aggregation that might impact on subsequent cell patterning. There is a need to minimise these differences in order to maintain consistency and reproducibility between neural induction cultures.

Dorso-ventral expression in the developing mouse telencephalon

The ventral genes Dlx2, Mash1 and Gsx2 show similar expression in the telencephalic vesicles of the developing mouse, however their roles in influencing other precursors and their destined mature phenotypic fates differ. Gsx2 expression is required for subsequent expression of various genes necessary for specification and differentiation of the LGE (Corbin et al., 2000). Mice lacking Gsx2 expression fail to express Mash1 and Dlx2 (Szucsik et al., 1997; Corbin et al., 2000; Toresson et al.,

2000), demonstrating a requirement for Gsx2 expression for the expression of these other ventral genes. Neuronal phenotypes lost in the Gsx2 mutant are the striatal projection neurons which originate in the LGE (Deacon et al., 1994; Olsson et al., 1998) and the olfactory bulb interneurons (Corbin et al., 2000), whereas the cortical interneurons remain unaffected.

Dlx1/2-expressing cells are found in the LGE and MGE (Liu et al., 1997), and these cells are highly migratory prior to differentiation (Anderson et al., 1997a). Fatemapping studies have reported Dlx-expressing cells in the hippocampus, olfactory bulb (Nery et al., 2003), and cortex, where they co-express GABA (Stuhmer et al., 2002b). Mice lacking Dlx1/2 expression show reduced expression of cortical GABAergic interneurons and also striatal matrix neurons (Anderson et al., 1997a; Anderson et al., 1997b).

Mash1 expression is also observed throughout the ventral telencephalon (Fode et al., 2000). Mice lacking expression of *Mash1* exhibit reduced expression of cortical interneurons (Casarosa et al., 1999), FoxP1-expressing striatal neuronal precursors, DARPP-32-expressing MSNs and calbindin-expressing striatal matrix neurons (Wang et al., 2009).

Taken together, these developmental loss-of-function studies demonstrate that although expression of these genes is geographically similar, they each play different roles in development and respond to various signals differently.

Gsx2 expression (at a certain level) might be required in neurally induced ES cells for induction of expression of other ventral genes such as Mash1 and Dlx2. However, since Gsx2 is a downstream target of SHH signalling (shown by misexpression of SHH resulting in ectopic Gsx2 expression) (Corbin et al., 2000) and SHH expression is relatively higher in NEBs than in E14 WGE, perhaps overexpression of SHH has negative effects on Gsx2 expression.

Heterogeneity of the neural induction cultures might account for the mixed response of gene expression to purmorphamine and cyclopamine, making results difficult to interpret. It is not uncommon in neurally induced ES cells to observe an array of dorso-ventral position-specifying markers that taken together do not produce a predominant pattern of expression, indicating the lack of a predominant precursortype within the culture population. In neurally induced human ES cells a range of dorso-ventral markers have been shown to up- or down-regulate over time, which individually appear to be interesting, nevertheless failing to demonstrate a predominant pattern overall (Nasonkin et al., 2009). It is also important to remember that the heterogeneity within cultures is not just restricted to the neural precursor population, but there are almost certainly other cell lineages present as well, which might impact on the patterning and fate of the neural precursors.

Conclusions

Neurally induced mouse ES cells are responsive to treatment with both purmorphamine and cyclopamine. Interestingly, data in this chapter demonstrates that SHH is endogenously expressed in these neural precursors at relatively high levels, when compared to mouse WGE. Although no distinctive patterns were revealed following treatment of mouse ES cell neural induction cultures with either purmorphamine or cyclopamine, a low purmorphamine concentration supplemented through to day 16 resulted in increased expression of Dlx2 and the MGE specific marker Nkx2.1, indicating an increase in ventral telencephalon precursors. Further analysis of these precursors following differentiation *in vitro* and *in vivo*, which will be assessed in the next two chapters, will demonstrate the fate of these cells as mature phenotypes and determine subsequent effects that purmorphamine might have on cell maturation.

Chapter 6

in vitro differentiation: Looking for DARPP-32

6.1 Summary

DARPP-32 is a marker of terminally differentiated MSNs and is currently the most commonly used marker for MSNs of the striatum, which are lost in HD. These neurons originate in the LGE region of the ventral telencephalon. Various studies have shown that in vitro culture of LGE cells yield a lower-than-expected proportion of DARPP-32 positive neurons. This proportion can be increased by a number of different methods, including addition of BDNF, RA or co-culture with LGE-derived glia. The rationale in this chapter was to determine conditions for terminal differentiation of MSNs using cells which are already specified (LGE), and then apply these conditions to neuronal differentiation cultures of NEBs. DARPP-32 expression in LGE neuronal differentiation cultures was shown to increase with the addition of BDNF and with co-culture on LGE-derived glia, but not with the addition of RA, and neuronal proportion was not altered. The highest proportion of DARPP-32 positive neurons was yielded following addition of BDNF to the neuronal differentiation cultures. Expression of the striatal marker FoxP1 was not altered in the various conditions but DARPP-32 positive neurons expressed as a percentage of FoxP1 was increased with BDNF. Day 16 NEBs, with or without addition of the SHH agonist purmorphamine, were allowed to differentiate for a further 7 or 14 days in neuronal differentiation medium with or without addition of BDNF, in order to determine if DARPP-32 positive neurons could be generated. Neuronal yield was unaffected in the various treatments, with no effect of purmorphamine. Within the neuronal population, GABAergic yield was not affected and DARPP-32 positive neurons showed a slight increase following BDNF addition at both 7 and 14 days, but this was not significant. FoxP1 expression was also not affected with the various treatments. This suggests that day 16 NEBs are not optimally specified to be responsive to the same cues as LGEderived precursors.

6.2 Introduction

DARPP-32 is at present the most commonly used marker of the striatal projection MSNs, which are the predominant neurons of the adult striatum. More than 90% of MSNs in rodents are DARPP-32 positive (Ouimet et al., 1998). In the developing brain, striatal projection neurons originate in the LGE region of the ventral telencephalon, making this an obvious choice for use as an *in vitro* cell culture model for optimising DARPP-32 output in terminal neuronal differentiation cultures.

In vitro expansion of E14 mouse LGE in the presence of FCS and EGF, followed by differentiation in the absence of these factors resulted in generation of β -III-tubulin positive neurons which, although they were largely GABAergic, were not seen to express DARPP-32 (Skogh et al., 2001). Differentiation of LGE-derived neurons in homotopic co-culture, on monolayers of LGE-derived glia, resulted in up to 15% DARPP-32 positive neurons, in comparison to co-culture on MGE-derived glia, which yielded 7% DARPP-32 (Skogh and Campbell, 2003).

The LGE has been reported to be a source of retinoid signalling and retinoids from LGE glia have been implicated in striatal neuronal differentiation (Toresson et al., 1999). RA has been implicated in forebrain development (Schneider et al., 2001; Haskell and LaMantia, 2005; Marklund et al., 2004; Ribes et al., 2006) and in regulation of DARPP-32 expression in the developing brain (Waclaw et al., 2004). *In vitro* E14 mouse LGE cultures have shown an increase in DARPP-32 expression in response to addition of exogenous RA (Toresson et al., 1999), which is similar to the increase in DARPP-32 expression seen following homotopic co-culture of LGE-derived neurons with LGE-derived glia (Skogh and Campbell, 2003).

Addition of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) has been reported to promote the survival of DARPP-32 positive neurons, as well as increase neurite outgrowth and the number of branching points on the neurites (Nakao et al., 1995). Differentiating neuronal cells treated with BDNF have been shown to be multipolar rather than bipolar, and they display enhanced neuronal fates, as demonstrated by altered cell morphology (Lachyankar et al., 1997). BDNF has also been shown to increase expression of DARPP-32 in E15 mouse striatal neuronal differentiation cultures and moreover, has been shown to regulate DARPP-32 transcription in MSNs (Ivkovic et al., 1997). To date there is very little literature demonstrating the *in vitro* terminal differentiation of ES cell-derived neural precursors with the subsequent generation of DARPP-32 positive neurons. Human ES cell-derived neural precursors cultured for 50 days with addition of BDNF, SHH and DKK-1, and terminally differentiated for a further 10 days in the absence of SHH and DKK-1, generated 22% MAP2-positive neurons, of which 36% expressed GABA and 53% expressed DARPP-32 (Aubry et al., 2008). Interpretation of these data requires a degree of caution since DARPP-32 positive neurons are also GABAergic neurons and co-expression would be expected in the DARPP-32 positive neurons. This therefore reinforces the requirement for more reliable markers of MSNs. Mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors have been shown to generate β -III-tubulin positive neurons (Bouhon et al., 2005; Bouhon et al., 2006).

DARPP-32 is currently the most commonly used marker of striatal MSNs and it is restricted to terminally differentiated neurons, therefore identification of other markers including those expressed in MSN precursors are being sought. FoxP1 is one such marker which was shown to upregulate in the developing mouse striatum from E12 through to E16 (Kelly et al., in preparation). Expression of FoxP1 is maintained to adulthood, and in the striatum, is restricted to the striatal projection neurons and not the interneurons (Ferland et al., 2003; Tamura et al., 2004).

In this chapter, the rationale was to use foetal striatal cells as a model system to explore cues to induce terminal differentiation of MSNs from already-specified precursors, and then apply these conditions to neuronal differentiation cultures of mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors, with the aim to generate MSNs. E14 LGE-derived neurons were analysed using immuno-fluorescence to assess the effects of various treatments in neuronal differentiation culture on the neuronal phenotype, in particular expression of DARPP-32 and also the earlier-onset striatal marker FoxP1. Mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors, following 16 days in ADF+ neural induction culture, were subjected to the same treatments as the LGE cultures in order to determine the neuronal phenotypes yielded, again, looking for DARPP-32 positive neurons. Neural induction cultures were untreated or purmorphamine treated, to determine if further specification prior to neuronal differentiation affected subsequent expression of DARPP-32, GABA and FoxP1.

6.3 Experimental Procedures

Dissection and dissociation of mouse E14 LGE

LGE was dissected from E14 mouse forebrain and dissociated to generate a single-cell suspension, as described in Chapter 2. Briefly, tissue was incubated in trypsin and DNAse for 20 minutes at 37°C followed by a further 5 minute incubation in trypsin inhibitor. The tissue was then washed in DMEM/F-12, centrifuged at 1000rpm for 3 minutes, the remaining pellet was resuspended in 200µl DMEM/F-12 and triturated 10-15 times to generate a single cell suspension which was counted using a haemocytometer.

Generation of LGE-derived glia

E14 mouse LGE cells were seeded in glial expansion medium (DMEM/F-12, 1% PS, 10% FCS, 2mM glutamine and 20ng/ml EGF) in tissue-culture treated flasks. Medium was changed every 2-3 days and cultures were passaged using trypsin-EDTA when 80-90% confluency was reached, and re-seeded for further expansion. Glial cultures at passage 4 were used for co-culture studies.

24 hours before plating LGE cells or day 16 NEBs for neuronal differentiation, LGE glia were resuspended in glial differentiation medium (DMEM/F-12, 1% PS, 10% FCS and 2mM glutamine) and plated onto PLL-coated glass cover-slips.

Generation and maintenance of ES cell-derived NEBs

The mouse ES cell line Foxg1-lacZ was used in this study. NEBs were derived from the Foxg1Z mouse ES cell line as described in Chapter 2. Briefly, ES cells were transferred from ES cell culture medium to ADF+ medium at a density of 50,000 cells per ml, medium was replaced every 2 days and 20ng/ml FGF2 was added from day 4. Neural induction cultures were untreated (ADF+ plus 20ng/ml FGF2 at day 4) or treated with the SHH agonist purmorphamine (ADF+ plus 20ng/ml FGF2 and 0.5 μ M purmorphamine at day 4) prior to differentiation.

Chapter 6

Plating cells and neuronal differentiation

On the day of plating NEBs were harvested and dissociated as described in Chapter 2. Cells were plated onto either PLL/laminin treated cover-slips or LGEderived glia, at a density of 50,000 cells. 2-4 hours after plating, on adhering to the substrate, cells were flooded with 500µl differentiation medium (DMEM/F-12, 1% PS, 2% B-27 and 1% FCS). Cells plated onto LGE-derived glia were flooded immediately after plating to prevent cultures from drying out. Cells were allowed to differentiate for 7 or 14 days, and medium was replaced every 2-3 days. To determine the effects of addition of factors neuronal differentiation medium was supplemented with factors including BDNF at 50ng/ml and RA at 100nm.

Immunocytochemistry

Following 7 or 14 days in neuronal differentiation medium cells were fixed. Fluorescent immunocytochemistry was performed according to the protocol detailed in Chapter 2. Primary antibodies used were anti- β -III-tubulin (1:1000), anti-GFAP (1:1000), anti-DARPP-32 (1:20,000), anti-FoxP1 (1:500) and anti-GABA (1:500).

Microscopy and Statistical analysis

Cells were visualised under UV fluorescence using a Leitz microscope. Hoechst positive nuclei were detected and cells immuno-labelled with the maker of interest were counted, as described in Chapter 2. Images were processed using Optronics MagnaFire software and Adobe Photoshop.

Two-sample t-tests or one- and two-factor ANOVA with Tukey Kramer *post hoc* comparisons when appropriate, were performed using Minitab 15 statistical software.

141

6.4 Results

DARPP-32 expression in LGE-derived neurons

Since the LGE is the origin of DARPP-32 positive MSNs of the adult striatum, this region of the developing forebrain was used as a 'standard' to assess the effects in vitro, of various treatments in neuronal differentiation cultures on the expression of DARPP-32. LGE was dissected from E14 mouse forebrain, plated onto PLL/laminin substrate and allowed to differentiate for 7 days. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for β -III-tubulin, DARPP-32 and the nuclei marker, Hoechst. For analysis of effects of BDNF and RA on neuronal (β-III-tubulin) and DARPP-32 yield, neuronal differentiation medium was supplemented with 50ng/ml BDNF and/or 100nm RA, or left untreated. Overall total of Hoechst positive nuclei was not different between cultures which suggests there were no differences in proliferation or cell death between cultures. There was no significant difference in the proportion of β -IIItubulin positive neurons with the different treatments (treatment, $F_{3,12} = 0.06$, p = n.s) (Figure 6.1). The proportion of β -III-tubulin positive neurons that co-expressed DARPP-32 was significantly higher in cultures treated with BDNF (10.93 \pm 0.88%) than untreated cultures (3.74 \pm 0.11%), and those cultures treated with RA (2.29 \pm 0.47%) or treated with both BDNF and RA (5.27 \pm 0.68%) (treatment, F_{3,12} = 38.90, p<0.001).

Since expression levels of DARPP-32 in MSNs *in vivo* is initially low compared to adult levels, we increased the neuronal differentiation culture time *in vitro* to determine if this would increase DARPP-32 expression. When LGE cultures were allowed to differentiate for 14 days in untreated neuronal differentiation medium, generation of β -III-tubulin positive neurons was not significantly changed from that at day 7 (day, t₄ = 0.74, p = n.s) (Figure 6.2). However the yield of DARPP-32 positive neurons as a percentage of β -III-tubulin positive neurons was significantly increased following 14 days differentiation (13.38 ± 2.37%) compared with 7 days differentiation in untreated neuronal differentiation medium (3.74 ± 0.11%) (day, t₄ = 4.70, p<0.05).



Figure 6.1. β -III-tubulin and DARPP-32 expression in LGE differentiation cultures. Mouse E14 LGE was dissected, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate in neuronal differentiation medium and allowed to differentiate for 7 days. Differentiating cultures were: i) untreated (neuronal differentiation medium alone), ii) treated with 50ng/ml BDNF, iii) treated with 100nm RA, or iv) treated with 50ng/ml BDNF and 100nm RA. Following neuronal differentiation for 7 days, cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for β -III-tubulin, DARPP-32 and Hoechst nuclear marker. β -III-tubulin positive neurons are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst cells and DARPP-32 positive neurons are represented as a percentage of β -III-tubulin positive neurons. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different LGE dissections and error bars represent SEM. (***p<0.001).



Figure 6.2. β -III-tubulin and DARPP-32 expression in LGE differentiation cultures. Mouse E14 LGE was dissected, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate in neuronal differentiation medium and allowed to differentiate for 7 or 14 days. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for β -III-tubulin, DARPP-32 and Hoechst nuclear marker. β -III-tubulin positive neurons are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst cells and DARPP-32 positive neurons are represented as a percentage of β -III-tubulin positive neurons. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different LGE dissections and error bars represent SEM. (*p<0.05).

Chapter 6

DARPP-32 yield from LGE neuronal cultures using different differentiation conditions, including plating substrate and BDNF addition to medium, was analysed (Figure 6.3). Following 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium there was a significant difference in DARPP-32 expression between differentiation treatments (treatment, $F_{2,9} = 26.13$, p<0.01); DARPP-32 expression was not significantly higher in LGE cultures plated on PLL/laminin substrate and treated with 50ng/ml BDNF than those plated on LGE-derived glia and left untreated; but both these conditions resulted in significantly higher DARPP-32 expression than cultures plated on PLL/laminin substrate and left untreated. Following 14 days differentiation there was significant difference in DARPP-32 expression between the different no differentiation treatments (treatment, $F_{2,9} = 4.05$, p = n.s). When LGE was plated on PLL/laminin substrate in neuronal differentiation medium with addition of 50ng/ml BDNF, there was no significant difference in DARPP-32 yield between day 7 (10.93 \pm 0.88%) and day 14 (11.68 \pm 2.30%) (day, t₄ = 0.31, p = n.s), and similarly, when LGE was plated on LGE-derived glia in untreated neuronal differentiation medium there was no significant difference in DARPP-32 yield between day 7 (7.77 \pm 0.96%) and day 14 (4.42 \pm 2.82%) (day, t₄ = 1.82, p = n.s).

Photomicrographs of LGE cultures that were subjected to the various differentiation treatments and subsequent fluorescent immunocytochemistry are shown in Figure 6.4, demonstrating β -III-tubulin and DARPP-32 expression.



DARPP-32 expression following LGE differentiation

Figure 6.3. DARPP-32 expression in LGE differentiation cultures. Mouse E14 LGE was dissected, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate or LGE glia, and allowed to differentiate for 7 or 14 days. Neuronal differentiation medium was either left untreated or 50ng/ml BDNF was added. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for β -III-tubulin, DARPP-32 and Hoechst nuclear stain. DARPP-32 positive neurons are represented as a percentage of β -III-tubulin positive neurons. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different LGE dissections and error bars represent SEM. (* = significance between days 7 and 14 with each treatment; \dagger = significance between treatments at either day 7 or day 14). (*p<0.05, \dagger tp<0.01).



Figure 6.4. DARPP-32 expression in LGE differentiation cultures. Mouse E14 LGE was dissected, dissociated and plated onto substrate or LGE glia and allowed to differentiate for 7 or 14 days in neuronal differentiation medium. LGE was plated on PLL/laminin substrate and differentiated for 7 days (A) or 14 days (B); or plated on LGE-derived glia and differentiated for 7 days (C) or 14 days (D) in untreated neuronal differentiation medium. BDNF (50ng/ml) was added to neuronal differentiation medium and cultures were differentiated for 7 days on PLL/laminin substrate (E and F). Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for β -III-tubulin (green), DARPP-32 (red) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue). Scale bars = 50 µm (A-E) and 100 µm (F).

Co-expression of FoxP1 and DARPP-32 in LGE-derived neurons

Currently the most commonly used marker for the striatal MSNs is DARPP-32, and it only labels mature neurons. Ongoing work in our group focuses on finding novel markers for these cells including markers of MSN precursors. One such marker, which was identified by a study of striatal genes during embryonic development, is FoxP1, which was shown to label striatal precursor cells (Kelly et al., in preparation). Following 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium on PLL/laminin substrate, there was no significant difference in FoxP1 expression between untreated LGE cultures (39.59 ± 3.80%) and those treated with 50ng/ml BDNF ($35.10 \pm 3.15\%$) (treatment, t₅ = 0.30, p = n.s) (Figure 6.5; A). DARPP-32 positive neurons, expressed as a percentage of FoxP1 positive cells, were significantly higher when cultures were treated with 50ng/ml BDNF ($26.36 \pm 3.23\%$) than when cultures were untreated (9.51 ± 3.16%) (treatment, t₇ = 3.73, p<0.05) (Figure 6.5; B).

Photomicrographs of LGE differentiation cultures (untreated and treated with 50ng/ml BDNF for 7 days) that were labelled for FoxP1 and DARPP-32 using immuno-fluorescence are shown in Figure 6.6. All DARPP-32 positive neurons observed co-expressed FoxP1, but not all FoxP1 positive cells were DARPP-32 positive.



Figure 6.5. FoxP1 and DARPP-32 expression in LGE differentiation cultures. Mouse E14 LGE was dissected, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate and allowed to differentiate for 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium either untreated or with addition of 50ng/ml BDNF. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for FoxP1, DARPP-32 and Hoechst nuclear stain. FoxP1 positive cells are represented as a percentage of Hoechst positive nuclei (A) and DARPP-32 positive neurons are represented as a percentage of FoxP1 positive cells (B). Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different LGE dissections and error bars represent SEM. (p<0.05).

in vitro differentiation



Figure 6.6. FoxP1 and DARPP-32 expression in LGE differentiation cultures. Mouse E14 LGE was dissected, dissociated, plated onto substrate and allowed to differentiate for 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium in the absence of growth factors (A-D) or in the presence of 50ng/ml BDNF (E-H). Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for FoxP1 (green), DARPP-32 (red) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue). Arrows (D and H) indicate cells co-expressing FoxP1 and DARPP-32, and insets (D and H) show higher magnifications of double-labelled cells. Scale bars = $50\mu m$.

Neuronal differentiation of day 16 NEBs

NEBs following 16 days in ADF+ neural induction medium with the addition of 20ng/ml FGF2 at day 4, can generate neurons when cultured in neuronal differentiation medium for 7 days, in the presence of FCS and B27 (Figure 6.7).



Figure 6.7. Phase contrast photomicrographs of day 16 NEBs following 7 days neuronal differentiation. NEBs were harvested, dissociated and plated on PLL/laminin substrate following 16 days in ADF+ with addition of 20ng/ml FGF2 from day 4. Following 7 days differentiation in neuronal differentiation medium cultures were fixed for analysis. Cultures did not appear overgrown as was the case with day 8 NEB differentiating cultures. Photomicrograph B is a higher powered image of A, as indicated by the box in A. Scale bars = $100 \mu m$ (A) and $50 \mu m$ (B).

Fluorescent immunocytochemistry of day 16 ES cell-derived neural precursors following 7 and 14 days in neuronal differentiation medium on PLL/laminin substrate, confirmed the presence of β -III-tubulin positive neurons and GFAP positive glia (Figure 6.8). Although there appeared to be proportionally fewer neurons at day 14 (21.20 ± 2.01%) than at day 7 (30.71 ± 4.89%) this did not prove to be statistically significant (day, t₅ = 2.95, p = n.s) (Figure 6.8). The proportion of GFAP-positive cells was significantly higher at day 14 (25.84 ± 2.24%) than at day 7 (14.92 ± 1.48%) (day, t₅ = 4.01, p<0.05).



Figure 6.8. Neuron and astrocyte yield from day 16 NEBs. NEBs following 16 days in neural induction medium were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate allowed to differentiate for 7 or 14 days in neuronal differentiation medium. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for β -III-tubulin, GFAP and Hoechst nuclear stain. β -III-tubulin and GFAP positive cells are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst cells. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. (*p<0.05).

Neuronal yield of day 16 NEBs was analysed under conditions previously used for induction of DARPP-32 in LGE cultures (Figure 6.9; A and B). Since the proportion of β -III-tubulin positive neurons is calculated as a percentage of total Hoechst cells, neuronal yield from NEBs plated on PLL/laminin substrate and those plated on top of LGE-derived glia is not directly compared because the total Hoechst cell count is not equal due to the presence/absence of the glia. When expression of DARPP-32 is calculated as a percentage of β -III-tubulin positive neurons, the two plating conditions can be compared.

There was no significant difference in the proportion of β -III-tubulin positive neurons when cultures were plated on PLL/laminin substrate, after 7 days differentiation without BDNF (30.71 ± 4.89%), 7 days with BDNF (30.58 ± 0.69%) 14 days without BDNF (21.20 ± 2.01%) and 14 days with BDNF (23.13 ± 3.39%) (treatment x day, F_{1,12} = 1.39, p = n.s) (Figure 6.9; A). There was also no significant difference in the proportion of β -III-tubulin positive neurons when cultures were plated on LGE-derived glia, after 7 days differentiation without BDNF (25.08 ± 7.67%), 7 days with BDNF (28.12 ± 3.56%) 14 days without BDNF (15.18 ±0.31%) and 14 days with BDNF (20.03 ± 2.24%) (treatment x day, F_{1,12} = 1.22, p = n.s) (Figure 6.9; B).



Figure 6.9. Neuronal yield from day 16 NEBs. NEBs following 16 days in neural induction medium were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate (A) or LGEderived glia (B). Cultures were allowed to differentiate for 7 or 14 days in neuronal differentiation medium in the presence or absence of 50ng/ml BDNF. Cultures were fixed and double-labelled for β -III-tubulin and Hoechst nuclear stain. β -III-tubulin positive cells are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst cells. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM.

Generation of striatal neurons from day 16 NEBs

Addition of low concentrations of the SHH agonist purmorphamine to ES cellderived neural precursor induction cultures resulted in a slight increase in expression of some ventral telencephalic markers; *Nkx2.1* and *Dlx2*, detailed in Chapter 5. In this chapter, 'purmorphamine treated' precursors have been subjected to the neuronal differentiation protocol in parallel with 'untreated' precursors, to determine if the untreated and treated precursors respond differently to the various neuronal differentiation treatments and generate different proportions of striatal neuronal phenotypes.

Since DARPP-32 expression has not previously been reported following *in vitro* neuronal differentiation of NEBs, GABA (the principal neurotransmitter of striatal MSNs), which has been demonstrated following *in vitro* neuronal differentiation of NEBs (see section 6.2), was included for additional analysis.

Expression of β -III-tubulin positive neurons was not significantly different in day 16 precursors following 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium, with respect to addition of purmorphamine to neural induction medium (purmorphamine, F_{1,12} = 0.11, p = n.s) or addition of BDNF to neuronal differentiation medium (BDNF, F_{1,12} = 0.14, p = n.s) (Figure 6.10; A). There was also no significant difference in expression of β -III-tubulin positive neurons in day 16 precursors following 14 days differentiation, with respect to addition of purmorphamine to neural induction medium (purmorphamine, F_{1,12} = 2.10, p = n.s) or addition of BDNF to neuronal differentiation medium (BDNF, F_{1,12} = 1.68, p = n.s) (Figure 6.10; D).

Fluorescent immunocytochemistry of day 16 ES cell-derived neural precursors following 7 and 14 days differentiation in neuronal differentiation medium on PLL/laminin substrate, revealed the presence of GABAergic neurons (Figure 6.10; B and E; and Figure 6.11). There was no significant difference in the proportion of GABA positive neurons as a percentage of β -III-tubulin neurons when cultures were plated on PLL/laminin substrate, after 7 days differentiation with respect to purmorphamine concentration (purmorphamine, $F_{1,12} = 0.09$, p = n.s) or differentiation treatment (BDNF, $F_{1,12} = 0.99$, p = n.s); untreated precursors without BDNF (62.75 ± 7.28%), purmorphamine treated precursors without BDNF (60.18 ± 6.95%), untreated precursors with BDNF (68.52 ± 3.82%) and purmorphamine treated precursors with BDNF (67.26 ± 7.10%) (Figure 6.10;B). There was also no significant difference in the proportion of GABA positive neurons when cultures were plated on PLL/laminin substrate and allowed to differentiate for 14 days, with respect to addition of purmorphamine (purmorphamine, $F_{1,12} = 0.35$, p = n.s) or differentiation treatment (BDNF, $F_{1,12} = 2.03$, p = n.s); untreated precursors without BDNF (57.42 ± 6.73%), purmorphamine treated precursors without BDNF (54.88 ± 7.05%), untreated precursors with BDNF (67.24 ± 4.51%) and purmorphamine treated precursors with BDNF (62.53 ± 5.92%) (Figure 6.10;E). The proportion of GABAergic positive neurons was not significantly different between the 7 day and 14 day neuronal differentiation cultures (day, $t_{21} = 0.99$, p = n.s).

Fluorescent immunocytochemistry of day 16 ES cell-derived neural precursors following 7 and 14 days differentiation in neuronal differentiation medium on PLL/laminin substrate, revealed the presence of β -III-tubulin positive neurons coexpressing DARPP-32 (Figure 6.10; C and F; and Figure 6.12). There was no significant difference in the proportion of DARPP-32 positive neurons as a percentage of β -III-tubulin neurons when cultures were plated on PLL/laminin substrate, after 7 days differentiation with respect to purmorphamine concentration (purmorphamine, $F_{1,12} = 0.28$, p = n.s) or differentiation treatment (BDNF, $F_{1,12} = 2.13$, p = n.s); untreated precursors without BDNF (4.16 \pm 1.77%), purmorphamine treated precursors without BDNF ($3.82 \pm 0.89\%$), untreated precursors with BDNF ($6.91 \pm$ 2.04%) and purmorphamine treated precursors with BDNF (5.60 \pm 1.24%) (Figure 6.10; C). There was also no significant difference in the proportion of DARPP-32 positive neurons when cultures were plated on PLL/laminin substrate and allowed to differentiate for 14 days, with respect to addition of purmorphamine (purmorphamine, $F_{1,12} = 0.65$, p = n.s) or differentiation treatment (BDNF, $F_{1,12} = 1.50$, p = n.s); untreated precursors without BDNF ($2.26 \pm 0.54\%$), purmorphamine treated precursors without BDNF (2.38 \pm 0.49%), untreated precursors with BDNF (6.42 \pm 2.76%) and purmorphamine treated precursors with BDNF ($3.58 \pm 1.85\%$) (Figure 6.10; F).



Figure 6.10. β -III-tubulin, GABA and DARPP-32 yield from day 16 NEBs. NEBs following 16 days in neural induction medium were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate and allowed to differentiate for 7 days (A, B and C) or 14 days (D, E and F). Neural induction cultures were untreated or treated with 0.5 μ M purmorphamine, and subsequent differentiation was in neuronal differentiation medium either untreated or with addition of 50ng/ml BDNF. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for β -III-tubulin, GABA and Hoechst nuclear stain, or β -III-tubulin, DARPP-32 and Hoechst nuclear stain. β -III-tubulin positive neurons are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst cells (A and D), GABA positive neurons are represented as a percentage of β -III-tubulin positive neurons (B and E) and DARPP-32 positive neurons are represented as a percentage of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM.



Figure 6.11. Photomicrographs showing expression of β-III-tubulin and GABA from day 16 NEBs following differentiation, using immuno-fluorescence. Since there was no significant difference in β-III-tubulin and GABA yield between cultures of the various treatments, this figure shows a representative selection of photomicrographs from some of the different culture conditions. NEBs following 16 days in neural induction medium were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate and allowed to differentiate for 7 days (A-H) or 14 days (I-P). Neural induction cultures were untreated or treated with 0.5µM purmorphamine, and subsequent differentiation was in neuronal differentiation medium either untreated or with addition of 50ng/ml BDNF. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for β-IIItubulin (red), GABA (green) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue). Untreated precursors without BDNF for 7 days (A-D); untreated precursors with addition of BDNF for 7 days (E-H); untreated precursors without BDNF for 14 days (I-L); 0.5µM purmorphamine treated precursors with addition of BDNF for 14 days (M-P). Arrows (D, H, L and P) indicate cells co-expressing β-III-tubulin and GABA. Scale bars = 50µm.

Chapter 6

in vitro differentiation



Figure 6.12. Photomicrographs showing expression of β-III-tubulin and DARPP-32 from day 16 NEBs following differentiation, using immuno-fluorescence. Since there was no significant difference in β-III-tubulin and DARPP-32 yield between cultures of the various treatments, this figure shows a representative selection of photomicrographs from some of the different culture conditions. NEBs following 16 days in neural induction medium were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate and allowed to differentiate for 7 days (A-H) or 14 days (I-P). Neural induction cultures were untreated or treated with 0.5μM purmorphamine, and subsequent differentiation was in neuronal differentiation medium either untreated or with addition of 50ng/ml BDNF. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for β-III-tubulin (green), DARPP-32 (red) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue). Untreated precursors without BDNF for 7 days (A-D); 0.5μM purmorphamine treated precursors with addition of BDNF for 14 days (I-L); 0.5μM purmorphamine treated precursors with addition of BDNF for 14 days (I-L); 0.5μM purmorphamine treated precursors with addition of BDNF for 14 days (I-L); 0.5μM purmorphamine treated precursors with addition of BDNF for 14 days (M-P). Arrows (D, H, L and P) indicate cells co-expressing β-III-tubulin and DARPP-32. Scale bars = 50μm.

Expression of FoxP1 was analysed in day 16 precursors with and without purmorphamine addition to neural induction medium, and with and without BDNF addition to subsequent neuronal differentiation cultures (Figure 6.13 and 6.14). Fluorescent immunocytochemistry demonstrated co-expression of FoxP1 and DARPP-32 in day 16 NEBs following 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium (Figure 6.14). There was no significant difference in the proportion of FoxP1 positive cells yielded when day 16 precursors, with or without purmorphamine, were plated on PLL/laminin substrate and differentiated for 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium with or without BDNF, with respect to addition of purmorphamine (purmorphamine, $F_{1,12} = 0.29$, p = n.s) or addition of BDNF (BDNF, $F_{1,12} = 1.34$, p = n.s); untreated precursors without BDNF (16.89 ± 0.81%), purmorphamine treated precursors without BDNF (22.25 ± 2.14%), untreated precursors with BDNF (24.10 ± 2.91%) and purmorphamine treated precursors with BDNF (21.92 ± 4.65%) (Figure 6.13; A).

There was no significant difference in the proportion of DARPP-32 positive neurons yielded, as a percentage of FoxP1 positive cells, when day 16 precursors, with or without addition of purmorphamine, were plated on PLL/laminin substrate and differentiated for a further 7 days in neuronal differentiation medium with or without BDNF, with respect to addition of purmorphamine (purmorphamine, $F_{1,12} =$ 2.94, p = n.s) or addition of BDNF (BDNF, $F_{1,12} = 2.64$, p = n.s); untreated precursors without BDNF (2.04 ± 0.81%), untreated precursors with BDNF (3.14 ± 0.65%), purmorphamine treated precursors without BDNF (3.19 ± 0.58%) and purmorphamine treated precursors with BDNF (5.67 ± 2.29%) (Figure 6.13; B).

A summary of the neuronal expression in LGE-derived neurons and day 16 NEBs following neuronal differentiation under the various culture conditions is shown in Appendix 7.



Figure 6.13. FoxP1 and DARPP-32 expression in day 16 NEBs. NEBs following 16 days in neural induction medium were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate and allowed to differentiate for 7 days (A and B). Neural induction cultures were untreated or treated with 0.5μ M purmorphamine, and subsequent differentiation was in neuronal differentiation medium either untreated or with addition of 50ng/ml BDNF. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for FoxP1, DARPP-32 and Hoechst nuclear stain. FoxP1 positive cells are represented as a percentage of total Hoechst cells (A) and DARPP-32 positive neurons are represented as a percentage of FoxP1 positive cells (B). Each bar on the graphs represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM.



Figure 6.14. Photomicrographs showing expression of FoxP1 and DARPP-32 from day 16 NEBs following differentiation, using immuno-fluorescence. Since there was no significant difference in FoxP1 and DARPP-32 yield between cultures of the various treatments, this figure shows a representative selection of photomicrographs from some of the different culture conditions. NEBs following 16 days in neural induction medium were harvested, dissociated and plated onto PLL/laminin substrate and allowed to differentiate for 7 days (A-H) or 14 days (I-P). Neural induction cultures were untreated or treated with 0.5μ M purmorphamine, and subsequent differentiation was in neuronal differentiation medium either untreated or with addition of 50 ng/ml BDNF. Cultures were fixed and triple-labelled for FoxP1 (green), DARPP-32 (red) and Hoechst nuclear stain (blue). Untreated precursors without BDNF for 7 days (A-D); 0.5μ M purmorphamine treated precursors with addition of BDNF for 7 days (E-H); untreated precursors without BDNF for 14 days (I-L); 0.5μ M purmorphamine treated precursors without BDNF for 14 days (I-L); 0.5μ M purmorphamine treated precursors without BDNF for 14 days (I-L); 0.5μ M purmorphamine treated precursors (D, H, L and P) indicate cells co-expressing FoxP1 and DARPP-32, and insets (D, H, L and P) show higher magnifications of double-labelled cells. Scale bars = 50μ m.

6.5 Discussion

DARPP-32 expression in LGE-derived neurons

The commitment of striatal projection neurons to the patch or matrix compartment of the striatum is related to the embryonic stage at which neurons are generated (van der Kooy and Fishell, 1987). The early-born neurons (by E12 in the mouse) are destined to the patch compartment whereas the mid to late-born neurons (by E15-16 in the mouse) populate the matrix compartment (van der Kooy and Fishell, 1987). The two compartments emerge clearly *in vivo* at P0-2 (Passante et al., 2008). MSNs are found in both the patch and matrix striatal compartments and therefore include a combination of early and mid to late-born neurons. Peak production of MSNs is at E15 (Marchand et al., 1986), but DARPP-32 is not expressed until later. DARPP-32 expression in the mouse is detected at low levels at P0, with an increase to adult levels over the first four post-natal weeks (Ehrlich et al., 1990).

The LGE is the origin of the DARPP-32 positive MSNs found in the adult striatum. When mouse E14 LGE was differentiated *in vitro* for 7 days, in the presence of FCS and B27, the proportion of neurons that expressed DARPP-32 was shown to increase by nearly 3 times with the addition of 50ng/ml BDNF when compared with untreated differentiation cultures. Since there was no increase in the total neuron number, as determined by β -III-tubulin expression, the BDNF-induced increase in DARPP-32 positive neurons appears to be specific and not just due to an overall enrichment of neuronal differentiation. BDNF has previously been reported to exert a dose-dependent survival effect on DARPP-32-positive neurons derived from embryonic rat striatum (Nakao et al., 1995), and in mouse primary striatal cultures, addition of 100ng/ml BDNF to serum-free culture medium resulted in a 4-fold increase in DARPP-32 expression after 24 hours (Ivkovic et al., 1997).

In the neuronal differentiation culture system applied here, addition of RA to LGE differentiation cultures did not result in an increase in DARPP-32 expression. When both BDNF and RA were added concomitantly, there was a slight increase in DARPP-32 expression when compared with untreated cultures, however, this was only half that seen in cultures treated with BDNF alone. This was not consistent with

a previous study, also using mouse LGE at E13.5, which reported that addition of exogenous RA (10nm and 1 μ M) to LGE-derived neuronal cultures resulted in an increase in DARPP-32 expression which was twice that of untreated control cultures (Toresson et al., 1999). In contrast to the neuronal differentiation medium employed in this study, Toresson et al used serum-free differentiation medium, in order to exclude the effects of undefined growth factors present at varying levels in FCS, including retinol. This might be one explanation for the different responses of LGE cultures following addition of exogenous RA. Retinyl acetate is also a component of the growth supplement B-27, which is added to neuronal differentiation medium in this study and aids survival of neurons in culture, but is absent from the other differentiation protocols mentioned (Nakao et al., 1995; Ivkovic et al., 1997; Toresson et al., 1999). In our study we were interested in optimising the DARPP-32 output from the neuronal differentiation, we used this as our baseline system for expression of striatal markers.

The effect of BDNF on DARPP-32 expression in E14 mouse LGE neuronal cultures might be to induce neurons to become DARPP-32 positive, since we, and others (Nakao et al., 1995; Ivkovic et al., 1997) demonstrate an increase in DARPP-32 positive neurons following BDNF addition to LGE neuronal cultures. Nakao et al also reported that BDNF acted as a survival factor for DARPP-32 positive neurons (Nakao et al., 1995). Another possibility is that BDNF might decrease the time taken for DARPP-32 to be 'switched on' in those neurons whose fates are already specified to become DARPP-32 positive neurons. Our results would favour the latter hypothesis, since longer-term neuronal differentiation of LGE cultures, up to 14 days, in untreated neuronal differentiation medium resulted in 3 times more DARPP-32-expressing neurons than LGE cultures that were differentiated for 7 days. DARPP-32 expression yielded from untreated LGE cultures differentiated for 14 days, was only slightly higher than BDNF treated LGE cultures differentiated for 7 days. When BDNF was added to LGE cultures that were differentiated for 14 days, there was no difference in DARPP-32 between untreated cultures differentiated for the same time. This suggests that in this neuronal differentiation system, BDNF reduces the differentiation time of DARPP-32 positive neurons in LGE cultures.

Differentiation of LGE-derived neurons in homotopic co-culture on LGEderived glial cells resulted in increased DARPP-32 expression following 7 days

differentiation when compared with LGE-derived neurons differentiated on PLL/laminin substrate for the same period of time. When LGE-derived neurons were differentiated in LGE-derived glia co-culture for 14 days, there was no difference in DARPP-32 expression compared with 7 days differentiation in co-culture. In our study, there was a two-fold increase in DARPP-32 positive neurons following 7 days differentiation in co-culture (up to 8%) compared with differentiation on substrate. Skogh and Campbell reported 10-15% DARPP-32 positive neurons following 7 days in co-culture and noted a decrease in DARPP-32 yield with higher passage numbers of LGE-derived glia prior to co-culture (Skogh and Campbell, 2003). This suggests that glial cells are releasing different factors or different levels of factors following different periods of time in culture. Although differentiation of LGE cultures on PLL/laminin substrate for 14 days yielded significantly more DARPP-32 positive neurons than those differentiated for 7 days, the differentiation cultures at day 14 were not consistently healthy in appearance and therefore not reliable for subsequent immuno-fluorescent analysis. This might suggest that the in vitro neuronal differentiation culture system used here is not (always) favourable for long-term differentiation of mouse striatal cultures.

In the CNS, glial cells release soluble factors and signal to neurons regulating neuronal activity. *In vitro*, glia-derived factors have been shown to be important for the development of synapses (Pfrieger and Barres, 1997; Vicario-Abejon et al., 1998; Blondel et al., 2000). Factors such as BDNF and neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) have been shown to regulate synaptogenesis in hippocampal cultures, and these factors do not require the presence of glia to act on neurons (Song et al., 1997).

In vitro studies using organotypic cultures looking at development of striatal neurons and the formation of the patch compartment of the striatum have suggested that the cortex provides signals to the developing striatum, and the corticostriatal afferents might be necessary for correct development of the early-born striatal neurons (Snyder-Keller et al., 2001; Snyder-Keller, 2004; Snyder-Keller et al., 2008). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that the stage of development of the cortical neurons is important for the maturation of striatal neurons (Snyder-Keller, 2004; Snyder-Keller, 2004; Snyder-Keller, 2004; Snyder-Keller, 2004; Snyder-Keller, 2004; Snyder-Keller, 2004; Snyder-Keller, 2004; Snyder-Keller et al., 2008). Thus a co-culture system of LGE-derived neurons or NEBs, with neurons from the developing cortex or ventral mesencephalon might prove beneficial in increasing the proportion of striatal projections neurons within cultures.

Since DARPP-32 is a marker of mature striatal MSNs, it would be useful to identify a reliable marker of MSN precursor cells. FoxP1 was identified as a potential candidate following a screen to analyse up-regulation of striatal genes during embryonic development (Kelly et al., in preparation). Further analysis using RT-PCR, in situ hybridization and fluorescent immunocytochemistry on developing mouse striatum, revealed that FoxP1 is expressed in the striatum and is upregulated from E12 through to E16 by 6 fold, with expression maintained through to adulthood (Kelly et al., in preparation; Ferland et al., 2003). Immunofluorescence shown here demonstrates that FoxP1 and DARPP-32 are co-expressed in mature striatal neurons. Neuronal differentiation of LGE cultures showed no significant difference in FoxP1 expression when cultures were untreated or treated with BDNF, but expression of DARPP-32 positive neurons, as a percentage of FoxP1 cells, was increased with addition of BDNF. Expression of FoxP1 in MSNs, both prior to their expression of DARPP-32 and then concomitantly with their expression of DARPP-32, suggests that in the 7 day differentiation period of LGE-derived neurons, BDNF does not induce cells to become striatal precursors, but simply pushes the striatal precursors which are already present to express DARPP-32.

Neuronal differentiation of day 16 NEBs

ES cell-derived neural precursors subjected to 16 days in neural induction medium followed by a further period in neuronal differentiation medium as a monolayer culture, are shown to generate neurons, among other cell types. To date there is no literature in mouse which assesses the neuronal analysis of these neural precursors with the aim to generate DARPP-32 positive MSNs *in vitro*. When day 16 neural precursor cultures are allowed to differentiate on PLL/laminin substrate for 7 and 14 days they generate β -III-tubulin positive neurons along with GFAP positive glia. There was significantly more GFAP expression at day 14 than at day 7, but the proportion of β -III-tubulin positive neurons (Bouhon et al., 2005; Dihne et al., 2006) and, with longer-term differentiation up to 14 days, GFAP positive glia (Bouhon et al., 2005). Later stage neural precursors at day 20 have also been reported to generate β -III-tubulin positive neurons as well as GFAP-positive cells and oligodendrocytes (Bouhon et al., 2006). It has been proposed that ES cell-derived

neural precursors undergo a transition period from early stage 'neurogenic' to late stage 'gliogeneic' precursors (Bouhon et al., 2006).

The neuronal yield of day 16 neural precursors did not change when cultures were differentiated on PLL/laminin for 7 and 14 days with and without the addition of BDNF. There was also no difference in neuronal yield when cultures were differentiated on LGE-derived glia for 7 and 14 days with and without the addition of BDNF. As with LGE cultures, there was variable consistency in generation of healthy cultures that could be taken forward for further analysis, following long-term differentiation of neural precursors for 14 days.

The previous chapter looked at generating a greater proportion of ventral telencephalic precursors within the neural precursor population, as a way to attempt to increase mature striatal neurons following subsequent terminal differentiation. Addition of low concentrations of the SHH agonist purmorphamine resulted in a marginal increase in Nkx2.1 and Dlx1/2 expression of day 16 neural precursors. These purmorphamine treated neural precursors, along with untreated neural precursors, have been subjected to the neuronal differentiation protocol that was applied to the LGE-derived neurons to assess whether or not DARPP-32 expression can be generated from the neuronal population.

Neuronal yield was not changed between the different conditions of neural induction or neuronal differentiation, and within the neuronal population, there was no effect on the expression of DARPP-32 or GABA. The percentage of β -III-tubulin positive neurons that co-expressed GABA was about 60%, which is similar to that previously reported following 7 days differentiation of day 8 neural precursors, where 55% of β -III-tubulin positive neurons expressed GABA (Bouhon et al., 2006). Terminal differentiation of human ES cell-derived neural precursors resulted in the generation of neuronal cells, 36% of which co-expressed GABA and 53% of which co-expressed DARPP-32 (Aubry et al., 2008). Assessment of the novel striatal marker FoxP1 revealed that there was no difference in expression between the different culture conditions and there was also no difference in the proportion of cells that co-expressed FoxP1 and DARPP-32 in the day 16 neural precursors.

It appears that the day 16 neural precursors are not responsive to BDNF in the same way as the LGE-derived neurons. The heterogeneous nature of the ES cellderived neural precursor cultures might make it difficult to see an effect on a specific cell type, and there might be an effect on other cell lineages that are present. The

in vitro differentiation

LGE-derived neurons have been pre-specified in the developing brain to become striatal cells whereas the ES cell-derived neural precursors have undergone only limited specification. It is possible that the neural precursors are not at the optimal stage required for responsiveness to certain inductive cues. Results presented in this chapter also indicate the differences between cultures, where cell counts show wide variation, due to heterogeneity and differences in the proportions of cell lineages within cultures, which results in large error bars and in turn influences the statistical significance of findings.

In this study the immature neuronal marker β -III-tubulin was used. The use of more mature neuronal markers such as MAP2A, NeuN and neurofilament, in conjunction with β -III-tubulin would allow assessment of the maturity of the cultures. One explanation for the differences between LGE-derived neurons and day 16 NEB-derived neurons in their response to factors such as BDNF, other than the heterogeneity of cells present in the NEB cultures, might be the degree of maturity of the neural cells. Data in Chapter 5 demonstrating the lower expression of dorsoventral markers in NEBs compared with LGE or MGE, suggested that NEBs were not at the same developmental stage as the developing striatum. The data in this chapter revealing lower FoxP1 expression in NEBs and also lower ratio of DARPP-32:FoxP1 double-labelled cells suggest that NEBs are immature in comparison to the cells of the developing striatum.

The next step will be to explore the effects of the conditions applied here within a population of forebrain or, more specifically, ventral telencephalic-like cells derived from ES cells. Generation of a pure population of cells using cell-sorting techniques would enable determination of direct responses of these specific cells to the different conditions.

Conclusions

Work presented in this chapter demonstrates the potential of ES cell-derived neural precursors to differentiate into various striatal phenotypes. The expression of DARPP-32 positive neurons, from day 16 NEBs following neuronal differentiation, albeit at a low percentage of total neurons and therefore an even lower percentage of the total cell population, demonstrates the potential of these cells to generate the desired mature phenotype, MSN, which is encouraging. However, the presence of true, mature MSNs needs to be confirmed with other markers, including markers

165

in vitro differentiation

which demonstrate the presence of more mature neurons. Differentiation of the LGEderived neurons suggests that if an LGE-like population of precursors can be generated from ES cells, there is the potential to increase the DARPP-32 yield from NEBs, however this likely requires further directed differentiation of NEBs in the neural induction culture prior to neuronal differentiation both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Since DARPP-32 positive neurons were generated from NEBs *in vitro*, the next chapter will analyse NEBs produced using the same protocol, following transplantation into the adult mouse lesioned striatum. In the *in vivo* host environment NEBs will have access to additional diffusible and contact factors that may prove important in further specifying and directing cells towards the mature neuronal phenotype.

Chapter 7

in vivo characterisation of NEBs (allograft model)

7.1 Summary

Neural transplantation of NEBs into the QA lesioned striatum was reported in Chapter 4, using a xenograft paradigm (mouse-to-rat). In Chapter 4, NEBs derived using standard neuralising conditions were insufficient to produce striatal-like grafts following in vivo differentiation. Subsequent chapters attempted to further direct cells and resulted in some expression of DARPP-32 in vitro. This chapter applies information gained from previous chapters, comparing transplantation of NEBs (day 16 untreated or purmorphamine treated) and E14 mouse striatum (LGE, MGE and WGE) into the mouse host brain. Allografts offer the potential for donor cells to develop in a same-species environment, which might also enhance their responsiveness to host signals by providing species-specific signals. Six and twelve weeks post-transplantation no teratomas were detected in the NEB grafts and there was no significant difference in graft volume between any group. Grafts were small with a notable presence of dead cells. NEB donor cells contained the LacZ reporter gene to allow for post-transplantation identification of Foxg1 positive cells (as used in Chapter 4). Neither the antibody against β -galactosidase nor the X-gal reaction detected any positive cells in the NEB-derived grafts. All analysis was carried out using Nissl staining to mark the graft area, and without being able to positively identify cells as graft or host-derived, counts represent cell numbers present within this area. Grafts were analysed for neuronal phenotype, in particular striatal neurons. There was no significant difference in NeuN positive cells within the graft area of NEB-derived or E14-derived grafts at both 6 and 12 weeks post-transplantation. DARPP-32 expression was not significantly different between groups at 6 weeks, but at 12 weeks there were significantly more DARPP-32 positive neurons in WGEderived grafts compared with untreated day 16 NEB grafts. There was no significant difference in FoxP1, parvalbumin and calbindin expression between transplant groups at both survival time points, suggesting no difference between NEB-derived and E14derived grafts. Assessment of the mouse striatum as a viable host for transplantation needs to be addressed, and identification of all donor cells in a systematic study would help to give a clearer indication of what is happening to donor cells posttransplantation.

7.2 Introduction

In Chapter 4 of this thesis, mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors following 8 and 16 days in neural induction medium, were grafted into the QA-lesioned rat striatum. Following transplantation the day 8 NEB grafts developed teratomas and analysis for this group was performed earlier than anticipated, at 2 weeks post-transplantation. The day 16 NEB grafts, at 6 weeks post-transplantation, generated grafts which comprised a heterogeneous mix of cells including cells of neuronal lineage, some of which expressed calbindin and parvalbumin, however there was no DARPP-32 expression in Foxg1-positive donor-derived cells, as identified using an antibody against β -galactosidase to detect the *LacZ* reporter gene. Chapter 5 attempted further directed differentiation of NEBs looking at the effect of SHH on expression of markers of the ventral telencephalon. Addition of the SHH agonist purmorphamine at low concentrations (0.5 μ M) resulted in increased expression of the ventral markers *Nkx2.1* and *Dlx2*. In this chapter, day 16 NEBs were transplanted with or without the addition of 0.5 μ M purmorphamine.

Since mouse-to-rat grafts are a xenograft paradigm there was the requirement for immunosuppression in the form of daily administration of CsA to prevent graft rejection. Allograft studies bypass the need for immunosuppression, allowing for longer-term survival post-transplantation and eliminating confounding factors such as slow, ongoing immune rejection. There is also the potential for donor cells to be receptive to species-specific signals and thus develop more thoroughly.

Currently, the assessment of allograft studies prior to the translation of human ES cells to clinical trials can only be performed in the mouse or monkey paradigm, since rat ES cell lines, which have only recently been established, are still undergoing development (Buehr et al., 2008; Li et al., 2008). The mouse-to mouse system is more readily accessible to researchers than the monkey-to-monkey system, with the potential to use larger transplant cohorts, the development of various mouse models of HD, and for functional analysis, there are numerous behavioural tests which have been optimised in mice, including those that reveal deficits in HD mice genetic models, and would therefore be useful when attempting to demonstrate improvements following transplantation.

Transplantation of mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors into mouse models of HD has not been widely reported. Dihne et al (2006) transplanted mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors at different stages during neural precursor induction, into the QA-lesioned mouse striatum. Differences in the expression of nestin (neural precursor marker), BrdU (marker of dividing cells) and β -III-tubulin (immature neuronal marker) prior to transplantation, resulted in generation of macroscopically different grafts. In precursor populations with relatively high expression of nestin (>95%) and BrdU (42%), and low β -III-tubulin expression (<3%), there was a much greater risk of tumour formation, with graft volume up to 26mm³. When nestin and BrdU expression were lower (14% and 6%, respectively), and β -III-tubulin expression was higher (76%) there was no tumour formation at 16 weeks post-transplantation (Dihne et al., 2006).

Transplantation of E13-14 mouse LGE into the striatum of the R6/2 transgenic mouse model of HD resulted in graft survival following 6 weeks post-transplantation, with limited integration and only marginal improvements in the behavioural phenotype (Dunnett et al., 1998). The authors reported that grafts in the transgenic striatum behaved similarly to those in the control striatum, suggesting that the transgenic host environment is able to accommodate the introduction of donor cells.

Work in our group looking at striatal graft projections has shown that grafts derived from expanded mouse neural precursors generate more axonal projections than those grafts derived from E14 mouse primary foetal striatum (Kelly et al., 2007). This study reported 94% graft survival in mouse-to-mouse grafts in the unilateral QA-lesion model. Graft volumes were not significantly different between mouse foetal primary cells and mouse expanded neural precursors, $(0.80 \pm 0.09 \text{ mm}^3 \text{ and } 0.88 \pm 0.87 \text{ mm}^3$, respectively). However, long-term expanded neural precursors, of both mouse and human origin, exhibit reduced neurogenic potential compared to short-term expanded neural precursors (Anderson et al., 2007) and reduced survival following long-term post-transplantation time points (Zietlow et al., 2005).

In this chapter mice with unilateral striatal QA lesions received transplants of (i) day 16 NEBs untreated, (ii) day 16 NEBs purmorphamine treated, (iii) E14 mouse LGE, (iv) E14 mouse MGE or (v) E14 mouse WGE, and were allowed to survive post-transplantation for 6 or 12 weeks. Morphological analysis was carried out, including assessment of graft volume, and more detailed analysis of phenotype looking in particular at striatal cell type was performed and compared between transplant groups.

169
7.3 Experimental Procedures

ES cell culture

The mouse ES cell line Foxg1-lacZ was used in this study. NEBs were derived from Foxg1Z mouse ES cells as described in Chapter 2. Briefly, ES cells were transferred from ES cell culture medium to ADF+ medium at a density of 50,000 cells per ml, medium was replaced every 2 days and 20ng/ml FGF2 was added from day 4. Neural induction cultures were untreated (ADF+ plus 20ng/ml FGF2 from day 4) or treated with the SHH agonist purmorphamine (ADF+ plus 20ng/ml FGF2 and 0.5µM purmorphamine from day 4) prior to transplantation. On day 16 NEBs were harvested, incubated in accutase and a single-cell suspension was generated (see section 2.1.4). Cells were counted using a haemocytometer and viability was determined using trypan blue exclusion.

Dissection and dissociation of mouse E14 LGE, MGE and WGE

The three striatal dissections were used because of the differences in gene expression of the LGE and MGE regions, and the subsequent differences in neuronal phenotypes which originate in the two regions.

LGE, MGE and WGE were dissected from E14 C57Bl6/J mouse forebrain and dissociated to generate a single-cell suspension, as described in Chapter 2. Briefly, tissue was incubated in trypsin and DNAse for 20 minutes at 37° C followed by a further 5 minute incubation in trypsin inhibitor. Tissue was then washed in DMEM/F-12, centrifuged at 1000rpm for 3 minutes, the remaining pellet was resuspended in 200µl DMEM/F-12 and triturated 10-15 times to generate a single-cell suspension which was counted, and viability was determined using trypan blue exclusion.

Neural transplantation

Adult female C57Bl6/J mice received a unilateral QA lesion of the right striatum. Two weeks after lesioning mice received transplants of: (*i*) day 16 Foxg1Z NEBs untreated (FGF2 alone) (n = 8), (*ii*) day 16 Foxg1Z NEBs purmorphamine treated (FGF2 and purmorphamine) (n = 8), (*iii*) LGE (n = 8), (*iv*) MGE (n = 8) and (*v*) WGE (n = 8), into the lesioned striatum. Lesions and grafts were carried out as described previously in Chapter 2.

Histology and Immunohistochemistry

At 6 and 12 weeks post-transplantation animals were transcardially perfused and brains were taken for histological analysis. Brains were sectioned coronally on the freezing-stage microtome at 40 μ m. 1:12 series' were processed for Nissl staining using cresyl violet, histochemical staining for AChE, and further 1:12 series' were processed for immunohistochemistry with anti- β -galactosidase (1:1000), anti-NeuN (1:4000), anti-DARPP-32 (1:10,000) (a gift from Paul Greengard), anti-FoxP1 (1:500), anti-calbindin (1:20,000) and anti-parvalbumin (1:4000).

The immunohistochemical staining protocol was the same for each antibody, as described in Chapter 2. Antibody staining was visualised using the Vector SG kit, and to determine graft area in stained sections, a Nissl stain was performed using cresyl violet, since neither β -galactosidase nor X-gal were detected.

Controls were carried out in parallel, where the primary antibody was omitted from the procedure.

Quantification and Statistical analysis

Cells expressing markers of interest were counted using a Leitz light microscope and stereology software. Graft volume was determined as described in Chapter 2.

Statistical analyses were performed using two-sample t-tests and one-way ANOVA with Tukey-Kramer *post-hoc* comparisons when appropriate, using Minitab 15 software.

7.4 Results

Graft survival and morphology

NEBs were cultured in neural induction medium and at day 4 addition of either 20ng/ml FGF2 alone (day 16 NEBs untreated), or 20ng/ml FGF2 and 0.5μ M purmorphamine (day 16 NEBs purmorphamine treated) (see Chapter 5), which was then maintained to day 16 when NEBs were harvested for transplantation. E14 mouse LGE, MGE and WGE were dissected, dissociated and transplanted as primary tissue, without expansion. Adult mice received unilateral QA lesions to the right striatum and two weeks later day 16 NEBs or E14 mouse striatal cells were transplanted into the lesion site. Prior to transplantation cell viability was determined using the trypan blue exclusion method: (*i*) day 16 NEBs untreated 80.99%; (*ii*) day 16 NEBs purmorphamine treated 78.85%; (*iii*) E14 mouse LGE 91.05%; (*iv*) E14 mouse MGE 92.19% and (*v*) E14 mouse WGE 91.18%. Grafts were allowed to survive for 6 and 12 weeks post-transplantation.

Nissl staining using cresyl violet revealed the presence of very small, pencillike grafts in all transplant groups at 6 weeks (Figure 7.1) and 12 weeks (Figure 7.2) post-transplantation. Grafted tissue can be identified by increased density in Nissl staining in the right striatum. The QA lesion resulted in enlargement of the right ventricle caused by cell death in the lesioned striatum. Higher power images of Nissl staining further demonstrated the small grafts and revealed the notable presence of dead cells within the graft areas (Figure 7.3). Graft volume was estimated using graft area as determined by Nissl staining (Figure 7.4), but there was no significant difference between groups at 6 weeks ($F_{4,20} = 0.68$, p = n.s.) or 12 weeks ($F_{4,19} = 1.79$, p = n.s.). There were also no significant differences between the two survival time points for each group; day 16 NEBs untreated ($t_7 = 0.12$, p = n.s.); day 16 NEBs purmorphamine treated ($t_7 = 0.71$, p = n.s.); E14 mouse LGE ($t_7 = 1.08$, p = n.s.); E14 mouse MGE ($t_7 = 0.18$, p = n.s.) and E14 mouse WGE ($t_6 = 0.57$, p = n.s.).

Interestingly, however, combining the transplant groups to make two groups (day 16 NEBs versus E14 mouse) for analysis of graft volume revealed a significant difference, with E14 mouse derived grafts $(1.00 \pm 0.15 \text{ mm}^3)$ generating significantly bigger grafts than day 16 NEB derived grafts $(0.52 \pm 0.08 \text{ mm}^3)$ (t₃₉ = 2.41, p<0.05) (Figure 7.5).

in vivo characterisation of NEBs (allografts)



Figure 7.1. Coronal sections of Nissl staining, using cresyl violet, at 6 weeks posttransplantation of transplant groups: Day 16 untreated NEBs (A), Day 16 purmorphamine treated NEBs (B), E14 mouse LGE (C), E14 mouse MGE (D), E14 mouse WGE (E) and QA lesion only (F), in mouse striatum. Grafted tissue is identified by increased density in staining in the right striatum. One representative brain per group is shown in each row, and left to right shows anterior to posterior positioning in the brain. Red dotted lines outline graft area. Scale bars = 500μ m. Abbreviations: purm – purmorphamine; LGE – lateral ganglionic eminence; MGE – medial ganglionic eminence; WGE – whole ganglionic eminence.



Figure 7.2. Coronal sections of Nissl staining, using cresyl violet, at 12 weeks posttransplantation of transplant groups: Day 16 untreated NEBs (A), Day 16 purmorphamine treated NEBs (B), E14 mouse LGE (C), E14 mouse MGE (D) and E14 mouse WGE (E), in mouse striatum. Grafted tissue is identified by increased density in staining in the right striatum. One representative brain per group is shown in each row, and left to right shows anterior to posterior positioning in the brain. Red dotted lines outline graft area. Scale bars = 500μ m. Abbreviations: purm – purmorphamine; LGE – lateral ganglionic eminence; MGE – medial ganglionic eminence; WGE – whole ganglionic eminence.

Figure 7.3 (overleaf). Photomicrographs showing higher power images of Nissl staining at 6 weeks (A-E) and 12 week (F-J) post-transplantation following transplants of day 16 NEBs or E14 mouse tissue, into the QA-lesioned mouse striatum. There was a notable presence of dead cells within the grafts (seen as brown cells). Scale bars = 200μ m. Abbreviations: purm – purmorphamine; LGE – lateral ganglionic eminence; MGE – medial ganglionic eminence; WGE – whole ganglionic eminence.





Estimate of graft volume

Figure 7.4. Graft volumes were estimated using areas determined with Nissl staining. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 4 different animals and error bars represent SEM. Abbreviations: purm – purmorphamine; LGE – lateral ganglionic eminence; MGE – medial ganglionic eminence; WGE – whole ganglionic eminence.



Figure 7.5. Estimation of graft volumes of combined transplant groups. Day 16 NEBs includes day 16 NEBs untreated and day 16 NEBs purmorphamine treated grafts at 6 and 12 weeks survival (n = 16); E14 mouse includes LGE, MGE and WGE grafts at 6 and 12 weeks survival (n = 23). Bars on the graph represent mean graft volumes for the combined groups and error bars represent SEM. (*p<0.05).

F

Neuronal analysis of grafts

The day 16 NEB donor cells were derived from the Foxg1Z mouse ES cell line and therefore contained the *LacZ* reporter gene, which would enable posttransplantation identification of Foxg1 positive cells (as in Chapter 4). However, in this instance, neither the antibody against β -galactosidase nor the X-gal histochemical reaction resulted in detection of any positive cells in the NEB-derived grafts. All analysis was therefore carried out using Nissl staining to mark the graft area, and without being able to positively identify cells as graft or host derived, counts represent cell numbers present within this area.

Grafts were analysed for expression of the neuronal marker NeuN (Figure 7.6; A-F and Figure 7.7). NeuN positive cells were seen within the graft areas of those grafts derived from day 16 NEBs and E14 mouse striatum (Figure 7.6; A-F). There was no significant difference in NeuN expression within grafts between transplant groups at 6 weeks ($F_{4,20} = 1.24$, p = n.s.) or 12 weeks ($F_{4,20} = 0.47$, p = n.s.) post-transplantation.

Grafts were further analysed for striatal markers DARPP-32, FoxP1, parvalbumin and calbindin (Figure 7.6 and 7.7). DARPP-32 positive neurons were rarely seen within the graft areas of day 16 NEB-derived grafts, with immuno-positive cells detected at the graft periphery (Figure 7.6; G-L). E14 mouse striatum-derived grafts exhibited more frequent DARPP-32 positive neurons within the grafted area than the day 16 NEB-derived grafts, and there were almost no DARPP-32 positive cells detected in the lesion area of the QA-lesion only brains. Expression of DARPP-32 was not significantly different between transplant groups at 6 weeks post-transplantation ($F_{4,20} = 0.21$, p = n.s.), but there was a significant difference between transplant groups at 12 weeks post-transplantation ($F_{4,19} = 4.05$, p<0.05) (Figure 7.8; A). *Post-hoc* comparisons revealed a significant difference between grafts from day 16 untreated NEBs and grafts from E14 mouse WGE.

FoxP1 expression was detected in grafts derived from both day 16 NEBs and E14 mouse striatum (Figure 7.6; M-R). FoxP1 immuno-positive cells were occasionally seen within the lesion only site, and the presence of large numbers of FoxP1 positive cells clearly marked the boundary of the QA lesion. Expression of FoxP1 was not significantly different between transplant groups at 6 weeks ($F_{4,20} = 0.17$, p = n.s.) or 12 weeks ($F_{4,19} = 0.54$, p = n.s.) post-transplantation (Figure 7.8; B).

Chapter 7

Parvalbumin positive cells were detected within the grafted area of all transplant groups, and were occasionally seen within the lesion area of the QA lesion only brains (Figure 7.6; S-X). Expression of parvalbumin was not significantly different between transplant groups at 6 weeks ($F_{4,20} = 0.08$, p = n.s.) or 12 weeks ($F_{4,19} = 0.80$, p = n.s.) post-transplantation (Figure 7.8; C); and the same was true for calbindin expression; 6 weeks ($F_{4,20} = 0.21$, p = n.s.) and 12 weeks ($F_{4,19} = 0.33$, p = n.s.) (Figure 7.8; D).

Since the graft sizes were so small AChE staining failed to show any patchmatrix structure and did not demonstrate any differences between transplant groups (Figure 7.10).

When transplant groups were combined (day 16 NEBs versus E14 mouse), there was no significant difference in expression of NeuN positive cells, due to high standard deviation within the day 16 NEB graft group ($t_{34} = 0.90$, p = n.s.) (Figure 7.10). There was also no significant difference in expression of FoxP1 ($t_{37} = 0.51$, p = n.s.), parvalbumin ($t_{38} = 0.53$, p = n.s.) and calbindin ($t_{37} = 0.67$, p = n.s.) between the two groups when data were combined (Figure 7.10). DARPP-32 expression was significantly different between the two groups, with more DARPP-32 present in E14 mouse grafts than Day 16 NEB graft ($t_{37} = 2.96$, p<0.05).

A summary of graft volumes and cell numbers of the various phenotypes found within graft areas is shown in Appendix 8.

Figure 7.6. (overleaf). Photomicrographs showing NeuN (A-F), DARPP-32 (G-L), FoxP1 (M-R) and parvalbumin (S-X) staining (grey), double-labelled with cresyl violet (purple). Red arrows indicate cells positive for the marker of interest. Scale bars = 100μ m for lower power images and 50μ m for higher power images.

Chapter 7

in vivo characterisation of NEBs (allografts)



179



Figure 7.7. NeuN expression within graft areas. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 4 different animals and error bars represent SEM. Abbreviations: purm – purmorphamine; LGE – lateral ganglionic eminence; MGE – medial ganglionic eminence; WGE – whole ganglionic eminence.

Estimate of NeuN positive cells within graft area



Figure 7.8. Expression of DARPP-32 (A), FoxP1 (B), parvalbumin (C) and calbindin (D) within graft areas. Each bar on the graph represents a mean of 4 different animals and error bars represent SEM. (*p<0.05). Abbreviations: purm – purmorphamine; LGE – lateral ganglionic eminence; MGE – medial ganglionic eminence; WGE – whole ganglionic eminence.



Estimate of cells within graft areas of combined transplant groups

Figure 7.9. Estimation of cell numbers of markers of interest within graft areas, of combined transplant groups. Day 16 NEBs includes day 16 NEBs untreated and day 16 NEBs purmorphamine treated grafts at 6 and 12 weeks survival (n = 16); E14 mouse includes LGE, MGE and WGE grafts at 6 and 12 weeks survival (n = 23). Bars on the graph represent mean graft volumes for the combined groups and error bars represent SEM. (*p<0.05).



Figure 7.10. Photomicrographs of AChE staining in the transplant groups (A and B) and the QA lesion only brain (C). Scale bars = 200μ m.

7.5 Discussion

Graft volume

The results presented here reveal the presence of very small grafts within the QA lesioned striatum of all transplant groups at both 6 and 12 weeks post-transplantation. Analysis of graft volumes between all transplant groups at both survival time points revealed no significant differences. Interestingly, however, combining the transplant groups to make two groups (day 16 NEBs versus E14 mouse) for analysis of graft volume revealed a significant difference, with E14 mouse-derived grafts generating significantly bigger grafts than day 16 NEB-derived grafts. It is, however, encouraging to note the absence of any teratoma formation in the day 16 NEB-derived grafts. This supports previous findings reported in Chapter 4 where we demonstrated no teratoma formation following transplantation of day 16 NEBs into the rat QA lesioned striatum.

Dihne et al (2006) reported graft volumes of up to 26mm^3 in grafts derived from early stage neural precursors, with high expression of nestin and BrdU, that generated tumours. Early stage precursor grafts that did not generate tumours exhibited volumes of $2.2 \pm 0.3 \text{mm}^3$ and grafts derived from late stage precursors exhibited volumes of $1.6 \pm 0.3 \text{mm}^3$ (Dihne et al., 2006). Striatal grafts derived from E14 mouse WGE generated volumes of $0.80 \pm 0.09 \text{mm}^3$ when cells were transplanted as primary tissue, and $0.88 \pm 0.87 \text{mm}^3$ when cells were expanded in culture for 10 days prior to transplantation (Kelly et al., 2007). The graft volumes that we report here in all transplant groups are comparable with those reported in these studies and overall suggest a potential caveat regarding graft survival and development of mouseto-mouse transplantation. Thus these small graft volumes are not necessarily an indicator of failed grafts, since the 'gold standard' of primary tissue has produced equally small grafts.

Immuno-suppression was not employed in our study because of the assumption that it is not required in allograft studies. The Foxg1Z mouse ES cell line used in our study was derived using mice of the C57Bl6/J (*Black6*) background strain. To bypass potential graft rejection issues due to strain differences, we used C57Bl6/J

mice as our transplant hosts and the E14 striatal tissue was taken from embryos of C57Bl6/J time-mated mice.

One study which appears to contradict this problem of small-volume mouseto-mouse grafts looked at transplantation of E13-14 mouse LGE into the striatum of the transgenic HD mouse model R6/2 (Dunnett et al., 1998). Photomicrographs representing Nissl staining of selected grafts, demonstrated the presence of large grafts in both the wild-type control striatum and the transgenic striatum following 6 weeks survival post-transplantation. However, no graft volumes were reported in this study, which would indicate whether the grafts presented were representative of the whole cohort. The small, pencil-like grafts reported in this chapter are not unique to this study and have been demonstrated by other colleagues using the mouse-to-mouse system within our group, indicating a major limitation for further studies using this paradigm.

Identification of donor cells post-transplantation

The Foxg1Z mouse ES cell line used in this study has the *LacZ* reporter gene incorporated so that it is under the control of the Foxg1 promoter and therefore when cells express Foxg1, expression of *LacZ* is switched on. *LacZ* can be detected using antibodies against β -galactosidase, or the histochemical X-gal assay. Following the demonstration of this as a marker of cells post-transplantation in Chapter 4, the aim was to apply this strategy here and again identify the Foxg1-expressing cells and analyse them for co-expression of markers of interest. However, in this instance neither method proved successful, and no positive cells could be identified in the day 16 NEB-derived grafts. One possibility is that there are no Foxg1-expressing cells in the grafts which could be due to poor graft survival and development, as indicated by the Nissl staining. Another possible explanation is that Foxg1 might have been switched off, as cells have developed beyond the stage at which they would express Foxg1. However, in Chapter 4 Foxg1 was widely expressed throughout the graft areas at 6 weeks post-transplantation and expression was demonstrated following differentiation of cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (see Chapter 4).

Dihne et al (2006) used a transgenic mouse ES cell line that expressed enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP) under the control of the β -actin promoter, which yields ubiquitous expression of GFP, and were able to detect GFP-expressing cells at 16 weeks post-transplantation. The use of the GFP transgene reporter for posttransplantation analysis of primary mouse striatal grafts has demonstrated downregulation of the GFP between 2 and 4 weeks post-transplantation (Eriksson et al., 2003), with further down-regulation observed up to 12 weeks (Kelly et al., 2007).

Visualisation of human neural progenitor cells and human ES cell-derived neural precursors post-transplantation has been demonstrated using pre-labelling incubation with the DNA-specific fluorochrome bisbenzimide (Hoechst) (Aleksandrova et al., 2001; Song et al., 2007). However, in both of these reports only short-term survival post-transplantation was assessed (up to 3 weeks) and therefore more long-term analyses are required to determine if this is a viable option for longterm visualisation of cells post-transplantation. Prior to transplantation cells can be incubated with viral vectors, such as the LacZ virus, which will label a proportion of the cells and these can later be visualised using antibodies against β -galactosidase. This has previously been demonstrated for both mouse and human foetal precursor cells (Kelly et al., 2007).

Neuronal analysis of grafts

As a result of not being able to positively identify any graft-derived cells, all analysis was carried out using the Nissl stain to mark the area of the graft and cell counts are estimated as cell numbers present within graft area. There was no significant difference in NeuN positive cells between the transplant groups and even when transplant groups were combined (day 16 NEBs versus E14 mouse) there was no significant difference (Figure 7.10). There was also no significant difference in expression of FoxP1, parvalbumin and calbindin between all transplant groups and when data were combined (Figure 7.10). The high degree of deviation of the cell numbers of the various phenotypes within the transplant groups, and the small numbers of animals within each group, reduce the likelihood of a statistically significant outcome.

DARRP-32 expression was not significantly different at 6 weeks posttransplantation between any of the transplant groups. However at 12 weeks posttransplantation, there were significantly more DARPP-32 positive neurons within the graft area of E14 mouse WGE-derived grafts than day 16 untreated NEB-derived grafts. To date DARPP-32 expression has not been reported in mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors following transplantation, although graft-derived neurons expressing β -III-tubulin, neurofilament and GAD65/67 have been detected at 16 weeks post-transplantation (Dihne et al., 2006) and mouse ES cell-derived neural precursors transplanted into the rat QA lesioned striatum generated neurons expressing GABA and AChE following 6 weeks survival *in vivo* (Dinsmore et al., 1996). The demonstration of no significant difference in neuronal yield between all transplant groups is a somewhat remarkable and encouraging result for the potential of ES cells in cell-replacement therapies. Although we cannot positively distinguish between graft and host-derived cells, it is possible that at least a proportion of the DARPP-32 positive neurons observed within the graft area are graft-derived, or host-derived but as a result of the grafted cells, since there are very few DARPP-32 positive neurons present in the lesion only striatum.

Transplantation studies looking at developing mouse primary striatum grafted into the adult rat QA-lesioned striatum show DARPP-32 expression at 2 weeks posttransplantation (Olsson et al., 1995). Olsson et al (1995) looked at grafts derived from E14 mouse MGE versus E14 mouse LGE, and at 2 weeks post-transplantation there was no significant difference in graft volume, but whereas in the MGE-derived grafts only 5% DARPP-32 positive cells were observed, in the LGE-derived grafts this increased to about 50% of the cross-sectional area.

Striatal tissue grafts are made up of two distinct regions or zones. The P-zones comprise DARPP-32 and AChE positive neurons and these areas 'intermingle' with regions called NP-zones that don't stain for striatal markers (Graybiel et al., 1989). In WGE grafts, P-zones are usually about one third of the total graft, whereas in LGE-alone grafts, P-zones can go up to 80-90% of graft (Pakzaban et al., 1993). LGE allografts of rat tissue at two to three months post-transplantation comprise AChE-positive regions, where DARPP-32 positive cells are also detected, interspersed with few AChE-poor regions (Deacon et al., 1994). Regarding behavioural effects of striatal grafts, there is correlation between the proportion of 'striatal-like' cells within grafts and the extent of recovery observed in paw-reaching tasks (Nakao et al., 1996).

In our study, transplantation of E14 mouse LGE, MGE and WGE into the QAlesioned mouse striatum, did not result in a significant difference in DARPP-32 expression between any of the striatal graft-derived regions. Also AChE staining shown in our study did not reveal any clear differences between transplant groups as was expected from the reports discussed previously.

186

Conclusions

This chapter was an exploratory study which aimed to compare day 16 NEBderived grafts with E14 mouse striatum-derived grafts over two survival time points. The proportion of neurons in day 16 NEB-derived grafts was comparable to E14 striatum-derived grafts. At 12 weeks post-transplantation there were significantly more DARPP-32 positive neurons in WGE-derived grafts than untreated day 16 NEBderived grafts. However, DARPP-32 expression was not significantly different between purmorphamine-treated day 16 NEB-derived grafts and striatal-derived grafts, indicating the potential for ES cell-derived NEBs in cell-replacement strategies.

However, not only were the graft sizes small, but there was also no detection of the Foxg1-LacZ positive cells post-transplantation. Full confidence that cells were derived from the day 16 NEB grafts was therefore not possible, and cell counts could only be represented as number of cells present in the graft area, as determined by Nissl staining.

Work presented in this chapter highlights a potential caveat of the mouse-tomouse allograft paradigm and suggests the need for a systematic assessment of the mouse striatum as a viable host for transplantation. In addition, reliable methods for identification of all donor-derived cells in order to distinguish them from host-derived cells must be applied in order to determine what is happening to donor cells posttransplantation.

Chapter 8

General Discussion

Neural transplantation in HD aims to replace the neurons that are lost, predominantly the MSNs of the striatum; reconstruct the affected circuitry; alleviate the associated symptoms; and possibly slow the disease progression. Primary foetal striatal tissue is currently the 'standard' cell source for transplantation and is the origin of pre-programmed MSN precursors. However, tissue from this source is limited and raises ethical and logistical constraints suggesting the need for an alternative supply of donor cells. The requirement of any alternative donor cell source is to have the capability to generate the specific mature MSN phenotype, which could be utilised in cell-replacement strategies and for screening potential drug candidates.

This thesis looked at mouse ES cells as a model system for neural induction and directed differentiation of neurally induced ES cells to enrich for a population of ventral telencephalon-like cells which could subsequently, under optimal terminal differentiation conditions, generate striatal projection neurons, both in vitro and in vivo.

8.1 In vitro neural induction of mouse ES cells

Mouse ES cells offer a potential alternative source of donor cells for transplantation strategies in neurodegenerative diseases and have been shown to generate neural precursors *in vitro* when cultured under defined serum-free conditions, with the formation of NEBs that express markers of the neuroectoderm including Sox1 and Pax6 (Ying et al., 2003; Bouhon et al., 2005; Watanabe et al., 2005). Not only are mouse ES cells a robust model for assessing development, but they can also be easily manipulated allowing incorporation of reporter genes which can readily permit visualisation of markers of interest. Work in this thesis utilised a mouse ES cell line, Foxg1Z, where the reporter gene *LacZ* was integrated into the genome replacing most of the *Foxg1* coding sequence so that expression of β -galactosidase is under the control of the *Foxg1* promoter (Xuan et al., 1995). *Foxg1* is

Chapter 8

the earliest known marker of the telencephalon (Tao and Lai, 1992) and the focus of Chapter 3 was to generate optimal numbers of Foxg1-expressing cells in the neural induction culture system, which would then be taken forward in subsequent chapters for further directed differentiation and terminal neuronal differentiation in vitro and in vivo. In Chapter 3, it was demonstrated that addition of FGF2 to neural induction cultures of mouse ES cells at day 4 results in an increase in Foxg1 positive cells when analysed at day 8, which was consistent with data from a previous study (Bouhon et al., 2006). Addition of the Wnt inhibitor DKK-1 did not result in an increase in the Foxgl population which was surprising when compared with other reports (Aubert et al., 2002; Watanabe et al., 2005; ten Berge et al., 2008). However, interpretation of the results reported in Chapter 3 indicated some fundamental discrepancies between studies including culture systems and cell lines utilised, as well as composition of defined medium. As a result of the heterogeneity of the neural induction protocols applied, drawing comparisons between the findings in each study is not always straight forward. Differences in protocols can result in different outputs of expression. The presence of different components endogenously in culture medium alters the conditions, which might have a knock-on effect on expression of genes, since specific conditions might be required for induction of certain markers. Ideally, in order to achieve a more reliable and reproducible method for the neural induction of ES cells, standardisation of protocols is required, which is not a realistic option at this stage since protocols are still being developed. It is therefore important to approach similarities and differences with caution and with the mind-set that reported findings are restricted to each individual culture system. A comparison of different protocols in carefully controlled conditions would give a reliable indication and understanding of the differences between the various groups.

A recent comparison of gene expression profiles in three different mouse ES cell lines, revealed that undifferentiated ES cells in their pluripotent state, derived from different mouse strains (i.e. different genetic backgrounds) and carrying different genetic modifications exhibit almost invariant patterns of gene expression (Mansergh et al., 2009). However, it is possible that even slight deviations in gene expression early on in development might be responsible for more significant differences that occur later in development. Later analysis of gene expression using an EB-based method of ES cell differentiation, demonstrated a high degree of variability between EBs, even when the starting number of cells was controlled using the

'hanging drop' protocol, and even in those EBs generated within the same culture (Mansergh et al., 2009). Application of a similar strategy to analyse NEB development in defined suspension conditions would enable the gain of more fundamental understanding of this culture system.

Another potential cause of the differences in gene expression observed between neural induction cultures derived from mouse ES cells, both within different studies and within experiments, is the stage of ES cell growth at which cells are transferred from ES cell culture conditions to neural induction conditions. In general, for maintenance of mouse ES cells, cells are cultured on gelatin and initially plated as a crude single cell suspension. Then, as cells divide and proliferate, they form colonies of daughter cells that gradually increase in size over time in culture, and are typically passaged and replated every two to three days, depending on the cell line. Observations made while culturing mouse ES cells indicate that relatively early passage, rather than later in this maintenance period, helps to maintain 'neat' ES cell colonies with few undifferentiated ES cells. It would be useful to determine if initiation of neural induction (or indeed induction of any other lineage) at different phases of ES cell growth alters subsequent differentiation of cells towards that lineage. This information might prove valuable in the generation of more reproducible protocols for lineage induction.

8.2 Transplantation of mouse ES cells

In mouse ES cell cultures with defined neural induction conditions, neural precursor markers, such as nestin, are initially shown to up-regulate over time through to day 8, and then decrease with continued culture (Bouhon et al., 2005), while the ES cell marker, Oct-3/4, down-regulates over time in culture (Bouhon et al., 2005; Bouhon et al., 2006). Although this was also demonstrated in Chapter 4, Oct-3/4 was seen to persist beyond day 8 with very low expression present even at day 12, and it was switched off by day 16. The persistence of undifferentiated ES cells in the cell population presents problems when considering cells for transplantation and one stigma attached to transplantation of ES cells is their potential for uncontrolled proliferation. Alongside encouraging observations of graft-derived differentiation to neurons and glia (Benninger et al., 2000) and region-specific neural markers (Wernig et al., 2004), development of non-neural tissue clusters and teratomas has been

Chapter 8

General Discussion

reported following transplantation of EBs and NEBs derived from mouse ES cells (Brustle et al., 1997).

The work presented in Chapter 4 demonstrates the problem of transplanting ES cells prematurely, when a proportion of cells still express ES-like and pluripotent markers. Transplants of early-stage NEBs (day 8) generated teratoma-like masses, whereas later-stage NEBs (day 16) generated large grafts that expressed heterogenous cell types including neurons, but no teratomas.

One way to overcome this might be longer-term culture prior to terminal differentiation and transplantation. However, although this might result in further down-regulation (abolishment) of ES cells, other important markers of interest might also down-regulate over time, since we show that the neural precursor marker nestin down-regulates between day 8 and day 16, and also beyond day 16, at day 24, expression of markers of the ventral telencephalon were decreased to levels below those seen at day 8 (data not shown).

Other strategies involve purification of cell populations using techniques such as FACS and MACS, where cells can be sorted according to expression markers of interest, either by labelling with cell surface antibodies or integrating reporter genes tagged to the specific cells of interest. An advantage of integrating a reporter gene into a cell line, as well as aiding visualisation of a specific gene of interest, enables purification of a population of cells that expresses the gene of interest and is a homogeneous population. The cleavage product of X-gal is non-fluorescent and toxic to viable cells, which deems it unsuitable for FACS analysis. For detection of β galactosidase the β -galactosidase substrate. 5activity in living cells, chloromethylfluorescein di-β-D-galactopyranoside (CMFDG) (Molecular Probes, Invitrogen) that yields a green fluorescent product, has been developed. Using an 'Influx pinocytic cell-loading' reagent, CMFDG can be introduced into living cells without significantly altering normal cell function and will therefore allow FACS analysis of Foxg1Z NEBs, using unstained cells to set the background and autofluorescence controls, which should enable a pure population of Foxgl cells to be obtained. Unfortunately though, when we attempted to apply these techniques to NEBs, recovery of cells following enzymatic and mechanical dissociation, CMFDG incubation and hypotonic shock, followed by FACS collection was not sufficient for continued analysis; single cells did not re-form spheres or aggregates following FACS and viability dramatically decreased so that cells were no longer useable.

Some studies have demonstrated success with FACS purification of cell populations both with mouse and human ES cells, using genetically labelled ES cell lines and cell surface antigens (Pruszak et al., 2007; Hedlund et al., 2008). However, both these studies utilised 'refined' and 'gentle' FACS conditions compared with 'standard' FACS conditions, and for further *in vitro* analysis of cells post-FACS purification, co-culture with primary astrocytes was essential for their survival (Donaldson et al., 2005; Hedlund et al., 2008).

Another approach is to treat cultures in order to eliminate the proliferating cells. Mitomycin C is a chemotherapeutic agent that arrests cell proliferation and has previously been used to treat neurally induced human ES cells prior to transplantation (Sanchez-Pernaute et al., 2005). Although this could prove beneficial for prevention of tumours, it would not however prevent the heterogeneity of lineages that exists in cultures.

8.3 Directed differentiation

During neural development, induction and specification of specific cell types within the neural tube requires the presence of certain factors at precise levels in order to generate the full complement of cell types. The practicality of mimicking this *in vitro* is not straight forward, since concentrations and length of exposure time need to be determined. Refinement of factors involved and the windows of exposure for their optimal addition will require systematic studies with sequential application to determine the specific effects and requirements of each factor.

In Chapter 5, we attempted to direct the differentiation of NEBs using the SHH agonist purmorphamine and then the SHH antagonist cyclopamine, since SHH is important in ventralising the telencephalon. The gradient effect of SHH in the developing neural tube suggests that different concentrations of SHH will give rise to expression of various dorso-ventral markers at different levels. Following addition of these two factors to neurally induced mouse ES cells we demonstrated that NEBs are responsive to these factors, but did not observe a distinct pattern of dorso-ventral expression. Dessaud et al, (2007) demonstrated that cells in the neural tube can become desensitised to SHH following long periods of exposure, and this affects the way in which they respond. The desensitisation results in a precise duration and concentration of the SHH signal, which is responsible for the subsequent levels of

192

gene expression (Dessaud et al., 2007). The challenge *in vitro* will be to analyse different exposure times of various SHH concentrations in the culture system, and determine the optimum of each in order to generate increased expression of ventral telencephalic precursors.

Generation of reporter cell lines with reporter genes tagged to ventral telencephalic markers should make for an efficient method of visualising cells of interest. In the lab we have initiated the generation of such cell lines, in particular, the Dlx1/2 gene tagged to the GFP reporter. This cell line will allow for fluorescent analysis of Dlx-expressing cells, which enable simple demonstration of the effects of factors on the Dlx population.

It is important to note that even if we generate a population of ventral telencephalic-like precursors, this is not the overall solution, since differentiation of primary striatal precursors both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, does not generate vast quantities of DARPP-32 expressing MSNs, and will likely require some further signalling input to increase this.

8.4 Is generation of MSNs from ES cells achievable?

In Chapter 6 the *in vitro* neuronal differentiation of mouse ES cells was addressed along with differentiation of striatal-derived neurons. The origin of MSNs, the LGE, used as a standard for DARPP-32 differentiation, did not generate vast numbers of DARPP-32 positive neurons. One explanation for this might be that MSN precursors are particularly susceptible to cell death following dissection and dissociation procedures. Another possibility is that, although the precursors are already specified to become MSNs, they still require specific signals to enable differentiation into the mature neuronal phenotype. Further work to identify and apply such signalling factors to striatal differentiation cultures is needed with subsequent application to neuronal differentiation cultures of ES cells to determine if, under the right conditions, these cells have the capacity to generate DARPP-32 positive neurons.

Since we demonstrated an increase in the proportion of DARPP-32 positive neurons following addition of BDNF to LGE-derived neurons, cells could benefit from transplantation with the addition of BDNF to the cell suspension. Delivery of neurotrophic factors, such as GDNF, prior to transplantation in models of PD, has

193

proved beneficial both by increasing the yield of dopaminergic neurons and protecting the brain from lesion-induced impairments (Torres et al., 2005; Dowd et al., 2005).

If DARPP-32 can be achieved *in vitro*, one strategy might be to predifferentiate NEBs in neuronal differentiation medium (with inclusion of appropriate signalling factors) prior to transplantation. The degree of pre-differentiation would require optimisation and manipulation of cells might prove challenging, since differentiated neurons exhibiting projections, might be more susceptible to damage.

Presently, DARPP-32 is the standard mature MSN marker employed. To date limited expression of DARPP-32 from ES cells has been reported, and even then only from human ES cell differentiation (Aubry et al., 2008; Nasonkin et al., 2009). The 'Aubry' DARPP-32 positive neurons were derived from cells subjected to a complex sequential addition of factors that were then transplanted into the rat QA lesioned striatum and allowed to differentiate for 4-6 weeks or 13-21 weeks (Aubry et al., 2008). In contrast, the 'Nasonkin' DARPP-32 positive neurons were derived from cells that were subjected to limited factors in culture prior to transplantation and were allowed to differentiate in vivo in the unlesioned rat striatum for up to 6 months (Nasonkin et al., 2009). On the one hand, Aubry et al suggest the need for a complex 'cocktail' of factors with specific exposure times in culture followed by a relatively short in vivo period, whilst, conversely, Nasonkin et al suggest that a simple culture system but long term differentiation in vivo is required for DARPP-32 generation. A combination of the two protocols, with more defined directed differentiation in vitro followed by long term differentiation in vivo would be an obvious option, although with the longer-term graft survival in the 'Aubry' protocol, massive graft overgrowth was reported, along with the DARPP-32 positive neurons, suggesting that the in vitro differentiation phase needs to be refined.

Analysis of differentiation of DARPP-32, and other striatal markers, posttransplantation is necessary to ascertain if the signals from the CNS environment are adequate to generate markers of the desired phenotype. The presence of DARPP-32 in graft-derived cells is encouraging but it does not necessarily mean these neurons will be functional and produce a beneficial behavioural effect. It will be important to determine if neurons within the graft are functional, using electrophysiology, and to assess behavioural recovery of graft recipients using a selection of tests known to be sensitive to the QA lesion model.

8.5 Mouse-to-mouse allografts

In this thesis mouse ES cells were utilised, and in Chapter 7 were applied in the mouse-to-mouse allograft paradigm in the QA lesioned striatum model of HD. However, in this study we indicated a potential problem with this system, since only small, pencil-like grafts were identified exhibiting poor development. This finding was not remarkable, and it was later recognised as a recurring problem within our group and others. However, it has not been seen in the rat-to-rat allograft system. Addressing this issue will require a thorough assessment of different combinations of donor and host tissue, taking into account the developing brain region for dissection and donor cells, the species and strain of both donor and host, the state of the host brain (lesioned or non-lesioned), and the administration of immunosuppression.

With the recent emergence of rat ES cell lines, there is the potential for the allograft paradigm to be assessed in the rat system. However, although expression of the immature neuronal marker β -III-tubulin has been demonstrated following differentiation of rat ES cells (Li et al., 2008; Buehr et al., 2008), to date there have been no reports demonstrating specific neural induction of rat ES cells and subsequent directed differentiation. It is possible that induction and differentiation conditions required for rat ES cells will differ from those required for mouse and human ES cells.

8.6 Where next?

The aims of this thesis were to attempt to generate DARPP-32 positive neurons from mouse ES cells. However, this was not achieved here, either *in vitro* or *in vivo*. Firstly, re-addressing the initial neural induction stage of mouse ES cell cultures is necessary to attempt to generate a homogeneous population of cells of the neural linage. The subsequent directed differentiation protocol will then need to be refined, with systematic studies looking at the effects on gene expression of exposure times of the factors added. Effects of SHH in this study were only analysed following chronic administration, and it will be important to dissect the response of NEBs at different SHH concentrations and different exposure times, to try to mimic the actions of SHH in the developing neural tube and generate a range of precursor cell types. Since foetal striatal tissue is currently the standard used for transplantation in the HD paradigm and this has not been shown to generate vast quantities of DARPP-32 *in vitro* or *in vivo*, it is clear that optimisation of the culture of this source of cells is required. In this study, foetal striatal tissue was used for differentiation only. Expansion of these cells prior to terminal differentiation is an option that has been investigated in attempts to increase cell numbers and therefore reduce the amount of starting material required. However, over time in culture, although overall cell number is increased, the neuronal yield is decreased (Kelly et al., 2003). Addition of factors, such as SHH, might enhance the induction and survival of striatal neurons and therefore increase the yield of DARPP-32 positive neurons following differentiation. If DARPP-32 yield can be optimised from foetal striatal cells by manipulating culture conditions for expansion and differentiation, these conditions can be transferred to ES cells for differentiation.

There are limited reports on the transplantation of ES cells into models of HD and before these cells can be seriously considered for clinical application they need to be assessed in terms of the functional benefit they can offer within the HD brain. It will be important to determine the degree of benefit this cell source can provide with respect to both motor and cognitive tasks in animal models of HD.

Concluding remarks

This thesis highlights some important issues relating to neural induction of ES cells and their capacity to be directed towards more specific precursor types. Achieving a 100% neural population is an absolute requirement before these cells can be seriously considered for clinical application for cell-replacement in HD.

Generation of ventral telencephalic-like precursors with more stringent directed differentiation regimes will take us a step closer, but assessment of neuronal function using electrophysiological techniques, and graft function following transplantation using an array of behavioural tests will be required in order to further this work.

196

Bibliography

Aleksandrova MA, Poltavtseva RA, Marei MV, Revishchin AV, Saburina IN, Dubrovina IV, Korochkin LI, Sukhikh GT (2001) Transplantation of cultured human neural progenitor cells into rat brain: migration and differentiation. Bull Exp Biol Med 132: 1000-1003.

Altaba A, Nguyen V, Palma V (2003) The emergent design of the neural tube: prepattern, SHH morphogen and GLI code. Curr Opin Genet Dev 13: 513-521.

Anderson KD, Reiner A (1991) Immunohistochemical localization of DARPP-32 in striatal projection neurons and striatal interneurons: implications for the localization of D1-like dopamine receptors on different types of striatal neurons. Brain Res 568: 235-243.

Anderson L, Burnstein RM, He X, Luce R, Furlong R, Foltynie T, Sykacek P, Menon DK, Caldwell MA (2007) Gene expression changes in long term expanded human neural progenitor cells passaged by chopping lead to loss of neurogenic potential in vivo. Exp Neurol 204: 512-524.

Anderson SA, Eisenstat DD, Shi L, Rubenstein JL (1997a) Interneuron migration from basal forebrain to neocortex: dependence on Dlx genes. Science 278: 474-476.

Anderson SA, Qiu M, Bulfone A, Eisenstat DD, Meneses J, Pedersen R, Rubenstein JL (1997b) Mutations of the homeobox genes Dlx-1 and Dlx-2 disrupt the striatal subventricular zone and differentiation of late born striatal neurons. Neuron 19: 27-37.

Andrew SE, Goldberg YP, Kremer B, Telenius H, Theilmann J, Adam S, Starr E, Squitieri F, Lin B, Kalchman MA, . (1993) The relationship between trinucleotide (CAG) repeat length and clinical features of Huntington's disease. Nat Genet 4: 398-403.

Ariani F, Hayek G, Rondinella D, Artuso R, Mencarelli MA, Spanhol-Rosseto A, Pollazzon M, Buoni S, Spiga O, Ricciardi S, Meloni I, Longo I, Mari F, Broccoli V, Zappella M, Renieri A (2008) FOXG1 is responsible for the congenital variant of Rett syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 83: 89-93.

Arlotta P, Molyneaux BJ, Jabaudon D, Yoshida Y, Macklis JD (2008) Ctip2 controls the differentiation of medium spiny neurons and the establishment of the cellular architecture of the striatum. J Neurosci 28: 622-632.

Arrasate M, Mitra S, Schweitzer ES, Segal MR, Finkbeiner S (2004) Inclusion body formation reduces levels of mutant huntingtin and the risk of neuronal death. Nature 431: 805-810.

Aubert J, Dunstan H, Chambers I, Smith A (2002) Functional gene screening in embryonic stem cells implicates Wnt antagonism in neural differentiation. Nat Biotechnol 20: 1240-1245.

Aubry L, Bugi A, Lefort N, Rousseau F, Peschanski M, Perrier AL (2008) Striatal progenitors derived from human ES cells mature into DARPP32 neurons in vitro and in quinolinic acid-lesioned rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 16707-16712.

Bachoud-Levi AC, Gaura V, Brugieres P, Lefaucheur JP, Boisse MF, Maison P, Baudic S, Ribeiro MJ, Bourdet C, Remy P, Cesaro P, Hantraye P, Peschanski M (2006) Effect of fetal neural transplants in patients with Huntington's disease 6 years after surgery: a long-term follow-up study. Lancet Neurol 5: 303-309.

Backman M, Machon O, Mygland L, van den Bout CJ, Zhong W, Taketo MM, Krauss S (2005) Effects of canonical Wnt signaling on dorso-ventral specification of the mouse telencephalon. Dev Biol 279: 155-168.

Bain G, Kitchens D, Yao M, Huettner JE, Gottlieb DI (1995) Embryonic stem cells express neuronal properties in vitro. Dev Biol 168: 342-357.

Barberi T, Klivenyi P, Calingasan NY, Lee H, Kawamata H, Loonam K, Perrier AL, Bruses J, Rubio ME, Topf N, Tabar V, Harrison NL, Beal MF, Moore MA, Studer L (2003) Neural subtype specification of fertilization and nuclear transfer embryonic stem cells and application in parkinsonian mice. Nat Biotechnol 21: 1200-1207.

Bates GP, Harper PS, Jones L (2002) Huntington's Disease.

Beal MF, Kowall NW, Ellison DW, Mazurek MF, Swartz KJ, Martin JB (1986) Replication of the neurochemical characteristics of Huntington's disease by quinolinic acid. Nature 321: 168-171.

Benninger Y, Marino S, Hardegger R, Weissmann C, Aguzzi A, Brandner S (2000) Differentiation and histological analysis of embryonic stem cell-derived neural transplants in mice. Brain Pathol 10: 330-341.

Blondel O, Collin C, McCarran WJ, Zhu S, Zamostiano R, Gozes I, Brenneman DE, McKay RD (2000) A glia-derived signal regulating neuronal differentiation. J Neurosci 20: 8012-8020.

Boer GJ (1994) Ethical guidelines for the use of human embryonic or fetal tissue for experimental and clinical neurotransplantation and research. Network of European CNS Transplantation and Restoration (NECTAR). J Neurol 242: 1-13.

Boncinelli E, Gulisano M, Broccoli V (1993) Emx and Otx homeobox genes in the developing mouse brain. J Neurobiol 24: 1356-1366.

Borlongan CV, Koutouzis TK, Sanberg PR (1997) 3-Nitropropionic acid animal model and Huntington's disease. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 21: 289-293.

Bosch M, Pineda JR, Sunol C, Petriz J, Cattaneo E, Alberch J, Canals JM (2004) Induction of GABAergic phenotype in a neural stem cell line for transplantation in an excitotoxic model of Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol 190: 42-58. Bouhon IA, Joannides A, Kato H, Chandran S, Allen ND (2006) Embryonic stem cell derived neural progenitors display temporal restriction to neural patterning. Stem Cells.

Bouhon IA, Kato H, Chandran S, Allen ND (2005) Neural differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells in chemically defined medium. Brain Res Bull 68: 62-75.

Briscoe J (2006) Agonizing hedgehog. Nat Chem Biol 2: 10-11.

Brustle O, Spiro AC, Karram K, Choudhary K, Okabe S, McKay RD (1997) In vitrogenerated neural precursors participate in mammalian brain development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 14809-14814.

Buehr M, Meek S, Blair K, Yang J, Ure J, Silva J, McLay R, Hall J, Ying QL, Smith A (2008) Capture of authentic embryonic stem cells from rat blastocysts. Cell 135: 1287-1298.

Bulfone A, Puelles L, Porteus MH, Frohman MA, Martin GR, Rubenstein JL (1993) Spatially restricted expression of Dlx-1, Dlx-2 (Tes-1), Gbx-2, and Wnt-3 in the embryonic day 12.5 mouse forebrain defines potential transverse and longitudinal segmental boundaries. J Neurosci 13: 3155-3172.

Capetian P, Knoth R, Maciaczyk J, Pantazis G, Ditter M, Bokla L, Landwehrmeyer GB, Volk B, Nikkhah G (2009) Histological findings on fetal striatal grafts in a Huntington's disease patient early after transplantation. Neuroscience 160: 661-675.

Carney RS, Cocas LA, Hirata T, Mansfield K, Corbin JG (2009) Differential regulation of telencephalic pallial-subpallial boundary patterning by pax6 and gsh2. Cereb Cortex 19: 745-759.

Casarosa S, Fode C, Guillemot F (1999) Mash1 regulates neurogenesis in the ventral telencephalon. Development 126: 525-534.

Chambers SM, Fasano CA, Papapetrou EP, Tomishima M, Sadelain M, Studer L (2009) Highly efficient neural conversion of human ES and iPS cells by dual inhibition of SMAD signaling. Nat Biotechnol 27: 275-280.

Chiang C, Litingtung Y, Lee E, Young KE, Corden JL, Westphal H, Beachy PA (1996) Cyclopia and defective axial patterning in mice lacking Sonic hedgehog gene function. Nature 383: 407-413.

Cicchetti F, Saporta S, Hauser RA, Parent M, Saint-Pierre M, Sanberg PR, Li XJ, Parker JR, Chu Y, Mufson EJ, Kordower JH, Freeman TB (2009) Neural transplants in patients with Huntington's disease undergo disease-like neuronal degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 12483-12488.

Cooper JK, Schilling G, Peters MF, Herring WJ, Sharp AH, Kaminsky Z, Masone J, Khan FA, Delanoy M, Borchelt DR, Dawson VL, Dawson TM, Ross CA (1998) Truncated N-terminal fragments of huntingtin with expanded glutamine repeats form nuclear and cytoplasmic aggregates in cell culture. Hum Mol Genet 7: 783-790. Corbin JG, Gaiano N, Machold RP, Langston A, Fishell G (2000) The Gsh2 homeodomain gene controls multiple aspects of telencephalic development. Development 127: 5007-5020.

Corbin JG, Rutlin M, Gaiano N, Fishell G (2003) Combinatorial function of the homeodomain proteins Nkx2.1 and Gsh2 in ventral telencephalic patterning. Development 130: 4895-4906.

Crossley PH, Martinez S, Ohkubo Y, Rubenstein JL (2001) Coordinate expression of Fgf8, Otx2, Bmp4, and Shh in the rostral prosencephalon during development of the telencephalic and optic vesicles. Neuroscience 108: 183-206.

Danesin C, Peres JN, Johansson M, Snowden V, Cording A, Papalopulu N, Houart C (2009) Integration of telencephalic Wnt and hedgehog signaling center activities by Foxg1. Dev Cell 16: 576-587.

Davies SW, Turmaine M, Cozens BA, Difiglia M, Sharp AH, Ross CA, Scherzinger E, Wanker EE, Mangiarini L, Bates GP (1997) Formation of neuronal intranuclear inclusions underlies the neurological dysfunction in mice transgenic for the HD mutation. Cell 90: 537-548.

Deacon TW, Pakzaban P, Isacson O (1994) The lateral ganglionic eminence is the origin of cells committed to striatal phenotypes: neural transplantation and developmental evidence. Brain Res 668: 211-219.

Dessaud E, Yang LL, Hill K, Cox B, Ulloa F, Ribeiro A, Mynett A, Novitch BG, Briscoe J (2007) Interpretation of the sonic hedgehog morphogen gradient by a temporal adaptation mechanism. Nature 450: 717-720.

Difiglia M, Sapp E, Chase KO, Davies SW, Bates GP, Vonsattel JP, Aronin N (1997) Aggregation of huntingtin in neuronal intranuclear inclusions and dystrophic neurites in brain. Science 277: 1990-1993.

Dihne M, Bernreuther C, Hagel C, Wesche KO, Schachner M (2006) Embryonic stem cell-derived neuronally committed precursor cells with reduced teratoma formation after transplantation into the lesioned adult mouse brain. Stem Cells 24: 1458-1466.

Dinsmore J, Ratliff J, Deacon T, Pakzaban P, Jacoby D, Galpern W, Isacson O (1996) Embryonic stem cells differentiated in vitro as a novel source of cells for transplantation. Cell Transplant 5: 131-143.

Donaldson AE, Marshall CE, Yang M, Suon S, Iacovitti L (2005) Purified mouse dopamine neurons thrive and function after transplantation into brain but require novel glial factors for survival in culture. Mol Cell Neurosci 30: 601-610.

Dou CL, Li S, Lai E (1999) Dual role of brain factor-1 in regulating growth and patterning of the cerebral hemispheres. Cereb Cortex 9: 543-550.

Dowd E, Monville C, Torres EM, Wong LF, Azzouz M, Mazarakis ND, Dunnett SB (2005) Lentivector-mediated delivery of GDNF protects complex motor functions relevant to human Parkinsonism in a rat lesion model. Eur J Neurosci 22: 2587-2595.

Dunnett SB, Bjorklund A (1992) Staging and dissection of rat embryos. In: Neural Transplantation: A Practical Approach (Dunnett SB, Bjorklund A, eds), pp 1-19. IRL Press, Oxford.

Dunnett SB, Carter RJ, Watts C, Torres EM, Mahal A, Mangiarini L, Bates G, Morton AJ (1998) Striatal transplantation in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. Exp Neurol 154: 31-40.

Dunnett SB, Rosser AE (2004) Cell therapy in Huntington's disease. NeuroRx 1: 394-405.

Ehrlich ME, Rosen NL, Kurihara T, Shalaby IA, Greengard P (1990) DARPP-32 development in the caudate nucleus is independent of afferent input from the substantia nigra. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 54: 257-263.

Elkabetz Y, Panagiotakos G, Al Shamy G, Socci ND, Tabar V, Studer L (2008) Human ES cell-derived neural rosettes reveal a functionally distinct early neural stem cell stage. Genes Dev 22: 152-165.

Ericson J, Muhr J, Placzek M, Lints T, Jessell TM, Edlund T (1995) Sonic hedgehog induces the differentiation of ventral forebrain neurons: a common signal for ventral patterning within the neural tube. Cell 81: 747-756.

Eriksson C, Bjorklund A, Wictorin K (2003) Neuronal differentiation following transplantation of expanded mouse neurosphere cultures derived from different embryonic forebrain regions. Exp Neurol 184: 615-635.

Evans MJ, Kaufman MH (1981) Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature 292: 154-156.

Faber PW, Voisine C, King DC, Bates EA, Hart AC (2002) Glutamine/proline-rich PQE-1 proteins protect Caenorhabditis elegans neurons from huntingtin polyglutamine neurotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 17131-17136.

Ferland RJ, Cherry TJ, Preware PO, Morrisey EE, Walsh CA (2003) Characterization of Foxp2 and Foxp1 mRNA and protein in the developing and mature brain. J Comp Neurol 460: 266-279.

Ferrari D, Sanchez-Pernaute R, Lee H, Studer L, Isacson O (2006) Transplanted dopamine neurons derived from primate ES cells preferentially innervate DARPP-32 striatal progenitors within the graft. Eur J Neurosci 24: 1885-1896.

Fode C, Ma Q, Casarosa S, Ang SL, Anderson DJ, Guillemot F (2000) A role for neural determination genes in specifying the dorsoventral identity of telencephalic neurons. Genes Dev 14: 67-80.

Foster GA, Schultzberg M, Hokfelt T, Goldstein M, Hemmings HC, Jr., Ouimet CC, Walaas SI, Greengard P (1987) Development of a dopamine- and cyclic adenosine 3':5'-monophosphate-regulated phosphoprotein (DARPP-32) in the prenatal rat central nervous system, and its relationship to the arrival of presumptive dopaminergic innervation. J Neurosci 7: 1994-2018. Freeman TB, Cicchetti F, Hauser RA, Deacon TW, Li XJ, Hersch SM, Nauert GM, Sanberg PR, Kordower JH, Saporta S, Isacson O (2000) Transplanted fetal striatum in Huntington's disease: phenotypic development and lack of pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97: 13877-13882.

Freeman TB, Sanberg PR, Isacson O (1995) Development of the human striatum: implications for fetal striatal transplantation in the treatment of Huntington's disease. Cell Transplant 4: 539-545.

Fricker RA, Torres EM, Dunnett SB (1997) The effects of donor stage on the survival and function of embryonic striatal grafts in the adult rat brain. I. Morphological characteristics. Neuroscience 79: 695-710.

Furuta Y, Piston DW, Hogan BL (1997) Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) as regulators of dorsal forebrain development. Development 124: 2203-2212.

Gaspard N, Bouschet T, Hourez R, Dimidschstein J, Naeije G, van den AJ, Espuny-Camacho I, Herpoel A, Passante L, Schiffmann SN, Gaillard A, Vanderhaeghen P (2008) An intrinsic mechanism of corticogenesis from embryonic stem cells. Nature 455: 351-357.

Gaulden J, Reiter JF (2008) Neur-ons and neur-offs: regulators of neural induction in vertebrate embryos and embryonic stem cells. Hum Mol Genet 17: R60-R66.

Gerfen CR (1992) The neostriatal mosaic: multiple levels of compartmental organization in the basal ganglia. Annu Rev Neurosci 15: 285-320.

Gerfen CR, Baimbridge KG, Miller JJ (1985) The neostriatal mosaic: compartmental distribution of calcium-binding protein and parvalbumin in the basal ganglia of the rat and monkey. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 82: 8780-8784.

Gerfen CR, Young WS, III (1988) Distribution of striatonigral and striatopallidal peptidergic neurons in both patch and matrix compartments: an in situ hybridization histochemistry and fluorescent retrograde tracing study. Brain Res 460: 161-167.

Gong B, Lim MC, Wanderer J, Wyttenbach A, Morton AJ (2008) Time-lapse analysis of aggregate formation in an inducible PC12 cell model of Huntington's disease reveals time-dependent aggregate formation that transiently delays cell death. Brain Res Bull 75: 146-157.

Goodrich LV, Milenkovic L, Higgins KM, Scott MP (1997) Altered neural cell fates and medulloblastoma in mouse patched mutants. Science 277: 1109-1113.

Gray M, Shirasaki DI, Cepeda C, Andre VM, Wilburn B, Lu XH, Tao J, Yamazaki I, Li SH, Sun YE, Li XJ, Levine MS, Yang XW (2008) Full-length human mutant huntingtin with a stable polyglutamine repeat can elicit progressive and selective neuropathogenesis in BACHD mice. J Neurosci 28: 6182-6195.

Graybiel AM (1990) Neurotransmitters and neuromodulators in the basal ganglia. Trends Neurosci 13: 244-254. Graybiel AM, Liu FC, Dunnett SB (1989) Intrastriatal grafts derived from fetal striatal primordia. I. Phenotypy and modular organization. J Neurosci 9: 3250-3271.

Gulacsi A, Anderson SA (2006) Shh maintains Nkx2.1 in the MGE by a Gli3independent mechanism. Cereb Cortex 16 Suppl 1: i89-i95.

Gulacsi AA, Anderson SA (2008) Beta-catenin-mediated Wnt signaling regulates neurogenesis in the ventral telencephalon. Nat Neurosci 11: 1383-1391.

Gunhaga L, Marklund M, Sjodal M, Hsieh JC, Jessell TM, Edlund T (2003) Specification of dorsal telencephalic character by sequential Wnt and FGF signaling. Nat Neurosci 6: 701-707.

Gusella JF, Wexler NS, Conneally PM, Naylor SL, Anderson MA, Tanzi RE, Watkins PC, Ottina K, Wallace MR, Sakaguchi AY, . (1983) A polymorphic DNA marker genetically linked to Huntington's disease. Nature 306: 234-238.

Gutekunst CA, Norflus F, Hersch S (2002) The neuropathology of Huntington's Disease. In: Huntington's Disease (Bates GP, Harper PS, Jones L, eds), pp 251-275. Oxford.

Hanashima C, Li SC, Shen L, Lai E, Fishell G (2004) Foxg1 suppresses early cortical cell fate. Science 303: 56-59.

Harper PS (1997) Trinucleotide repeat disorders. J Inherit Metab Dis 20: 122-124.

Harris EC, Barraclough BM (1994) Suicide as an outcome for medical disorders. Medicine (Baltimore) 73: 281-296.

Haskell GT, LaMantia AS (2005) Retinoic acid signaling identifies a distinct precursor population in the developing and adult forebrain. J Neurosci 25: 7636-7647.

Hauser RA, Furtado S, Cimino CR, Delgado H, Eichler S, Schwartz S, Scott D, Nauert GM, Soety E, Sossi V, Holt DA, Sanberg PR, Stoessl AJ, Freeman TB (2002) Bilateral human fetal striatal transplantation in Huntington's disease. Neurology 58: 687-695.

Hayhurst M, Gore BB, Tessier-Lavigne M, McConnell SK (2008) Ongoing sonic hedgehog signaling is required for dorsal midline formation in the developing forebrain. Dev Neurobiol 68: 83-100.

HDCRG (1993) A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on Huntington's disease chromosomes. The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group. Cell 72: 971-983.

Hedlund E, Pruszak J, Lardaro T, Ludwig W, Vinuela A, Kim KS, Isacson O (2008) Embryonic stem cell-derived Pitx3-enhanced green fluorescent protein midbrain dopamine neurons survive enrichment by fluorescence-activated cell sorting and function in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. Stem Cells 26: 1526-1536.

Hodgson JG, Agopyan N, Gutekunst CA, Leavitt BR, LePiane F, Singaraja R, Smith DJ, Bissada N, McCutcheon K, Nasir J, Jamot L, Li XJ, Stevens ME, Rosemond E,

Roder JC, Phillips AG, Rubin EM, Hersch SM, Hayden MR (1999) A YAC mouse model for Huntington's disease with full-length mutant huntingtin, cytoplasmic toxicity, and selective striatal neurodegeneration. Neuron 23: 181-192.

Houart C, Caneparo L, Heisenberg C, Barth K, Take-Uchi M, Wilson S (2002) Establishment of the telencephalon during gastrulation by local antagonism of Wnt signaling. Neuron 35: 255-265.

Hsieh JC (2004) Specificity of Wnt-receptor interactions. Front Biosci 9: 1333-1338.

Hsieh-Li HM, Witte DP, Szucsik JC, Weinstein M, Li H, Potter SS (1995) Gsh-2, a murine homeobox gene expressed in the developing brain. Mech Dev 50: 177-186.

Huelsken J, Behrens J (2002) The Wnt signalling pathway. J Cell Sci 115: 3977-3978.

Huntington G (2003) On chorea. George Huntington, M.D. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 15: 109-112.

Hurelbrink CB, Armstrong RJ, Barker RA, Dunnett SB, Rosser AE (2000) Hibernated human fetal striatal tissue: successful transplantation in a rat model of Huntington's disease. Cell Transplant 9: 743-749.

Irioka T, Watanabe K, Mizusawa H, Mizuseki K, Sasai Y (2005) Distinct effects of caudalizing factors on regional specification of embryonic stem cell-derived neural precursors. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 154: 63-70.

Ivkovic S, Polonskaia O, Farinas I, Ehrlich ME (1997) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulates maturation of the DARPP-32 phenotype in striatal medium spiny neurons: studies in vivo and in vitro. Neuroscience 79: 509-516.

Jessell TM (2000) Neuronal specification in the spinal cord: inductive signals and transcriptional codes. Nat Rev Genet 1: 20-29.

Joannides A, Fiore-Heriche C, Westmore K, Caldwell M, Compston A, Allen N, Chandran S (2006) Automated mechanical passaging: a novel and efficient method for human embryonic stem cell expansion. Stem Cells 24: 230-235.

Joannides AJ, Fiore-Heriche C, Battersby AA, Athauda-Arachchi P, Bouhon IA, Williams L, Westmore K, Kemp PJ, Compston A, Allen ND, Chandran S (2007a) A scaleable and defined system for generating neural stem cells from human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells 25: 731-737.

Joannides AJ, Webber DJ, Raineteau O, Kelly C, Irvine KA, Watts C, Rosser AE, Kemp PJ, Blakemore WF, Compston A, Caldwell MA, Allen ND, Chandran S (2007b) Environmental signals regulate lineage choice and temporal maturation of neural stem cells from human embryonic stem cells. Brain 130: 1263-1275.

Johansson BM, Wiles MV (1995) Evidence for involvement of activin A and bone morphogenetic protein 4 in mammalian mesoderm and hematopoietic development. Mol Cell Biol 15: 141-151.

Kalani MY, Cheshier SH, Cord BJ, Bababeygy SR, Vogel H, Weissman IL, Palmer TD, Nusse R (2008) Wnt-mediated self-renewal of neural stem/progenitor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 16970-16975.

Kan L, Jalali A, Zhao LR, Zhou X, McGuire T, Kazanis I, Episkopou V, Bassuk AG, Kessler JA (2007) Dual function of Sox1 in telencephalic progenitor cells. Dev Biol 310: 85-98.

Kantor O, Temel Y, Holzmann C, Raber K, Nguyen HP, Cao C, Turkoglu HO, Rutten BP, Visser-Vandewalle V, Steinbusch HW, Blokland A, Korr H, Riess O, von Horsten S, Schmitz C (2006) Selective striatal neuron loss and alterations in behavior correlate with impaired striatal function in Huntington's disease transgenic rats. Neurobiol Dis 22: 538-547.

Kawaguchi Y (1993) Physiological, morphological, and histochemical characterization of three classes of interneurons in rat neostriatum. J Neurosci 13: 4908-4923.

Kelly CM, Precious SV, Penketh R, Amso N, Dunnett SB, Rosser AE (2007) Striatal graft projections are influenced by donor cell type and not the immunogenic background. Brain 130: 1317-1329.

Kelly CM, Zietlow R, Dunnett SB, Rosser AE (2003) The effects of various concentrations of FGF-2 on the proliferation and neuronal yield of murine embryonic neural precursor cells in vitro. Cell Transplant 12: 215-223.

Kita H, Kitai ST (1988) Glutamate decarboxylase immunoreactive neurons in rat neostriatum: their morphological types and populations. Brain Res 447: 346-352.

Kohtz JD, Baker DP, Corte G, Fishell G (1998) Regionalization within the mammalian telencephalon is mediated by changes in responsiveness to Sonic Hedgehog. Development 125: 5079-5089.

Lachyankar MB, Condon PJ, Quesenberry PJ, Litofsky NS, Recht LD, Ross AH (1997) Embryonic precursor cells that express Trk receptors: induction of different cell fates by NGF, BDNF, NT-3, and CNTF. Exp Neurol 144: 350-360.

Lanska DJ, Lanska MJ, Lavine L, Schoenberg BS (1988) Conditions associated with Huntington's disease at death. A case-control study. Arch Neurol 45: 878-880.

Lee H, Shamy GA, Elkabetz Y, Schofield CM, Harrsion NL, Panagiotakos G, Socci ND, Tabar V, Studer L (2007) Directed differentiation and transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived motoneurons. Stem Cells 25: 1931-1939.

Li P, Tong C, Mehrian-Shai R, Jia L, Wu N, Yan Y, Maxson RE, Schulze EN, Song H, Hsieh CL, Pera MF, Ying QL (2008) Germline competent embryonic stem cells derived from rat blastocysts. Cell 135: 1299-1310.

Li XJ, Zhang X, Johnson MA, Wang ZB, Lavaute T, Zhang SC (2009) Coordination of sonic hedgehog and Wnt signaling determines ventral and dorsal telencephalic neuron types from human embryonic stem cells. Development 136: 4055-4063.
Liao WL, Tsai HC, Wang HF, Chang J, Lu KM, Wu HL, Lee YC, Tsai TF, Takahashi H, Wagner M, Ghyselinck NB, Chambon P, Liu FC (2008) Modular patterning of structure and function of the striatum by retinoid receptor signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 6765-6770.

Liao WL, Wang HF, Tsai HC, Chambon P, Wagner M, Kakizuka A, Liu FC (2005) Retinoid signaling competence and RARbeta-mediated gene regulation in the developing mammalian telencephalon. Dev Dyn 232: 887-900.

Liu JK, Ghattas I, Liu S, Chen S, Rubenstein JL (1997) Dlx genes encode DNAbinding proteins that are expressed in an overlapping and sequential pattern during basal ganglia differentiation. Dev Dyn 210: 498-512.

Lowry WE, Richter L, Yachechko R, Pyle AD, Tchieu J, Sridharan R, Clark AT, Plath K (2008) Generation of human induced pluripotent stem cells from dermal fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 2883-2888.

Lu CC, Brennan J, Robertson EJ (2001) From fertilization to gastrulation: axis formation in the mouse embryo. Curr Opin Genet Dev 11: 384-392.

Lunkes A, Mandel JL (1998) A cellular model that recapitulates major pathogenic steps of Huntington's disease. Hum Mol Genet 7: 1355-1361.

Lupo G, Harris WA, Lewis KE (2006) Mechanisms of ventral patterning in the vertebrate nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci 7: 103-114.

Mangiarini L, Sathasivam K, Seller M, Cozens B, Harper A, Hetherington C, Lawton M, Trottier Y, Lehrach H, Davies SW, Bates GP (1996) Exon 1 of the HD gene with an expanded CAG repeat is sufficient to cause a progressive neurological phenotype in transgenic mice. Cell 87: 493-506.

Mansergh FC, Daly CS, Hurley AL, Wride MA, Hunter SM, Evans MJ (2009) Gene expression profiles during early differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. BMC Dev Biol 9: 5.

Marchand R, Lajoie L (1986) Histogenesis of the striopallidal system in the rat. Neurogenesis of its neurons. Neuroscience 17: 573-590.

Maretto S, Cordenonsi M, Dupont S, Braghetta P, Broccoli V, Hassan AB, Volpin D, Bressan GM, Piccolo S (2003) Mapping Wnt/beta-catenin signaling during mouse development and in colorectal tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 3299-3304.

Marin O, Anderson SA, Rubenstein JL (2000) Origin and molecular specification of striatal interneurons. J Neurosci 20: 6063-6076.

Marklund M, Sjodal M, Beehler BC, Jessell TM, Edlund T, Gunhaga L (2004) Retinoic acid signalling specifies intermediate character in the developing telencephalon. Development 131: 4323-4332.

Martin GR (1981) Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78: 7634-7638.

Martynoga B, Morrison H, Price DJ, Mason JO (2005) Foxg1 is required for specification of ventral telencephalon and region-specific regulation of dorsal telencephalic precursor proliferation and apoptosis. Dev Biol 283: 113-127.

Mateizel I, De Temmerman N, Ullmann U, Cauffman G, Sermon K, Van d, V, De Rycke M, Degreef E, Devroey P, Liebaers I, Van Steirteghem A (2006) Derivation of human embryonic stem cell lines from embryos obtained after IVF and after PGD for monogenic disorders. Hum Reprod 21: 503-511.

Michaelidis TM, Lie DC (2008) Wnt signaling and neural stem cells: caught in the Wnt web. Cell Tissue Res 331: 193-210.

Nakao N, Brundin P, Funa K, Lindvall O, Odin P (1995) Trophic and protective actions of brain-derived neurotrophic factor on striatal DARPP-32-containing neurons in vitro. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 90: 92-101.

Nakao N, Grasbon-Frodl EM, Widner H, Brundin P (1996) DARPP-32-rich zones in grafts of lateral ganglionic eminence govern the extent of functional recovery in skilled paw reaching in an animal model of Huntington's disease. Neuroscience 74: 959-970.

Nasir J, Floresco SB, O'Kusky JR, Diewert VM, Richman JM, Zeisler J, Borowski A, Marth JD, Phillips AG, Hayden MR (1995) Targeted disruption of the Huntington's disease gene results in embryonic lethality and behavioral and morphological changes in heterozygotes. Cell 81: 811-823.

Nasonkin I, Mahairaki V, Xu L, Hatfield G, Cummings BJ, Eberhart C, Ryugo D, Maric D, Bar E, Koliatsos VE (2009) Long-Term, Stable Differentiation Of Human Embryonic Stem Cell-Derived Neural Precursors Grafted Into The Adult Mammalian Neostriatum. Stem Cells.

Nery S, Corbin JG, Fishell G (2003) Dlx2 progenitor migration in wild type and Nkx2.1 mutant telencephalon. Cereb Cortex 13: 895-903.

Niclis JC, Trounson AO, Dottori M, Ellisdon AM, Bottomley SP, Verlinsky Y, Cram DS (2009) Human embryonic stem cell models of Huntington disease. Reprod Biomed Online 19: 106-113.

Niwa H, Miyazaki J, Smith AG (2000) Quantitative expression of Oct-3/4 defines differentiation, dedifferentiation or self-renewal of ES cells. Nat Genet 24: 372-376.

O'Kusky JR, Nasir J, Cicchetti F, Parent A, Hayden MR (1999) Neuronal degeneration in the basal ganglia and loss of pallido-subthalamic synapses in mice with targeted disruption of the Huntington's disease gene. Brain Res 818: 468-479.

Ohkubo Y, Chiang C, Rubenstein JL (2002) Coordinate regulation and synergistic actions of BMP4, SHH and FGF8 in the rostral prosencephalon regulate morphogenesis of the telencephalic and optic vesicles. Neuroscience 111: 1-17.

Okabe S, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Spiro AC, Segal M, McKay RD (1996) Development of neuronal precursor cells and functional postmitotic neurons from embryonic stem cells in vitro. Mech Dev 59: 89-102.

Okada Y, Shimazaki T, Sobue G, Okano H (2004) Retinoic-acid-concentrationdependent acquisition of neural cell identity during in vitro differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. Dev Biol 275: 124-142.

Olsson M, Bjorklund A, Campbell K (1998) Early specification of striatal projection neurons and interneuronal subtypes in the lateral and medial ganglionic eminence. Neuroscience 84: 867-876.

Olsson M, Campbell K, Wictorin K, Bjorklund A (1995) Projection neurons in fetal striatal transplants are predominantly derived from the lateral ganglionic eminence. Neuroscience 69: 1169-1182.

Ouimet CC, Langley-Gullion KC, Greengard P (1998) Quantitative immunocytochemistry of DARPP-32-expressing neurons in the rat caudatoputamen. Brain Res 808: 8-12.

Pakzaban P, Deacon TW, Burns LH, Isacson O (1993) Increased proportion of acetylcholinesterase-rich zones and improved morphological integration in host striatum of fetal grafts derived from the lateral but not the medial ganglionic eminence. Exp Brain Res 97: 13-22.

Park CH, Minn YK, Lee JY, Choi DH, Chang MY, Shim JW, Ko JY, Koh HC, Kang MJ, Kang JS, Rhie DJ, Lee YS, Son H, Moon SY, Kim KS, Lee SH (2005) In vitro and in vivo analyses of human embryonic stem cell-derived dopamine neurons. J Neurochem 92: 1265-1276.

Park IH, Arora N, Huo H, Maherali N, Ahfeldt T, Shimamura A, Lensch MW, Cowan C, Hochedlinger K, Daley GQ (2008) Disease-specific induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell 134: 877-886.

Passante L, Gaspard N, Degraeve M, Frisen J, Kullander K, De M, V, Vanderhaeghen P (2008) Temporal regulation of ephrin/Eph signalling is required for the spatial patterning of the mammalian striatum. Development 135: 3281-3290.

Pera EM, Wessely O, Li SY, De Robertis EM (2001) Neural and head induction by insulin-like growth factor signals. Dev Cell 1: 655-665.

Perrier AL, Tabar V, Barberi T, Rubio ME, Bruses J, Topf N, Harrison NL, Studer L (2004) Derivation of midbrain dopamine neurons from human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 12543-12548.

Pfrieger FW, Barres BA (1997) Synaptic efficacy enhanced by glial cells in vitro. Science 277: 1684-1687.

Polkinghorne J (1989) Review of the Guidance on the Research Use of Fetuses and Fetal Material. HMSO. London. Report.

Prensa L, Gimenez-Amaya JM, Parent A (1999) Chemical heterogeneity of the striosomal compartment in the human striatum. J Comp Neurol 413: 603-618.

Price PJ, Goldsborough M, and Tilkins ML (1998) Embryonic stem cell serum replacement. International Patent Application WO 98/30679.

Pruszak J, Sonntag KC, Aung MH, Sanchez-Pernaute R, Isacson O (2007) Markers and methods for cell sorting of human embryonic stem cell-derived neural cell populations. Stem Cells 25: 2257-2268.

Przyborski SA (2005) Differentiation of human embryonic stem cells after transplantation in immune-deficient mice. Stem Cells 23: 1242-1250.

Reiner A, Anderson KD (1990) The patterns of neurotransmitter and neuropeptide cooccurrence among striatal projection neurons: conclusions based on recent findings. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 15: 251-265.

Ribes V, Wang Z, Dolle P, Niederreither K (2006) Retinaldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (RALDH2)-mediated retinoic acid synthesis regulates early mouse embryonic forebrain development by controlling FGF and sonic hedgehog signaling. Development 133: 351-361.

Rodriguez-Gomez JA, Lu JQ, Velasco I, Rivera S, Zoghbi SS, Liow JS, Musachio JL, Chin FT, Toyama H, Seidel J, Green MV, Thanos PK, Ichise M, Pike VW, Innis RB, McKay RD (2007) Persistent dopamine functions of neurons derived from embryonic stem cells in a rodent model of Parkinson disease. Stem Cells 25: 918-928.

Rosas HD, Koroshetz WJ, Chen YI, Skeuse C, Vangel M, Cudkowicz ME, Caplan K, Marek K, Seidman LJ, Makris N, Jenkins BG, Goldstein JM (2003) Evidence for more widespread cerebral pathology in early HD: an MRI-based morphometric analysis. Neurology 60: 1615-1620.

Rosser AE, Barker RA, Harrower T, Watts C, Farrington M, Ho AK, Burnstein RM, Menon DK, Gillard JH, Pickard J, Dunnett SB (2002) Unilateral transplantation of human primary fetal tissue in four patients with Huntington's disease: NEST-UK safety report ISRCTN no 36485475. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 73: 678-685.

Rosser AE, Dunnett SB (2003) Neural transplantation in patients with Huntington's disease. CNS Drugs 17: 853-867.

Rubenstein JL, Shimamura K, Martinez S, Puelles L (1998) Regionalization of the prosencephalic neural plate. Annu Rev Neurosci 21: 445-477.

Rubinsztein DC, Leggo J, Coles R, Almqvist E, Biancalana V, Cassiman JJ, Chotai K, Connarty M, Crauford D, Curtis A, Curtis D, Davidson MJ, Differ AM, Dode C, Dodge A, Frontali M, Ranen NG, Stine OC, Sherr M, Abbott MH, Franz ML, Graham CA, Harper PS, Hedreen JC, Hayden MR, . (1996) Phenotypic characterization of individuals with 30-40 CAG repeats in the Huntington disease (HD) gene reveals HD cases with 36 repeats and apparently normal elderly individuals with 36-39 repeats. Am J Hum Genet 59: 16-22.

Saga Y, Kobayashi M, Ohta H, Murai N, Nakai N, Oshima M, Taketo MM (1999) Impaired extrapyramidal function caused by the targeted disruption of retinoid X receptor RXRgamma1 isoform. Genes Cells 4: 219-228. Sanchez-Pernaute R, Studer L, Ferrari D, Perrier A, Lee H, Vinuela A, Isacson O (2005) Long-term survival of dopamine neurons derived from parthenogenetic primate embryonic stem cells (cyno-1) after transplantation. Stem Cells 23: 914-922.

Saudou F, Finkbeiner S, Devys D, Greenberg ME (1998) Huntingtin acts in the nucleus to induce apoptosis but death does not correlate with the formation of intranuclear inclusions. Cell 95: 55-66.

Schiffer NW, Broadley SA, Hirschberger T, Tavan P, Kretzschmar HA, Giese A, Haass C, Hartl FU, Schmid B (2007) Identification of anti-prion compounds as efficient inhibitors of polyglutamine protein aggregation in a zebrafish model. J Biol Chem 282: 9195-9203.

Schneider RA, Hu D, Rubenstein JL, Maden M, Helms JA (2001) Local retinoid signaling coordinates forebrain and facial morphogenesis by maintaining FGF8 and SHH. Development 128: 2755-2767.

Schuurmans C, Guillemot F (2002) Molecular mechanisms underlying cell fate specification in the developing telencephalon. Curr Opin Neurobiol 12: 26-34.

Schwarcz R, Kohler C (1983) Differential vulnerability of central neurons of the rat to quinolinic acid. Neurosci Lett 38: 85-90.

Schwarcz R, Whetsell WO, Jr., Mangano RM (1983) Quinolinic acid: an endogenous metabolite that produces axon-sparing lesions in rat brain. Science 219: 316-318.

Shanmugalingam S, Houart C, Picker A, Reifers F, Macdonald R, Barth A, Griffin K, Brand M, Wilson SW (2000) Ace/Fgf8 is required for forebrain commissure formation and patterning of the telencephalon. Development 127: 2549-2561.

Shimamura K, Rubenstein JL (1997) Inductive interactions direct early regionalization of the mouse forebrain. Development 124: 2709-2718.

Sinha S, Chen JK (2006) Purmorphamine activates the Hedgehog pathway by targeting Smoothened. Nat Chem Biol 2: 29-30.

Skogh C, Campbell K (2003) Homotopic glial regulation of striatal projection neuron differentiation. Neuroreport 14: 1037-1040.

Skogh C, Eriksson C, Kokaia M, Meijer XC, Wahlberg LU, Wictorin K, Campbell K (2001) Generation of regionally specified neurons in expanded glial cultures derived from the mouse and human lateral ganglionic eminence. Mol Cell Neurosci 17: 811-820.

Slow EJ, Graham RK, Osmand AP, Devon RS, Lu G, Deng Y, Pearson J, Vaid K, Bissada N, Wetzel R, Leavitt BR, Hayden MR (2005) Absence of behavioral abnormalities and neurodegeneration in vivo despite widespread neuronal huntingtin inclusions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 11402-11407.

Slow EJ, van Raamsdonk J, Rogers D, Coleman SH, Graham RK, Deng Y, Oh R, Bissada N, Hossain SM, Yang YZ, Li XJ, Simpson EM, Gutekunst CA, Leavitt BR,

Hayden MR (2003) Selective striatal neuronal loss in a YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease. Hum Mol Genet 12: 1555-1567.

Smith JR, Vallier L, Lupo G, Alexander M, Harris WA, Pedersen RA (2008) Inhibition of Activin/Nodal signaling promotes specification of human embryonic stem cells into neuroectoderm. Dev Biol 313: 107-117.

Smukler SR, Runciman SB, Xu S, van der KD (2006) Embryonic stem cells assume a primitive neural stem cell fate in the absence of extrinsic influences. J Cell Biol 172: 79-90.

Snyder-Keller A (2004) Pattern of corticostriatal innervation in organotypic cocultures is dependent on the age of the cortical tissue. Exp Neurol 185: 262-271.

Snyder-Keller A, Costantini LC, Graber DJ (2001) Development of striatal patch/matrix organization in organotypic co-cultures of perinatal striatum, cortex and substantia nigra. Neuroscience 103: 97-109.

Snyder-Keller A, Tseng KY, Lyng GD, Graber DJ, O'Donnell P (2008) Afferent influences on striatal development in organotypic cocultures. Synapse 62: 487-500.

Song HJ, Ming GL, Poo MM (1997) cAMP-induced switching in turning direction of nerve growth cones. Nature 388: 275-279.

Song J, Lee ST, Kang W, Park JE, Chu K, Lee SE, Hwang T, Chung H, Kim M (2007) Human embryonic stem cell-derived neural precursor transplants attenuate apomorphine-induced rotational behavior in rats with unilateral quinolinic acid lesions. Neurosci Lett 423: 58-61.

Soundararajan P, Miles GB, Rubin LL, Brownstone RM, Rafuse VF (2006) Motoneurons derived from embryonic stem cells express transcription factors and develop phenotypes characteristic of medial motor column neurons. J Neurosci 26: 3256-3268.

Stack EC, Kubilus JK, Smith K, Cormier K, Del Signore SJ, Guelin E, Ryu H, Hersch SM, Ferrante RJ (2005) Chronology of behavioral symptoms and neuropathological sequela in R6/2 Huntington's disease transgenic mice. J Comp Neurol 490: 354-370.

Stamataki D, Ulloa F, Tsoni SV, Mynett A, Briscoe J (2005) A gradient of Gli activity mediates graded Sonic Hedgehog signaling in the neural tube. Genes Dev 19: 626-641.

Storm EE, Garel S, Borello U, Hebert JM, Martinez S, McConnell SK, Martin GR, Rubenstein JL (2006) Dose-dependent functions of Fgf8 in regulating telencephalic patterning centers. Development 133: 1831-1844.

Stoykova A, Fritsch R, Walther C, Gruss P (1996) Forebrain patterning defects in Small eye mutant mice. Development 122: 3453-3465.

Stoykova A, Gotz M, Gruss P, Price J (1997) Pax6-dependent regulation of adhesive patterning, R-cadherin expression and boundary formation in developing forebrain. Development 124: 3765-3777.

Stoykova A, Gruss P (1994) Roles of Pax-genes in developing and adult brain as suggested by expression patterns. J Neurosci 14: 1395-1412.

Stoykova A, Treichel D, Hallonet M, Gruss P (2000) Pax6 modulates the dorsoventral patterning of the mammalian telencephalon. J Neurosci 20: 8042-8050.

Stuhmer T, Anderson SA, Ekker M, Rubenstein JL (2002a) Ectopic expression of the Dlx genes induces glutamic acid decarboxylase and Dlx expression. Development 129: 245-252.

Stuhmer T, Puelles L, Ekker M, Rubenstein JL (2002b) Expression from a Dlx gene enhancer marks adult mouse cortical GABAergic neurons. Cereb Cortex 12: 75-85.

Sturrock RR (1980) A developmental study of the mouse neostriatum. J Anat 130: 243-261.

Sussel L, Marin O, Kimura S, Rubenstein JL (1999) Loss of Nkx2.1 homeobox gene function results in a ventral to dorsal molecular respecification within the basal telencephalon: evidence for a transformation of the pallidum into the striatum. Development 126: 3359-3370.

Szucsik JC, Witte DP, Li H, Pixley SK, Small KM, Potter SS (1997) Altered forebrain and hindbrain development in mice mutant for the Gsh-2 homeobox gene. Dev Biol 191: 230-242.

Taipale J, Cooper MK, Maiti T, Beachy PA (2002) Patched acts catalytically to suppress the activity of Smoothened. Nature 418: 892-897.

Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, Yamanaka S (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131: 861-872.

Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126: 663-676.

Takaoka K, Yamamoto M, Hamada H (2007) Origin of body axes in the mouse embryo. Curr Opin Genet Dev 17: 344-350.

Tamura S, Morikawa Y, Iwanishi H, Hisaoka T, Senba E (2004) Foxp1 gene expression in projection neurons of the mouse striatum. Neuroscience 124: 261-267.

Tao W, Lai E (1992) Telencephalon-restricted expression of BF-1, a new member of the HNF-3/fork head gene family, in the developing rat brain. Neuron 8: 957-966.

ten Berge D, Koole W, Fuerer C, Fish M, Eroglu E, Nusse R (2008) Wnt signaling mediates self-organization and axis formation in embryoid bodies. Cell Stem Cell 3: 508-518.

Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, Jones JM (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282: 1145-1147.

Toresson H, Mata dU, Fagerstrom C, Perlmann T, Campbell K (1999) Retinoids are produced by glia in the lateral ganglionic eminence and regulate striatal neuron differentiation. Development 126: 1317-1326.

Toresson H, Potter SS, Campbell K (2000) Genetic control of dorsal-ventral identity in the telencephalon: opposing roles for Pax6 and Gsh2. Development 127: 4361-4371.

Torres EM, Monville C, Lowenstein PR, Castro MG, Dunnett SB (2005) Delivery of sonic hedgehog or glial derived neurotrophic factor to dopamine-rich grafts in a rat model of Parkinson's disease using adenoviral vectors Increased yield of dopamine cells is dependent on embryonic donor age. Brain Res Bull 68: 31-41.

Trettel F, Rigamonti D, Hilditch-Maguire P, Wheeler VC, Sharp AH, Persichetti F, Cattaneo E, MacDonald ME (2000) Dominant phenotypes produced by the HD mutation in STHdh(Q111) striatal cells. Hum Mol Genet 9: 2799-2809.

Trottier Y, Devys D, Imbert G, Saudou F, An I, Lutz Y, Weber C, Agid Y, Hirsch EC, Mandel JL (1995) Cellular localization of the Huntington's disease protein and discrimination of the normal and mutated form. Nat Genet 10: 104-110.

van der Kooy D, Fishell G (1987) Neuronal birthdate underlies the development of striatal compartments. Brain Res 401: 155-161.

Vicario-Abejon C, Collin C, McKay RD, Segal M (1998) Neurotrophins induce formation of functional excitatory and inhibitory synapses between cultured hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 18: 7256-7271.

von Horsten S, Schmitt I, Nguyen HP, Holzmann C, Schmidt T, Walther T, Bader M, Pabst R, Kobbe P, Krotova J, Stiller D, Kask A, Vaarmann A, Rathke-Hartlieb S, Schulz JB, Grasshoff U, Bauer I, Vieira-Saecker AM, Paul M, Jones L, Lindenberg KS, Landwehrmeyer B, Bauer A, Li XJ, Riess O (2003) Transgenic rat model of Huntington's disease. Hum Mol Genet 12: 617-624.

Vonsattel JP, Myers RH, Stevens TJ, Ferrante RJ, Bird ED, Richardson EP, Jr. (1985) Neuropathological classification of Huntington's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 44: 559-577.

Waclaw RR, Wang B, Campbell K (2004) The homeobox gene Gsh2 is required for retinoid production in the embryonic mouse telencephalon. Development 131: 4013-4020.

Walaas SI, Greengard P (1984) DARPP-32, a dopamine- and adenosine 3':5'monophosphate-regulated phosphoprotein enriched in dopamine-innervated brain regions. I. Regional and cellular distribution in the rat brain. J Neurosci 4: 84-98.

Wang B, Waclaw RR, Allen ZJ, Guillemot F, Campbell K (2009) Ascl1 is a required downstream effector of Gsx gene function in the embryonic mouse telencephalon. Neural Dev 4: 5.

いましま

Warrick JM, Paulson HL, Gray-Board, Bui QT, Fischbeck KH, Pittman RN, Bonini NM (1998) Expanded polyglutamine protein forms nuclear inclusions and causes neural degeneration in Drosophila. Cell 93: 939-949.

Watanabe K, Kamiya D, Nishiyama A, Katayama T, Nozaki S, Kawasaki H, Watanabe Y, Mizuseki K, Sasai Y (2005) Directed differentiation of telencephalic precursors from embryonic stem cells. Nat Neurosci 8: 288-296.

Watanabe K, Ueno M, Kamiya D, Nishiyama A, Matsumura M, Wataya T, Takahashi JB, Nishikawa S, Nishikawa S, Muguruma K, Sasai Y (2007) A ROCK inhibitor permits survival of dissociated human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 25: 681-686.

Watts C, Dunnett SB, Rosser AE (1997) Effect of embryonic donor age and dissection on the DARPP-32 content of cell suspensions used for intrastriatal transplantation. Exp Neurol 148: 271-280.

Wernig M, Benninger F, Schmandt T, Rade M, Tucker KL, Bussow H, Beck H, Brustle O (2004) Functional integration of embryonic stem cell-derived neurons in vivo. J Neurosci 24: 5258-5268.

Wheeler VC, Auerbach W, White JK, Srinidhi J, Auerbach A, Ryan A, Duyao MP, Vrbanac V, Weaver M, Gusella JF, Joyner AL, MacDonald ME (1999) Lengthdependent gametic CAG repeat instability in the Huntington's disease knock-in mouse. Hum Mol Genet 8: 115-122.

Wichterle H, Lieberam I, Porter JA, Jessell TM (2002) Directed differentiation of embryonic stem cells into motor neurons. Cell 110: 385-397.

Wichterle H, Turnbull DH, Nery S, Fishell G, Alvarez-Buylla A (2001) In utero fate mapping reveals distinct migratory pathways and fates of neurons born in the mammalian basal forebrain. Development 128: 3759-3771.

Wiles MV, Johansson BM (1999) Embryonic stem cell development in a chemically defined medium. Exp Cell Res 247: 241-248.

Wilson SW, Houart C (2004) Early steps in the development of the forebrain. Dev Cell 6: 167-181.

Wilson SW, Rubenstein JL (2000) Induction and dorsoventral patterning of the telencephalon. Neuron 28: 641-651.

Wobus AM, Boheler KR (2005) Embryonic stem cells: prospects for developmental biology and cell therapy. Physiol Rev 85: 635-678.

Wu X, Ding S, Ding Q, Gray NS, Schultz PG (2002) A small molecule with osteogenesis-inducing activity in multipotent mesenchymal progenitor cells. J Am Chem Soc 124: 14520-14521.

Wu X, Walker J, Zhang J, Ding S, Schultz PG (2004) Purmorphamine induces osteogenesis by activation of the hedgehog signaling pathway. Chem Biol 11: 1229-1238.

Xuan S, Baptista CA, Balas G, Tao W, Soares VC, Lai E (1995) Winged helix transcription factor BF-1 is essential for the development of the cerebral hemispheres. Neuron 14: 1141-1152.

Yang SH, Cheng PH, Banta H, Piotrowska-Nitsche K, Yang JJ, Cheng EC, Snyder B, Larkin K, Liu J, Orkin J, Fang ZH, Smith Y, Bachevalier J, Zola SM, Li SH, Li XJ, Chan AW (2008) Towards a transgenic model of Huntington's disease in a non-human primate. Nature 453: 921-924.

Yang W, Dunlap JR, Andrews RB, Wetzel R (2002) Aggregated polyglutamine peptides delivered to nuclei are toxic to mammalian cells. Hum Mol Genet 11: 2905-2917.

Ye WL, Shimamura K, Rubenstein JLR, Hynes MA, Rosenthal A (1998) FGF and Shh signals control dopaminergic and serotonergic cell fate in the anterior neural plate. Cell 93: 755-766.

Ying QL, Stavridis M, Griffiths D, Li M, Smith A (2003) Conversion of embryonic stem cells into neuroectodermal precursors in adherent monoculture. Nat Biotechnol 21: 183-186.

Yu J, Vodyanik MA, Smuga-Otto K, Antosiewicz-Bourget J, Frane JL, Tian S, Nie J, Jonsdottir GA, Ruotti V, Stewart R, Slukvin II, Thomson JA (2007) Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science 318: 1917-1920.

Yun K, Potter S, Rubenstein JL (2001) Gsh2 and Pax6 play complementary roles in dorsoventral patterning of the mammalian telencephalon. Development 128: 193-205.

Zietlow R, Pekarik V, Armstrong RJ, Tyers P, Dunnett SB, Rosser AE (2005) The survival of neural precursor cell grafts is influenced by in vitro expansion. J Anat 207: 227-240.

Appendix 1: Reagents and Suppliers

Reagent	Supplier	Address			
Accutase	PAA Labs	Farnborough, Hampshire, UK			
Advanced DMEM/F12	Gibco	Paisley, Scotland, UK			
B-27	Gibco				
BDNF	Peprotech	New Jersey, USA			
B-mercaptoethanol	Sigma	Gillingham, Dorset, UK			
BSA	Sigma				
Cyclopamine	Calbiochem	Hull, UK			
DKK1	R&D Systems	Abingdon, Oxfordshire, UK			
DMEM/F12	Gibco				
DMSO	Sigma				
DNAse	Sigma				
EGF	Sigma				
FCS	Gibco				
FGF2	R&D Systems				
FuGENE 6	Roche	West Sussex, UK			
Gelatin	Chemicon	Chandlers Ford, Southampton, UK			
HBSS	Gibco				
Hoechst	Fisher	Loughborough, Leicestershire, UK			
IMDM	Gibco				
Insulin	Sigma				
KSR	Gibco				
Laminin	Sigma				
L-Glutamine	Gibco				
Lipid concentrate	Gibco				
Lipofectamine	Gibco				
Non-Essential Amino acids (MEM)	Gibco				
Opti-MEM	Gibco				
PBS	Gibco	-			
Penicillin Streptomycin	Gibco				
PLL	Sigma				
Purmorphamine	Calbiochem				
RA	Sigma				
SYBR Green	Bioline	London, UK			
Transferrin	Sigma				
Trypan blue	Sigma				
Trypsin	Worthington	Freehold, New Jersey, USA			
Trypsin inhibitor	Sigma				
Trypsin/EDTA	Gibco				

Appendices

Appendix 2: Recipes

2a) Cell culture

Mouse ES cell culture medium:	Neuralising medium (ADF+):				
IMDM	Advanced DMEM/F-12				
15% KSR	1% PS				
1% PS	L-Glutamine (2mM)				
Non-essential amino acids (1mM)	Lipid concentrate				
L-glutamine (2mM)	Insulin				
β-mercaptoethanol	Transferrin				
LIF	β-mercaptoethanol				
Mouse ES cell freezing medium:	Neuronal differentiation medium:				
10% DMSO	DMEM/F-12				
Mouse ES cell culture medium	1% PS				
	2% B-27				
	1% FCS				
Glial expansion medium:	Glial differentiation medium:				
DMEM/F-12	DMEM/F-12				
1% PS	1% PS				
10% FCS	10% FCS				
L-Glutamine (2mM)	L-glutamine (2mM)				
EGF (20ng/ml)					
COS cell culture medium					
DMEM					
10% FCS					
L-Glutamine (2mM)					
1% PS					

2b) Immunohistochemistry

Prewash buffer

18g di-sodium hydrogen phosphate9g sodium chloride1L distilled waterpH 7.3

Sucrose

250g sucrose 1L prewash buffer pH 7.3

4X TBS

48g Trizma base 36g sodium chloride 1L distilled water pH 7.4

TXTBS

0.2% Triton-X100 in 1X TBS pH 7.4

TBZ

0.02% sodium azide in 1X TBS

TNS

6g Trizma base 1L distilled water pH 7.4 with HCl

Fixative (4% paraformaldehyde) 40g PFA 1L prewach buffer Heat with addition of NaOH to dissolve pH 7.3

X-Gal Assay X-Gal solution:

0.5g X-gal 5ml N,N-Dimethylformamide *Ferro/Ferri-cyanide solution:* 1.050g Ferrocyanide 0.825g Ferricyanide 0.2g MgCl₂ 495ml PBS Add 1ml X-Gal solution to 49ml Ferro/Ferricyanide solution. Fix cells in 1% formalin, 5 minutes. Wash 3x PBS. Add X-gal staining solution, leave at 37°C for

2-4 hours, then transfer to 4°C overnight.

PRIMARY, SECONDARY and BLOCKING SERA									
Primary	Species	Supplier	Dilution	Normal	Blocking	Blocking Normal Secondary Antibody		Dilution	Comments
Antibody	-			Serum	dilution	dilution			
Calbindin	Mouse	Sigma	1:20,000	Horse	3%	1%	Horse anti mouse	1:200	2ary rat adsorbed
DARPP-32	Mouse	Cornell	1:10,000	Goat	3%	3%	Goat anti-mouse a 594	1:200	Already diluted 1:50,
		Univ		Horse	3%	1%	Horse anti mouse	1:200	needs 1:200 dilution
Doublecortin	Guinea pig	Abcam	1:500	Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-guinea pig	1:200	Discontinued
FoxP1	Rabbit	Abcam	1:500	Goat	3%	3%	Goat anti-rabbit a 488	1:200	Antigen retrieval required
				Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-rabbit	1:200	
GABA	Rabbit	Sigma	1:500	Goat	3%	3%	Goat anti-rabbit a 488	1:200	Fix with glutaraldehyde
GFAP	Rabbit	DAKO	1:2000	Goat	3%	3%	Goat anti-rabbit α 488	1:200	
				Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-rabbit	1:200	
Mashl	Mouse	BD Pharm	1:200	Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-mouse a 594	1:200	
Nestin	Mouse	BD Pharm	1:400	Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-mouse a 594	1:200	
NeuN	Mouse	Chemicon	1:4000	Horse	3%	1%	Horse anti mouse	1:200	2ary rat adsorbed
Nkx2.1	Mouse	DAKO	1:100	Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-mouse a 594	1:200	
Oct-3/4	Mouse	Santa Cruz	1:100	Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-mouse a 594	1:200	
Otx2	Rabbit	Millipore	1:200	Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-rabbit a 488	1:200	
Parvalbumin	Mouse	Sigma	1:4000	Horse	3%	1%	Horse anti mouse	1:200	2ary rat adsorbed
Pax6	Mouse	DSHB	1:50	Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-mouse a 594	1:200	
β-galactosidase	Mouse	Promega	1:1000	Goat	3%	3%	Goat anti-mouse a 594	1:200	
				Horse	3%	1%	Horse anti mouse	1:200	2ary rat adsorbed
β-III tubulin	Mouse	Sigma	1:1000	Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-mouse a 594	1:200	
β-III tubulin	Rabbit	Sigma	1:500	Goat	3%	1%	Goat anti-rabbit α 488	1:200	

Appendix 3: Antibodies for immunohistochemistry and fluorescent immunocytochemistry

Appendix 4: QPCR primer sequences

Primer pairs were generated using:

Mouse Genome Informatics (http://www.informatics.jax.org/) Ensembl (http://www.ensembl.org/index.html) Primer 3 Input (http://frodo.wi.mit.edu/cgi-bin/primer3/primer3 www.cgi)

Primer Forward Sequence **Reverse Sequence** CTGCGATGCATCTCTCTCTG CCATGACGGACAGTAGCGTA Axin2 Dlx2 GTCTCCGGTCAACAACGAG CAGGGCCAGATACTGGGT Emx2 TCTGGGTCATCGCTTCCAAG CTAGCCTTAAAAGCTGGGACG Gli3 ATTCCCGTAGCAGCTCTTCA GGGTAGGTGAAGCTCAATGC TGGGAGGCTCCGATACCAG CGGGACAGGTACATATTGGAAGA Gsx2 CTGGGAATGGACTTTGGAAG TTTTTCTGCCTCCCCATTT Mash1 AACTCCACGTCCCCATACAG GAGGCGCATAACGATGCTTCT Ngn2 GTCCTCGGAAAGACAGCATC GTGCTTTGGACTCATCGACA Nkx2.1 CCCGGTACCCAGACATCTT CGGCACTTAGCTCTTCGATT Otx2 CCCAGTCCTGTCCTCAAATG TCTTGCTCTTGGTGTTGGTG Patched1 AGAAAGACCCCCTCGGATAA GTGGCGACTCCAGAAGTTGT Pax6 AGAGATGGCCAAGGCATTTA **CCAATTACAACCCCGACATC** Shh CGGATGTCAACGTCACACTT GCTCTTTTCCAGCCTTCCTT β-actin

QPCR primer sequences (designed for melting at 60°C)

Appendix 5: Production of Leukaemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF)

Leukaemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF) is necessary for the culture of mouse embryonic stem (ES) cell lines in order to maintain pluripotency and to prevent differentiation of cells. ES cell lines may be maintained in an undifferentiated state by addition of serum and LIF to the culture medium (Ishiwata et al., 2001). Removal of LIF has been shown to induce ES cell differentiation, as observed by a reduction in Oct 4 expression (Faherty et al., 2005). Addition of LIF to ES cell medium has little effect on growth rate of ES cells, but it does influence the decision of cells to selfrenew or differentiate (Zandstra et al., 2000). The aim here was to produce LIF suitable for addition to ES cell medium for maintenance and culture of mouse ES cell lines.

(i) Preparation of LIF plasmid DNA and Transfection

LIF expression vector was kindly donated by Dr Vladimir Buchman. The expression vector (Ampicillin resistant) was transformed into TOP 10 competent cells, as described in section 2.2.6. The bacterial suspension was inoculated in LB media with ampicillin (150 μ g/ml). A midi prep was performed following instructions from the Qiagen Midi prep kit (section 2.2.7). The DNA was stored at -20°C in TE at 1 μ g/ μ l until use.

For transfection of LIF plasmid DNA, COS cells were used and transfection reagent FuGENE 6 was used according to instructions in the kit. After 24 hours, the transfection mix was discarded and ES cell culture medium without LIF or PS was added and incubated at 37°C overnight. After a further 24 hours, the medium was collected into a 50 ml falcon tube, stored at 4°C and another volume of ES cell culture medium without LIF or penicillin/streptomycin was added and left at 37°C overnight. After 24 hours, the medium without LIF or penicillin/streptomycin was added and left at 37°C overnight. After 24 hours, the medium was collected, pooled with that collected 24 hours earlier, 'LIF-conditioned media' aliquots were stored at -20°C and COS cells were discarded.

(ii)Testing LIF conditioned medium

For testing of LIF conditioned medium, the mouse ES cell line CGR8.8 (1290la derived) was used. ES cells were plated in ES cell culture medium without LIF, onto gelatin-coated 6-well plates (*Costar*) at various densities. The cell densities

tested were 1000 cells/well, 2000cells/well and 5000cells/well. Various dilutions of LIF conditioned media were added (1:2000, 1:1000, 3:2000 and 1:500), and for controls, 10ng/ml commercial LIF was added to one well and another well was left without any LIF.

Medium was changed daily with replacement of the appropriate concentration of 'LIF conditioned medium'. Each day the cultures were checked microscopically for differences in morphology in order to determine the optimum concentration of LIF conditioned media required for maintenance of the ES cell cultures.

Appendix 6: Dorso-ventral gene expression relative to WGE

Gene expression analysis of NEBs following 8 and 16 days in ADF+ neural induction culture and treated with the SHH agonist purmorphamine or the SHH antagonist cyclopamine is shown relative to expression in E14 mouse WGE.



Figure 1. Expression of the ventral markers Nkx2.1 (A), Dlx1/2 (B), Mash1 (C) and Gsx2 (D) were analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from ES cell-derived NEBs at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 and different concentrations of the SHH agonist purmorphamine present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. The broken line crossing the y-axis at 1 represents relative expression in the E14 mouse WGE. Each bar on the graphs represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. Brackets indicate significance between the day 8 and day 16 NEBs at a particular concentration. * = significant difference from WGE control. \dagger = significant difference between NEB groups. (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, tp<0.05, tp<0.01).



Figure 2. Expression of the ventral markers *Nkx2.1* (A), *Dlx1/2* (B), *Mash1* (C) and *Gsx2* (D) were analysed using semi-quantitative RT-PCR on cDNAs prepared from ES cell-derived NEBs at day 8 and day 16 of neural induction in ADF+ with 20ng/ml FGF2 and different concentrations of the SHH antagonist cyclopamine present from day 4. Gene expression is shown relative to β -actin. The broken line crossing the *y*-axis at 1 represents relative expression in the E14 mouse WGE. Each bar on the graphs represents a mean of 3 different neural induction cultures and error bars represent SEM. Brackets indicate significance between the day 8 and day 16 NEBs at a particular concentration. * = significant difference to untreated NEBs at day 8. † = significant difference to untreated NEBs at day 8. † = significant difference to untreated NEBs at day 16. (**p<0.01, †p<0.05).

	Neuronal differentiation	LGE-deriv	ed neurons	Day 16 NEI	Bs; untreated	Day 16 NEBs; purmorphamine		
	conditions	7 days	14 days	7 days	14 days	7 days	14 days	
of	PLL/laminin; untreated	71.56 ± 2.56%	67.06 ± 6.40%	30.71 ± 4.89%	15.11 ± 2.05%	25.43 ± 1.03%	$22.30 \pm 1.60\%$	
	PLL/laminin; BDNF	$70.15 \pm 0.41\%$	-	$30.58\pm0.69\%$	23.13 ± 3.39%	$27.01 \pm 3.97\%$	$21.56 \pm 1.79\%$	
n as a thst c	PLL/laminin; RA	$71.17 \pm 4.05\%$	-	-	-	-	-	
β-III-tubulin as a % total Hoechst cells	PLL/laminin; BDNF & RA	$70.32 \pm 3.02\%$	-	-	-	-	-	
ll-tu otal l	LGE glia; untreated	-	-	$25.08\pm7.67\%$	$15.18 \pm 0.31\%$	-	-	
β-II t	LGE glia; BDNF	-	-	28.12 ± 3.56%	$20.03 \pm 2.24\%$	-	-	
% _ s	PLL/laminin; untreated	$3.74 \pm 0.11\%$	$13.38 \pm 2.37\%$	4.16 ± 1.77%	$2.26 \pm 0.54\%$	$3.82 \pm 0.89\%$	$2.38\pm0.49\%$	
as a' bulin urons	PLL/laminin; BDNF	$10.93 \pm 0.88\%$	11.68 ± 2.30%	$3.82\pm0.89\%$	$6.42 \pm 2.76\%$	$5.60 \pm 1.24\%$	$3.58\pm1.85\%$	
ARPP-32 as a 9 of β -III-tubulin positive neurons	PLL/laminin; RA	$2.29\pm0.47\%$	-	-	-	-	-	
ARPP-32 of β -III-tul positive ne	PLL/laminin; BDNF & RA	$5.27\pm0.68\%$	-	-	-	-	-	
DA Do po	LGE glia; untreated	$7.77\pm0.96\%$	$4.42\pm2.82\%$	-	-	-	-	
1 of Ist	PLL/laminin; untreated	$39.59 \pm 3.80\%$	-	$16.89 \pm 0.81\%$	$21.20 \pm 2.01\%$	$22.55 \pm 2.14\%$	$22.03 \pm 1.60\%$	
FoxP1 as % of Hoechst	PLL/laminin; BDNF	35.10 ± 3.15%	-	24.10 ± 2.91%	15.94 ± 3.42%	21.92 ± 4.65%	$21.56\pm1.79\%$	
P S I	PLL/laminin; untreated	9.51 ± 3.16%	-	$2.04\pm0.80\%$	-	3.19 ±0.58%		
DARPP -32 as % FoxP1	PLL/laminin; BDNF	$26.36 \pm 3.23\%$	-	$3.14 \pm 0.65\%$	-	$5.67 \pm 2.29\%$	-	
Ns %	PLL/laminin; untreated	-	······································	62.75 ± 7.28%	57.42 ± 6.73%	60.18 ± 6.95%	$54.88 \pm 7.05\%$	
GABA as a % of neurons	PLL/laminin; BDNF	-	-	68.52 ± 3.82%	67.24 ± 4.51%	67.26 ± 7.10%	62.53 ± 5.92%	

Appendix 7: A summary of the neuronal expression in LGE-derived neurons and day 16 NEBs following in vitro neuronal differentiation.

.....

j

Appendix 8: A summary of graft volumes and cell numbers of various phenotypes in graft areas following transplantation into the mouse QA-lesioned striatum.

	Transplant group	Survival (weeks)	Estimate of graft volume _ (mm ³)	Estimate of number of cells of each phenotype within graft area					
	Tansplant group			NeuN	DARPP-32	FoxP1	Parvalbumin	Calbindin	
	Day 16; untreated	6	0.49 ± 0.19	2193.06 ± 1191.22	178.59 ± 102.30	800.64 ± 105.21	240.98 ± 92.51	64.01 ± 44.81	
S		12	0.58 ± 0.27	805.61 ± 217.30	65.12 ± 21.93	1983.90 ±1001.94	524.60 ± 303.99	50.08 ± 29.22	
NEBs	Day 16; purmorphamine 6		0.45 ± 0.09	364.34 ± 192.59	171.23 ± 45.25	822.85 ± 326.57	322.69 ± 175.93	23.82 ± 23.81	
		12	0.56 ± 0.12	1996.60 ± 1082.13	166.93 ± 73.05	623.63 ± 170.76	193.47 ± 66.84	75.13 ± 49.53	
ne	LGE	6	0.83 ± 0.25	451.38 ± 158.03	273.13 ± 95.17	639.08 ± 493.68	252.12 ± 105.09	25.08 ± 25.08	
foetal tissue		12	1.52 ± 0.53	755.50 ± 154.32	476.16 ± 135.70	1171.25 ± 459.05	291.80 ± 81.48	114.47 ± 46.12	
	MGE	6	1.38 ± 0.59	403.97 ± 225.36	200.93 ± 73.33	990.63 ± 207.82	301.56 ± 155.02	42.52 ± 24.76	
primary		12	0.86 ± 0.07	393.49 ± 92.90	312.08 ± 54.73	1011.47 ± 160.23	304.89 ± 137.57	120.12 ± 52.12	
onse	WGE	6	0.62 ± 0.22	278.17 ± 123.35	192.22 ± 111.85	993.57 ± 499.86	298.81 ± 72.34	88.05 ± 88.04	
E14 mouse		12	0.74 ± 0.26	968.40 ± 19.17	856.93 ± 496.43	2585.64 ± 1987.24	127.46 ± 18.87	45.07 ± 45.06	

Appendices reference list

Faherty S, Kane MT, Quinlan LR (2005) Self-renewal and differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells as measured by Oct 4 gene expression: effects of lif, serum-free medium, retinoic acid, and dbcAMP. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 41: 356-363.

Ishiwata I, Tokeida Y, Iguchi M, Ishiwata C, Kiguchi K, Yasumoto S, Sato K, Tachibana T, Hashimoto H, Ishikawa H (2001) New approach for the establishment of mouse early embryonic stem cells and induction of their differentiation. Hum Cell 14: 283-291.

Zandstra PW, Le HV, Daley GQ, Griffith LG, Lauffenburger DA (2000) Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) concentration modulates embryonic stem cell self-renewal and differentiation independently of proliferation. Biotechnol Bioeng 69: 607-617.

